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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  
AND INDUSTRY DATA  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements 
by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” 
“intends” or “continue,” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.  

Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:  

These statements are only current predictions and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those 
anticipated by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks in this report in greater detail under the heading 
“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.  

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future 
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Except as required by law, after the date of this report, we are under no 
duty to update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  

This report also contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, the market and our business. 
Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and 
actual events or circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances reflected in this information. We obtained the 
industry, market and competitive position data in this report from our own internal estimates and research as well as from industry 
and general publications and research surveys and studies conducted by third parties.  

 

 
ii  

▪  our estimates regarding our expenses, use of proceeds, future revenues, anticipated capital requirements and our needs 

for additional financing;  

▪  the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business and technology; 

▪  the timing of the commencement, progress and receipt of data from any of our preclinical and clinical trials; 

▪  the expected results of any clinical trial and the impact on the likelihood or timing of any regulatory approval; 

▪  the scope of protection we establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our technology; 

▪  the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals; 

▪  the timing and outcome of any current or future litigation; 

▪  developments relating to our competitors and our industry; and 

▪  our expectations regarding licensing, acquisitions and strategic operations. 
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PART I  

Item 1. Business  

Overview  

We are a clinical stage immunotherapy company with next-generation  in vivo  approaches designed to enable the body’s immune 
system to fight disease. We have engineered our technologies to activate the immune system’s natural ability to create tumor-
specific cytotoxic T cells to fight cancer. We are developing multiple product candidates from our two discovery platforms, ZVex TM 

 and GLAAS TM , which we believe have the potential to treat a broad patient population either as individual therapies or in 
combination with other immuno-oncology mechanisms of action. Our primary product candidates, CMB305 and G100, utilize 
multiple immuno-oncology approaches and, we believe, address the shortcomings of existing therapies. The following is our 
product development pipeline based on our ZVex and GLAAS platforms:  

 

For each of the ongoing clinical trials, although the data may be available as of a given date, we may elect to announce the results 
at an appropriate medical meeting.  

Because of its prime-boost approach, we believe CMB305 should be more effective than either of its components, LV305 or G305, 
alone. Although we currently intend to focus our development efforts on CMB305 and G100, in December 2014, we dosed the first 
patient in an expansion trial of LV305 at the highest dose studied in the Phase 1 dose escalation study. The expansion trial is 
designed to study the same four tumor types studied in the CMB305 Phase 1 trial, and will explore the use of LV305 with a 
checkpoint inhibitor in melanoma patients who have an inadequate response to anti-PD1 therapy. We expect data from the 
expansion trial to be available by the end of 2015. After reviewing the data from those trials, we may elect to separately develop 
LV305.  

We believe our approach to fighting cancer is the first of its kind. We utilize ZVex and GLAAS to develop product candidates that 
work  in vivo  and are designed to create and expand diverse armies of immune cells, known as cytotoxic T lymphocytes, or CTLs, 
to fight tumors .  An  in vivo  approach is preferred because it addresses both the cumbersome administration and the need for 
patient customization inherent in  ex vivo  approaches, such as engineered CD8 T cells. The fundamental discoveries underlying 
ZVex originated with one of our founders, Nobel laureate David Baltimore, Ph.D. Dr. Baltimore and his colleagues theorized that a 
lentivirus, which is a virus that works in immune cells such as dendritic cells, or DCs, could be engineered to selectively deliver the 
specific genetic information of a tumor marker, called an antigen, directly to DCs in the skin. The expression of this antigen would 
trigger an immune response of CTLs to eliminate the tumor. GLAAS, in comparison, is a highly potent synthetic stimulator of a 
specific cellular receptor called TLR4 that is present in DCs. Activation of DCs through TLR4 can safely trigger an anti-tumor 
immune response and synergize with CTLs generated by ZVex for what we believe will be a greater degree of tumor killing than 
either approach alone.  

▪  CMB305 is a prime-boost approach, in which an agent called LV305 from our ZVex platform is dosed sequentially with a 

second agent from our GLAAS platform, G305. Both LV305 and G305 completed dosing in separate Phase 1 dose 

escalation trials with no serious adverse events. Importantly, we believe the initial safety and immunogenicity data from 

these two trials support the commencement of CMB305 trials. After the FDA allowed our IND for CMB305, we began 

dosing in a Phase 1 dose-escalation clinical trial in the first quarter of 2015 for the treatment of four solid tumor types. We 

expect initial data to be available from the dose-escalation portion of this study in the second half of 2015.  

▪  G100 was developed from the GLAAS platform and we are currently enrolling patients with Merkel cell carcinoma, or MCC, 

or sarcoma in two separate Phase 1 clinical trials. We commenced the MCC trial in January 2014 and expect it to be 

completed in the second quarter of 2015. We previously disclosed that one of our initial patients treated had a complete 

response in the first loco-regional tumor treated with G100. Since that time, we have observed additional evidence of 

clinical efficacy. While we believe these responses may be related to treatment with G100, the results from our Phase 1 

clinical trial are not yet final, and we cannot be certain that this is the case or that these, or any other future responses 

observed, will be durable. The sarcoma study commenced in November 2014 via an investigator-sponsored study at the 

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, or FHCRC, which we expect to complete by year-end 2015. We intend to 

further develop G100 in a Phase 1 trial in non-Hodgkin Lymphoma to begin in the second quarter of 2015.  
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While our primary focus is immuno-oncology, we believe that our platforms also have therapeutic potential in infectious disease, 
allergy and autoimmune disease.  

ZVex and GLAAS: Complementary and Productive Produc t Discovery Platforms  

ZVex is a discovery platform that uses a first-in-class vector to generate product candidates designed to create CTLs  in vivo . A 
primary function of CTLs is the selective recognition and subsequent destruction of tumor cells. The ZVex vector is a delivery 
system based on a re-engineered virus to carry the genetic information of a tumor antigen safely and selectively to DCs in the skin. 
DCs are the most important immune cells to target because they initiate the specific immune response that generates CTLs to kill 
the tumor. When ZVex-based product candidates are injected into a cancer patient, the vector is designed to interact only with 
these DCs, delivering the tumor antigen in the form of RNA. The DC then processes the RNA into a protein, splits it and presents 
the protein fragments outside of the cell to neighboring resting CD8 T cells, which are precursors to CTLs. When a CD8 T cell is 
presented with a new antigen protein fragment by the DC, it becomes activated and starts dividing, creating millions of CTLs that 
will kill tumor cells bearing that same specific tumor antigen. ZVex product candidates have the potential to carry the genetic 
material of different tumor antigens and, as a result, can target multiple types of cancers.  

GLAAS, which stands for GLA Adjuvant Systems, is a discovery platform that also works  in vivo  and is based on a small synthetic 
molecule called GLA, which stands for glucopyranosyl lipid A. GLA selectively binds to the TLR4 receptor and causes potent 
activation of the DC. When GLA is accompanied by a tumor antigen and injected into a patient, the combination is taken up by DCs 
and leads to the production and expansion of immune cells called CD4 T helper lymphocytes. Similar to CTLs, these CD4 T cells 
will be specific to the tumor antigen taken up by the DC, but unlike CTLs, they generally cannot kill antigen-bearing tumor cells. 
They do, however, play a key role in boosting the anti-tumor immune response by: (1) expanding the number and function of 
existing CTLs that are specific to the same tumor antigen; and (2) providing help to other immune cells, including B lymphocytes 
that produce antibodies and natural killer, or NK, cells that are also important in the overall anti-tumor immune response. We 
therefore believe that product candidates containing GLAAS with a tumor antigen will be effective in amplifying the anti-tumor 
activity of CTLs, as well as other beneficial anti-tumor mechanisms. Like ZVex, GLAAS product candidates have the potential to 
target multiple types of cancers.  

The combination of ZVex and GLAAS synergize to yield a more potent immune response called a heterologous prime-boost. ZVex 
primes the immune system by triggering the generation of CTLs, while GLAAS, by activation of CD4 T cells, boosts the immune 
response by expanding and enhancing the function of CTLs and other anti-tumor  
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immune mechanisms. We are also studying a different combination of both platforms in a "prime-pull" strategy where ZVex primes 
the immune system and GLAAS 'pulls' CTLs to the tumor via intra-tumoral injection. We believe that these combinations of different 
technologies result in first-in-class and best-in-class approaches that generate and expand CTLs and recruit them to the tumor. The 
following data from an  in vivo  rodent model illustrate the effect on antigen-specific CTL generation when combining ZVex and 
GLAAS platforms in a prime-boost. When used alone, the ZVex agent increased the CTLs from 0.05% to 3.16%, and when in 
combination with GLAAS, the percentage of antigen-specific CTLs in the rodents increased to 15.7%.  

  

The Immune Design Approaches  

Immuno-oncology broadly refers to the modulation of the immune system to eradicate tumor cells and is often colloquially divided 
into two categories: “create and expand” the anti-tumor immune response, and “remove the brakes” placed on the immune 
response by the tumor’s defenses. Our platforms focus on the “create and expand” category and are designed to generate strong, 
tumor-specific CTLs  in vivo  while addressing many of the shortcomings of previous approaches. Our platforms can generate 
individual product candidates, such as LV305 and G100, or product candidates administered in sequence, such as CMB305. 
Additionally, our platforms can be combined with other immuno-oncology therapeutic mechanisms such as checkpoint inhibitors 
from the "remove the brakes" category, which we believe will generate a greater immune response.  

We are targeting tumors using two different strategies that we refer to as the Specific Antigen and Endogenous Antigen, or intra-
tumoral Immune Activation, approaches. Under the Specific Antigen approach, our product candidates contain a selected antigen 
enabling the immune system to recognize and kill the tumor cells expressing the same antigen. LV305 and CMB305 are examples 
of this approach. Under the Endogenous Antigen approach, our GLAAS-based immuno-oncology product candidate, G100, is not 
designed to target a specific tumor antigen. Instead, we believe that when administered with mechanisms that kill, or lyse, tumor 
cells, our GLAAS-based product candidates will cause DCs near the lysed tumor to activate and capture the wide range of released 
endogenous tumor antigens. We believe this will trigger a broad immune response against those newly-encountered tumor 
antigens.  

CMB305, our primary product candidate being developed under the Specific Antigen approach, targets the tumor antigen NY-ESO-
1. We have selected NY-ESO-1 because it is highly expressed in a number of tumors, but the immune system rarely mounts an 
effective immune response against it. Additionally, its safety has been evaluated by others in numerous clinical trials. We are 
conducting Phase 1 clinical trials of CMB305 and its component agent, LV305, in patients with solid tumors, including both rare 
tumors, such as synovial sarcoma, and higher-incidence tumors such as lung, ovarian and melanoma. We have chosen synovial 
sarcoma because of its high NY-ESO-1 expression profile. In addition, synovial sarcoma is an orphan disease. If we are able to 
obtain orphan drug designation from the FDA for any of our Specific Antigen approach product candidates for synovial sarcoma, we 
may be able to obtain certain benefits such as research tax credits, grant funding, and the potential for seven years of marketing 
exclusivity under certain circumstances. LV305 completed dosing of its Phase 1 dose-escalation  
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clinical trial with no evidence of safety concerns and, importantly, demonstrated immunogenicity data we believe supports 
progressing development of CMB305. Although we are focused on CMB305 as the primary product candidate in the Specific 
Antigen approach, we are also exploring the potential of LV305 as a single therapy and, in December 2014, we dosed the first 
patient in an expansion trial at the highest dose studied in the Phase 1 dose escalation trial. The expansion trial will treat patients 
with any of four solid tumor types and include the exploration of LV305 with an anti-PD1 checkpoint inhibitor in melanoma patients 
who have had an inadequate response to anti-PD1, with the completion of dosing scheduled for the second half of 2015 . We 
expect safety and immunogenicity data from the LV305 Phase 1 dose escalation and expansion trials to be available by the end of 
the first quarter and in the second half of 2015, respectively. Because we believe CMB305, the prime boost of LV305 and G305, 
should be the most potent therapy under our current Specific Antigen approach, we are planning to focus our development on this 
product candidate and progress it into more advanced clinical studies, while preserving the ability to separately develop LV305. We 
believe the initial safety and immunogenicity data from the LV305 and G305 trials support the development of CMB305, and after 
the FDA allowed our IND for CMB305, we began dosing our first patient in a Phase 1 dose-escalation clinical trial for the treatment 
of four solid tumor types in the first quarter of 2015, with initial data expected to be available in the second half of 2015. Finally, 
although we believe G305 may be an effective therapy with patients who have pre-existing but insufficient immune responses prior 
to treatment, we do not intend to develop it as a stand-alone product.  

G100 is our first product candidate being developed under our Endogenous Antigen, or intra-tumoral Immune Activation, approach 
and is currently being evaluated in two Phase 1 clinical trials. The first trial is evaluating intra-tumoral injection of G100 in patients 
with either loco-regional or metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma, or MCC, an orphan disease. We previously disclosed that one of our 
initial patients treated had a complete response in the first loco-regional tumor treated with G100. Since that time, we have 
observed additional evidence of clinical efficacy. While we believe these responses may be related to treatment with G100, the 
results from our Phase 1 clinical trial are not yet final, and we cannot be certain that this is the case or that these or any future 
responses observed will be durable. We intend to follow these patients to determine the safety of G100 and the durability of these 
responses. We began enrolling patients in January 2014 and expect this trial to be completed in the second quarter of 2015. We 
are also studying G100 in combination with radiation therapy in sarcoma patients in an investigator-sponsored study at the FHCRC. 
The FHCRC began enrolling patients in November 2014, and we expect the trial to be completed by the end of 2015. In the second 
quarter of 2015, we intend to initiate a Phase 1 trial of G100 with local radiation for the treatment of patients with a type of non-
Hodgkin lymphoma.  

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in February 2008. Since inception, we have focused our efforts on 
the research and development of  in vivo  immunotherapy treatments. Based on our research and development plans and our 
timing expectations related to the progress of our programs, we expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 
31, 2014 will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our 
future capital requirements will depend on many factors including those discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Needs—We 
will require additional capital to finance our operations, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. As a result, 
we may not complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates or develop new product candidates.”  

Our Strategy  
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▪  Develop product candidates to treat a broad patient  population.  We believe our product candidates should benefit a 

wide range of patients because they are designed to create tumor-killing CTLs, could potentially kill any tumor, and have 

utility as both individual and multiple combination therapies.  

▪  Rapidly advance first-in-class immuno-oncology prod uct candidates through clinical development.  We intend to 

continue to execute a focused clinical development plan that takes selected  in vivo  product candidates through approval. 

We are initially focused on indications with a significant unmet need in targeted patient populations. We intend to focus our 

development efforts on CMB305 and G100, while preserving the ability to separately develop LV305.  

▪  Leverage our platforms’ ability to address multiple  tumor types to build a robust product pipeline.  Our ZVex and 

GLAAS platforms allow us to select different tumor antigens and create separate therapies for potentially any tumor type. 

We believe this ability, and the capacity of our vectors to simultaneously express antigens and immuno-regulatory 

molecules, will be a driver of our future growth beyond the current product candidates.  
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Immunotherapy and the Application of Our Platforms  

Brief Overview of Immunotherapy  

Immunotherapy is the treatment of disease via use of the immune system, which can be achieved by inducing, enhancing or 
suppressing an immune response. Immunotherapies currently play an increasingly large role in treating conditions such as cancer, 
chronic infectious diseases, autoimmune diseases and allergic diseases.  

The main function of the immune system is to discriminate between “self” and “non-self.” Under normal conditions, the immune 
system is geared to eliminate non-self molecules, such as foreign proteins, sugars and lipids. Cancer cells thrive, in part, because 
they trick the immune system into recognizing them as self, even if they express foreign proteins called antigens. Tumor-associated 
antigens result from a variety of cancer-related mechanisms such as genetic mutations or changes in protein behavior. When the 
immune system does not recognize tumor-associated antigens, this failure is called immune tolerance. We believe breaking 
immune tolerance is an important aspect for most immuno-oncology-based therapeutics because it will enable the immune system 
to recognize tumor antigens as non-self and lead to tumor destruction by CTLs. Another mechanism the tumors may use to evade 
the immune system is the up-regulation of molecules that fend off an immune response against the tumor. This tumor-induced 
mechanism can be overcome by administering products called immune checkpoint inhibitors. Several checkpoint inhibitors are 
currently in clinical trials, and two have been approved by the FDA.  

Chronic infectious diseases, such as hepatitis B and C, are also a result of a dysfunctional immune system because viral antigens 
can escape immune recognition. Immunotherapy also has significant therapeutic potential in the context of allergic diseases 
because allergies are the result of an immune system shift towards recognizing environmental or food antigens as non-self. Our 
technologies also have potential therapeutic utility in infectious disease, allergy and autoimmune disease.  

Mechanisms and Limitations of Immuno-Oncology Modal ities  

There are multiple  in vivo  and  ex vivo  approaches designed to “create and expand” the anti-tumor immune response and 
“remove the brakes” placed on the immune response by the tumor’s defenses.  

Removing the Brakes :  Checkpoint Inhibitors  

Checkpoint inhibitors are designed to attack the defenses a tumor has against the immune system. We believe the efficacy of this 
approach depends on the existence of a CTL response against the tumor once those defenses are removed. However, some 
patients’ immune systems do not recognize the tumor and therefore do not generate CTLs necessary to kill the tumor. If cancer 
immunotherapy is to become a therapy of choice to eradicate tumors, each patient will need a strong engine to generate tumor-
specific CTLs and the ability to neutralize or overcome any suppressive mechanism that a specific tumor is creating to fend off the 
CTLs.  

Creating and Expanding an Immune Response: Ex Vivo Modalities  

Engineered CD8 T Cells - In these approaches, naïve resting CD8 T lymphocytes are isolated from the blood of cancer 
patients, manipulated in the laboratory and infused back into the patient. These approaches have produced potent anti-tumor 
responses, but are hampered by the risk of severe toxicity, limited scope of antigen recognition and cumbersome  ex vivo 
 procedures.  

Dendritic Cell Vaccines  - This ex vivo  group of approaches involves isolating DCs from the blood of cancer patients, activating 
them in the laboratory and administering them to the patient with the hope that the DCs will trigger an immune response against 
tumor cells. Although this approach has resulted in one FDA approved product, its manufacturing and handling are cumbersome.  

▪  Selectively monetize non-oncology indications, whil e retaining optionality for internal development.  Both ZVex and 

GLAAS also have potential application in infectious disease, allergy and autoimmune disease. We have licensed the right 

to use GLAAS in specific infectious disease and allergy indications to large pharmaceutical companies. These 

collaborations provide us with both near- and long-term potential revenue and external validation of our technology.  

▪  Establish infrastructure and capabilities to suppor t the future commercialization of our products.  Our management 

team has extensive experience commercializing pharmaceutical products and as our product candidates advance, we 

intend to add the appropriate additional regulatory and commercial expertise to maximize the potential for successful 

product launches and franchise management. In certain instances, we will seek partners to maximize the commercial 

potential of our product candidates.  



 
5  



Table of Contents  
 

Creating and Expanding an Immune Response: In Vivo Modalities  

Protein Vaccines - Many historical protein vaccine approaches rely on injecting either full-length or fragments of a tumor 
antigen protein into a cancer patient. These methods have often elicited an insufficient immune response. Full-length proteins are 
preferable to fragments, but full-length proteins may also require a second agent, called an immune adjuvant, to elicit a sufficient 
immune response. Adjuvants are designed to generate a better immune response but are historically non-specific and only 
marginally immunogenic. Importantly, this approach triggers an immune response characterized by antigen-specific antibodies and 
CD4 T cells, but not CTLs that are essential for killing cancer cells.  

Oncolytic Viruses - Oncolytic viruses are rapidly and aggressively replicating viruses that, when injected intra-tumorally in 
accessible tumors such as melanoma skin lesions, preferentially lyse tumor cells instead of normal host cells. This lysis releases 
endogenous tumor antigens from the dying tumor cells, which may activate surrounding DCs that absorb the released antigens and 
trigger a broad immune response against a large number of tumor antigens. This approach holds promise but based on clinical 
trials conducted by third parties, may require combination with another modality to reach appropriate efficacy.  

Delivery of Genomic Tumor Antigens - We believe delivering tumor antigens in their genomic form via viral vectors is the best 
way to generate CTLs if the DC can capture the vector and process the genomic information efficiently. However, vectors used to 
date have had significant limitations:  

ZVex is designed to overcome these limitations of other viral vectors, while taking advantage of the superior CTL-generating 
property of this approach.  

The Immune Design Difference  

We believe there has been a shift in the immuno-oncology paradigm due to a better understanding of why previous immunotherapy 
approaches have failed to trigger an effective anti-tumor immune response. We have focused on designing and developing cutting-
edge discovery platforms and product strategies for effective cancer immunotherapies that take into consideration the limitations of 
other approaches.  

Our novel  in vivo  cancer immunotherapies are designed for superior generation and expansion of CTLs to kill tumors. We believe 
a robust set of CTLs may, by itself or in combination with other therapies, lead to a meaningful clinical benefit for cancer patients. In 
the development of our discovery platforms and product candidates, we have considered not only historical weaknesses in different 
modalities, but also areas for improvement in light of more recent therapeutic approaches.  

The Difference in Discovery  

ZVex is a vector system partially derived from a lentivirus that is used to transfer the genetic information of foreign antigens to DCs  
in vivo  in order to induce a tumor antigen-specific CTL response. ZVex has a variety of features to increase its safety and efficacy. 
We believe ZVex is superior to other lentiviral approaches and previous efforts attempting to deliver foreign genetic information to 
generate an immune response for the following reasons:  
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▪  some of these vectors are replicative, meaning that they act like a live virus that infects a large variety of non-DC cells, 

causing disease;  

▪  patients with previous exposure to the virus from which the vector was derived may have neutralizing antibodies; and 

▪  none of these vectors were designed to selectively target and work effectively inside of DCs. 

▪  Selectivity for dendritic cells, by design . DCs are the best immune cells to generate the maximum CTL response when 

loaded with a foreign antigen. Lentiviruses, the backbone of ZVex, are known to be highly functional in DCs. We have 

engineered selectivity into our vector by coating the lentiviral particle with an envelope of another virus called Sindbis. 

Sindbis is naturally selective for a receptor only found on DCs, called DC-SIGN. As a result, our vectors will only bind to 

DCs, significantly reducing the risk of interacting with non-DCs. We believe that vectors being used by others in clinical 

trials lack this selectivity.  
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We have generated a significant amount of  in vitro  and  in vivo  preclinical data to support ZVex, including (1) generation of up to 
15% of all CD8s specific to the desired antigen, which is up to several-fold higher than observed with many other vector systems, 
(2) establishment of a strong dose-CTL-response correlation in tumor models as evidence of our mechanism of action, (3) the 
ability to dose repeatedly, resulting in boosting of CD8 T cells and increased efficacy, and (4) the ability to break immune tolerance, 
an important component of immuno-oncology.  

GLAAS is based on a fully synthetic molecule similar to lipid A, called GLA, which is short for glucopyranosyl lipid A. Lipid A is a 
natural substance that occurs in the cell wall of certain bacteria and has strong immune-stimulating properties because of its 
interaction with toll-like receptor 4, or TLR4. DCs are the most potent antigen-presenting cells and have TLR4 receptors on their 
surface, the activation of which has several important aspects:  

▪  Capacity for substantial genetic payload . Our ZVex vector contains sufficient space for two or more antigens. This allows 

for the concomitant expression of two or more tumor antigens, or of a tumor antigen and an immune stimulatory molecule 

such as a single-chain checkpoint inhibitor antibody. Consequently, we believe ZVex may be used not only for antigen 

expression and positive immune response, such as in oncology indications, but also to dampen an immune response such 

as in autoimmune indications.  

▪  No prior immunity to ZVex . Because of the rarity of the Sindbis virus, humans in developed countries have a low 

prevalence of immunity against it. This lack of pre-existing immunity allows for multiple administrations of ZVex products, 

increasing the likelihood of a greater therapeutic benefit. This addresses one of the problems observed with other vectors, 

where a high level of antibodies against such vectors exist broadly in the population.  

▪  Integration deficiency.  Lentiviruses are known for their natural capability to integrate within the genome of their host cell, 

notably DCs. However, we have engineered the vector to make it integration-deficient and thereby safer for patients. By 

making changes in the molecular sequence of the lentiviral vector, including the deletion of more HIV-specific sequences 

from its genome than comparable lentiviral vectors, and making functional changes in the enzyme that carries out the 

integration, the capacity of the vector to integrate its genetic material into that of the host cell is reduced approximately 

1,000-fold from that of lentiviruses that are currently being used in the clinic. To our knowledge, the ZVex platform is the 

only integration-deficient lentiviral vector platform being developed for oncology indications.  

▪  Platform to generate product candidates for multiple indications . Each ZVex vector combined with the genetic payload of 

choice results in a distinct product candidate that can target different diseases. Although we are leveraging NY-ESO-1 as 

our initial tumor antigen, subsequent product candidates may contain the RNA for one or more antigens as well as 

checkpoint inhibitors. We believe these future product candidates would target a completely different set of tumors.  

▪  Potential for multiple vector platforms.  ZVex is designed to deliver its payload to a specific type of DC. However, we can 

alter the cells targeted by our vectors to enable interaction with cells other than just DCs by using alternative envelopes, 

creating the potential for platforms beyond ZVex.  

▪  a strong immune response whereby DCs are activated and can express antigens, as well as secrete a number of 

inflammatory cytokines that lead to the activation of immune cells, in particular naive CD4 and CD8 T cells;  

▪  overcoming the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment by activating DCs, T cells and NK cells; 

▪  when accompanied by an antigen in protein form, generation of a strong, antigen-specific adaptive immune response 



We own or control rights to multiple formulations of GLA, two of which have been administered by us and others to over 1,000 
subjects. The combination of a selected antigen with a formulation of choice makes GLAAS a potentially broad platform for a wide 
range of therapeutic applications.  
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characterized by Th 1-type CD4 T cells; and  

▪  reversal of an allergic immune response to a state of attenuated immune reactivity towards the allergen. 
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The Difference of Our Immuno-Oncology Product Candidates  

We have designed our product candidates to be different from current and traditional immuno-oncology products in the following 
ways:  

Focus on CTLs - Earlier therapeutic efforts to generate an immune response against a tumor antigen either did not directly 
focus on CTL generation or used sub-optimal mechanisms. We are focused on directly generating a robust initial CTL population as 
well as memory CTLs, which are important for long-term immune surveillance. If CTL generation and expansion can be 
complemented by other mechanisms, such as the induction of CD4 T cells as part of the same immune response against the tumor, 
we expect the specific CTL response to be more robust.  

Select and Administer Tumor Antigens Effectively - An increasing number of tumor antigens have been identified in recent 
years, and some have been validated as targets for active immunotherapy by balancing their expression in tumor cells versus 
healthy tissues. If the goal of the therapy is to generate the maximum CTL response, the antigen should be delivered in the form of 
DNA or RNA exclusively to DCs so the DC can express the full-length protein and present the peptide fragments to CD8 T 
lymphocytes. However, if CD4 T cell and antibody production is the goal, delivering an already expressed protein should be 
effective. Moreover, complementing the administered protein antigen with a molecular adjuvant such as the TLR4 agonist in 
GLAAS should enhance its immunogenicity.  

Administer the Therapy In Vivo - We believe a product that can be used safely when delivered  in vivo  via simple injection will 
be preferable to the cumbersome processes involved with  ex vivo  manipulation of immune cells. Moreover, all  ex vivo 
 approaches are highly customized to each patient, whereas  in vivo  approaches can be applicable to a large number of patients.  

Implement a Prime-Boost Strategy - While a CTL-generating product can be sufficient alone, combining it with other immune 
drivers using a heterologous prime-boost can enhance CTL generation and trigger other mechanisms to augment the immune 
response. Heterologous prime-boost regimens have to date been mainly explored in the field of HIV vaccines, where they were 
shown to increase and broaden both T cell and antibody responses. We have evidence from several preclinical experiments that 
the administration of an antigen-specific ZVex vector when followed by, or in some cases preceded by, administration of the same 
recombinant protein with GLAAS, results in dramatically enhanced CD8 T cell responses.  

Leverage Combination Therapies - It is our view that the future of immuno-oncology treatment is combination therapy, and we 
have designed our approaches to potentially combine with multiple other immuno-oncology mechanisms. Based on clinical trials in 
limited tumor types conducted to date, we believe that many, if not most, patients are immunologically tolerant to the tumor and lack 
an immune response. Therefore, these patients will receive little or no clinical benefit from checkpoint inhibitors unless a strong 
immune response is triggered. We therefore believe the combination of a CTL-generating approach with a checkpoint inhibitor is 
likely to provide significant therapeutic benefit.  

Cause Antigen Spreading - Tumor destruction mediated by a strong CTL response against one tumor antigen can release other 
antigens present in the tumor cell. DCs then consume these new antigens, leading to additional immune responses. We believe a 
GLAAS product candidate will boost this second wave of CTLs generated against multiple distinct tumor antigens not present in the 
initial therapy, thereby enhancing the breadth of the immune response. This process is termed “antigen spreading” and is 
associated with increased efficacy of the immunotherapy. We anticipate potential antigen spreading to occur in both our 
heterologous prime-boost and Endogenous Antigen approaches in patients.  

Our Approaches to Treating Cancer  

Our immuno-oncology product candidates are being developed in two separate approaches: Specific Antigen and Endogenous 
Antigen.  

Specific Antigen  

The Specific Antigen approach uses selected antigens that are also present in the patient’s tumor so the immune system will be 
educated to recognize the tumor antigen and kill tumor cells expressing it. ZVex products carry RNA of a chosen antigen, whereas 
GLAAS products are accompanied by a full-length protein of the same antigen. We have generated a significant amount of 
preclinical data illustrating the desirable qualities of this approach. The following graph illustrates the ability of ZVex to generate an 
immune response against a self protein in an  in vivo  rodent tumor model, demonstrating the ability of ZVex to overcome immune 
tolerance.  
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For our first product candidates, we have chosen a tumor-associated antigen named NY-ESO-1 that is expressed in a large number 
of solid and liquid tumors in varying degrees. Our first two clinical programs under this approach from ZVex and GLAAS are LV305 
and G305, respectively. LV305 delivers the RNA for NY-ESO-1, while G305 consists of a specific formulation of GLA and the full-
length NY-ESO-1 protein. We are administering LV305 and G305 in sequence to become CMB305, a heterologous prime-boost 
therapy. Although G305 may be an effective therapy with patients who have insufficient immune responses prior to treatment, we 
do not intend to develop it as a stand-alone product. We believe it is more effective dosed sequentially with LV305 as a prime-boost 
therapy. Because we believe CMB305 will be more effective than either technology alone, we intend to focus our development 
efforts on CMB305 and G100, while preserving the ability to separately develop LV305.  

For our future product candidates, we plan to investigate, among other things, potential antigen targets from virally-caused tumors 
with known tumor antigens. Approximately 12% of human cancers may be caused by viruses, including human papillomavirus or 
hepatitis B virus. In the event the viral proteins interacting with the cell and inducing its malignant transformation are known and are 
immunogenic, they may qualify as future targets for our Specific Antigen approach.  

Endogenous Antigen/Intra-tumoral Immune Activation  

Unlike the Specific Antigen approach, the Endogenous Antigen - or intra-tumoral immune activation - approach does not require a 
selected tumor antigen present in the cancer. It instead relies on endogenous tumor antigens released during tumor lysis by 
treatments such as chemotherapy or local radiation. Neighboring GLAAS-activated DCs then capture the diverse set of released 
antigens and generate a broad and varied immune response. Because local radiation is an effective way to cause tumor cell lysis in 
accessible tumors, we plan initially to evaluate tumors that are accessible to both local radiation and intra-tumoral administration of 
GLAAS.  

G100 is our first Endogenous Antigen product candidate being evaluated in two Phase 1 clinical trials in patients with Merkel cell 
carcinoma, or MCC, and sarcoma, both accessible tumors. We previously disclosed that one of our initial patients treated in the 
MCC trial has a complete response in the first loco-regional tumor treated with G100. Since then, we have observed additional 
evidence of clinical efficacy. While we believe these responses may be related to treatment with G100, the results from our Phase 1 
clinical trial are not yet final, and we cannot be certain that this is the case or that these or any future responses observed will be 
durable. We intend to follow these patients to determine the safety of G100 and the durability of these responses.  

A Broad Footprint in Immuno-Oncology  

We believe that cancer patients soon will be stratified pre-immune therapy into those with low or no CTL responses against their 
tumor versus those with good CTL responses. It is anticipated that many patients will fall into the first category, especially those 
with genetically stable, and hence less immunogenic, tumors. Because we believe our technologies should be broadly applicable 
across tumor types, patients in the larger group needing a CTL response would be candidates for immunotherapy with either ZVex, 
ZVex/GLAAS or intra-tumoral GLAAS (G100).  

The larger group of patients without a strong, pre-existing CTL response is also not expected to benefit from checkpoint inhibitors 
alone. We believe our technologies have the potential to convert this group into a robust CTL response-type group and enable 
them to respond to checkpoint inhibitors.  

In addition, there may also be an opportunity to combine our approaches with other immuno-oncology mechanisms, such as 
engineered T cells, to extend the duration of the T cell response or "pull" T cells to the tumor.  
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Therapeutic Applications Outside Oncology  

Beyond oncology, our technologies also offer several promising applications in the fields of infectious diseases, allergy and 
autoimmune disease.  

Infectious Diseases  

For certain infectious diseases, no effective preventive vaccines are available, and existing vaccines against common pathogens 
often show suboptimal efficacy, particularly in the elderly. In addition, most vaccines against highly variable pathogens offer only 
narrow protection against certain variants, which is a serious problem in certain indications such as pandemic influenza. Also, 
chronic infectious diseases exist where the immune system is tolerized to foreign infectious disease antigens and cannot eliminate 
an established infection. Chronic infectious diseases constitute important medical needs worldwide, with HIV and hepatitis B as 
examples.  

Historically, antigens have been used with sub-optimal immune adjuvants and have mainly focused on generating antibodies, which 
have been limited by low affinity and a narrow spectrum of activity. We believe using a novel molecular adjuvant like GLA combined 
with infectious diseases antigens will boost pre-existing T cells and trigger a broad antibody response, allowing for diverse antigen 
recognition. To date, GLA has been studied in human clinical trials involving over 1,000 subjects. The results of these trials we have 
reviewed to date support the finding of increased magnitude and breadth of the antibody response. With respect to chronic 
infectious diseases, we believe that either a ZVex product alone, or the sequential dosing of ZVex and GLAAS in a heterologous 
prime-boost setting, may help the immune system to overcome the tolerizing effects of these infections and eradicate them.  

We have a preclinical vaccine program called G103 to treat herpes simplex virus type 2, or HSV2. G103 consists of several 
recombinantly expressed proteins adjuvanted with a specific formulation of GLA. In October 2014, we announced a collaboration 
with Sanofi Pasteur, the vaccines division of Sanofi, to develop G103 along with additional assets contributed by us and Sanofi 
Pasteur. In addition to the G103 program, we have granted several licenses under the GLAAS platform to partners developing a 
range of infectious disease vaccines.  

Allergy  

We believe allergy represents an exciting area for the application of GLAAS. Allergies to pollen or food often occur because of 
aberrant immune reactions, which are characterized by helper T cells producing signals that induce other immune cells to cause the 
allergy symptoms. We have a large set of preclinical data demonstrating that certain formulations of GLAAS, when given 
prophylactically or therapeutically with or without the allergen, can shift the responses in a way that results in significant protection 
from allergy symptoms. In essence, the immune system can be taught to redirect the T cells to respond in better ways. In August 
2014, we announced a licensing agreement with Sanofi pursuant to which we granted Sanofi the right to use the GLAAS platform to 
develop therapeutics to treat a selected food allergy.  

Autoimmune Disease  

In autoimmune diseases, the immune system has lost its tolerance for certain self-antigens and attacks normal cells and tissues in 
the body. We believe this process may be reversed by instructing DCs to tolerize antigen-specific T cells, using ZVex.  
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Our Clinical Programs  

Our oncology clinical-stage product candidates are depicted in the following diagram:  

  

Although LV305 and G305 could have potential therapeutic benefit as single therapies, we plan to evaluate LV305 administered sequentially with G305 as CMB305. 
In addition, although we believe CMB305 should be more effective than LV305 alone, we are preserving the ability to separately develop LV305.  

Cancer is characterized by abnormal cells that grow and proliferate, forming masses called tumors. Under certain circumstances, 
these proliferating cells can metastasize throughout the body and produce deposits of tumor cells in distant sites. To be effective, 
cancer therapies must eliminate or control the growth of the cancer. Generally, foreign antigens trigger an immune response that 
results in the removal of disease-causing agents from the body. Cancer cells frequently display antigens that are unique to the 
tumor. However, the immune system may not have learned to distinguish between tumor cells and normal cells and, thus, may be 
unable to mount a strong anti-cancer response. Tumors also have various defense mechanisms that can prevent the immune 
system from recognizing their antigens and mounting an effective immune response.  

The following table sets forth the 2014 incidence rate of the tumor types we are exploring in our current Phase 1 clinical trials using 
the Specific Antigen approach, all of which tumors express NY-ESO-1, in varying degrees:  

We plan to test our therapies in two types of sarcoma, called synovial sarcoma and myxoid round cell liposarcoma. Synovial 
sarcoma is a rare form of cancer in the joints with a five-year and ten-year survival for people with large tumors or metastatic 
disease of less than 25% and 15%, respectively. Myxoid round cell liposarcoma is a rare malignant tumor that most often occurs in 
the deep-seated soft tissues of the extremities. At least 80% of patients with synovial sarcoma or myxoid round cell liposarcoma 
express the NY-ESO-1 protein.  

Merkel cell carcinoma and follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma, or NHL, are the initial tumor targets in our trials using the Endogenous 
Antigen approach, which uses G100 injected directly into the tumor to stimulate a local and systemic response. We are also 
studying G100 in combination with radiation in patients with sarcoma via an investigator-sponsored trial at the FHCRC. The low 
incidence rates of NHL and MCC qualifies each as an orphan disease, and if we are able to obtain orphan drug designation from 
the FDA for G100 for NHL or MCC, we may be  
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•  LV305 - Conducted pursuant to an Investigational New Drug, or IND, application, which was filed by us in December 2013. 
•  G305 - Conducted pursuant to an IND application, which was filed by us in July 2013. 
•  CMB305 - Conducted pursuant to an IND application, which was filed by us in October 2014 
•  G100 Merkel Cell Carcinoma - Conducted pursuant to an IND application, which was filed by us in August 2013. 
•  G100 + XRT Sarcoma IST - IND filed by FHCRC 
•  G100 + XRT NHL - To be conducted under our IND application for G100. 

TUMOR TYPE    
Projected New Cases in 

2014 (US)  
Lung & Bronchus    224,210  
Ovarian    21,980  
Melanoma    76,100  
Soft Tissue Sarcoma    12,020  
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able to obtain certain benefits such as research tax credits and grant funding. Either disease could be an ideal setting to show that 
G100 can provide clinical benefit and may provide separate registration paths.  

Oncology Product Candidates and Development Strateg y  

Specific Antigen Approach  

Our Specific Antigen approach is based on the observation that human tumor cells make a variety of antigens that are not found in 
normal tissues. We conducted an extensive search to choose NY-ESO-1. This protein is found in many types of cancer, and we 
believe it is an attractive target for cancer immunotherapy due to its frequent expression in tumors and its immunogenic potential. 
Among the antigens selected by the National Cancer Institute as the best targets for immunotherapy, only NY-ESO-1 and one other 
antigen have been shown to be tumor-specific.  

LV305 (the Prime in CMB305's "Prime Boost")  

LV305 utilizes the Specific Antigen approach to activate the immune system against a tumor by generating CTLs against the 
specific tumor-associated antigen. As a ZVex-based product, LV305 is highly specific for DCs, unable to replicate and impaired in 
its integration capacity. LV305 is engineered to selectively activate CTLs without inducing CTL exhaustion, and with an improved 
safety profile. In the preclinical efficacy model below, LV305 reduced tumor burden of an NY-ESO-1 expressing tumor, and 
produced a material increase in antigen-specific CD8s, both in a dose-dependent manner.  

  

The upper left figure illustrates the results of mice being injected intravenously with rodent tumor cells expressing NY-ESO-1. This resulted in the formation of 100-150 lung 
metastases per animal (black dots). Three days after the injection of the tumor cells, the mice were injected with (i) a sterile buffer solution, (ii) a single dose of ZVex expressing 
a non-tumor antigen or (ii) a single dose of LV305, in either a low, medium or high dose. The injections had a strong therapeutic effect and reduced the number of lung nodules 
in a statistically significant manner at each of three different dose levels tested. The p-values in the figure express the statistical significance level of the difference of lung 
nodules in treated mice versus mice receiving the control. A p-value <0.05 is considered statistically significant, so all three p-values obtained are highly significant. The upper 
right figure shows the CD8 T-cell responses in normal mice immunized with (i) a sterile buffer solution, (ii) a single dose of ZVex expressing a non-tumor antigen or (iii) a single 
dose of LV305, in either a low, medium or high dose. The bars show the NY-ESO-1 specific CD8 T-cell responses measured in the rodent spleens and expressed as 
percentage of all CD8 T-cells in the spleen. As depicted above, there was a linear dose-response of CD8 T-cells in relation to the level of LV305 doses administered. The T-
cells were further analyzed for expression of three different cytokines, IL-2, IFNg, TNFa and combinations thereof, as represented by the shaded boxes in the image on the 
right. T-cells expressing two or more cytokines are called polyfunctional, which is indicative of a more robust and effective T-cell response. As can be seen, the T-cells induced 
by LV305 are polyfunctional. The lower left figure shows the result of the experiment performed as above, but with the modification that in two groups of mice either CD8 T cells 
or CD4 T cells were depleted in vivo prior to immunization (denoted as anti-CD8 or anti-CD4 on the x-axis). In non-depleted mice, a high dose of LV305 conferred nearly 
complete protection, whereas the same dose resulted in significantly reduced protection in the CD8 depleted mice. This demonstrates clearly that CD8 T cells induced by 
LV305 mediate protection in this tumor model. As can be seen, depletion of CD4 T cells also reduced protection, albeit to a lesser extent, confirming our view of the important 
contribution of CD4 T cells to CD8 T cell mediated tumor control. The lower right figure depicts a control experiment showing that CD8 and CD4 T cell depletion in normal mice 
prior to immunization with LV305 resulted in the absence or reduction of CD8 T cell responses, respectively.  
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We have completed dosing in a Phase 1 clinical study to evaluate the safety of escalating doses of LV305 in vivo in a defined 
patient population with solid tumors expressing the NY-ESO-1 tumor antigen. The patients must have had locally advanced, 
recurrent, or metastatic cancer in any of five tumor types: breast cancer, melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, ovarian 
cancer or sarcoma. When available we take post-treatment tumor biopsies to assist in clarifying the mechanisms that may be 
mediating a treatment effect, such as the generation of NY-ESO-1 specific CTLs. Clinical benefit will be evaluated by analyzing 
tumor responses and progression through short and long-term follow-up via clinical and radiological assessments. A preliminary 
assessment of effectiveness will be done by expanding cohorts of patients with specific tumor types at the highest dose of LV305. 
We believe that initial data from this study have demonstrated an acceptable safety profile and sufficient immunogenicity to warrant, 
in combination with G305, development of CMB305. Because we believe the prime-boost approach of CMB305 should be more 
effective than either LV305 or G305 alone, we intend to focus development efforts on CMB305 as the primary Specific Antigen 
product candidate. However, in December 2014, we dosed the first patient in an expansion trial of LV305 at the highest dose 
studied in the Phase 1 dose escalation. The expansion trial is designed to study the same four tumor types studied in the CMB305 
Phase 1 trial, and will explore the use of LV305 with a checkpoint inhibitor in melanoma patients who have an inadequate response 
to anti-PD1 therapy. We expect data from the expansion trial to be available by the end of 2015. After reviewing the data from those 
trials, we may elect to separately develop LV305. Although we expect safety and immunogenicity data from the dose-escalation 
portion of the LV305 Phase 1 clinical trial to be available in the first quarter of 2015, we do not anticipate releasing any preliminary 
data prior to the completion of the trial, and although the data may be available as of a given date, we may elect to announce the 
results at an appropriate medical meeting.  

G305 (the Boost in CMB305's "Prime Boost")  

G305 is an ag ent from the GLAAS platform that is designed to enhance our Specific Antigen approach as part of CMB305. A 
Phase-1 study evaluated increasing doses of a specific formulation of GLA combined with recombinant, full length NY-ESO-1 
protein. A full-length tumor antigen contains all of the possible antigenic components that can be recognized by the immune system 
to trigger a broad immune response. The G305 clinical trial evaluated safety, immunogenicity, and the preliminary indications of 
efficacy in small groups of NY-ESO-1-positive patients who had the same types of cancers as in the LV305 study. Different 
formulations of GLA have been tested with or without antigens by us and others in over 1,000 human subjects. These agents have 
demonstrated an ability to trigger a strong immune response against the antigen formulated with the GLA molecule. In addition, the 
NY-ESO-1 protein has been administered to over 2,800 subjects in clinical trials conducted by others and was generally well-
tolerated, with no identified material safety signals.  
 
While G305 could have potential therapeutic benefit as a monotherapy to a subpopulation of patients who have pre-existing NY-
ESO-1-specific CTLs, our current plan is to evaluate G305 with LV305 in a heterologous prime-boost as CMB305. We commenced 
the Phase 1 clinical trial of G305 in November 2013 and completed dosing in October 2014. We do not anticipate releasing any 
preliminary data prior to the completion of the trial, and although the data may be available as of a given date, we may elect to 
announce the results at an appropriate medical meeting  

CMB305  

We believe that prime-boost therapies are an optimal way to trigger a robust immune response. This is particularly true when 
distinct, but complementary, parts of the immune response are stimulated. Based on our preclinical studies and their predicted 
mechanisms of action when given as a prime-boost, we expect the sequential dosing of LV305 and G305 - called CMB305 - to 
have synergistic effects and induce a stronger anti-tumor CTL response. In addition to increasing the magnitude of the CTL 
response, we expect this approach to generate memory CTLs and therefore long-term immune surveillance, as well as enhance 
other immune anti-tumor mechanisms.  

Because each of LV305 and G305 have demonstrated an acceptable safety profile and, we believe, sufficient immunogenicity as 
individual agents, we plan to evaluate CMB305 at the maximum tolerated dose of LV305 given as a prime-boost with G305. Our 
Phase 1 clinical trial will evaluate safety, immunogenicity and preliminary indications of efficacy in patients with four tumor types, 
with safety and immunogenicity data expected to be available in the second half of 2015. The FDA has cleared the IND, and we 
began dosing in the first quarter of 2015 patients who have had an inadequate response or unacceptable toxicity with one or more 
previous cancer therapies. We also intend to commence Phase 1 expansion studies studying additional patients in each of the four 
tumor types, all of which should inform a Phase 2 clinical trial intended to open during the second half of 2015 in a lower incidence 
tumor with significant unmet need that we believe may qualify for orphan designation.  
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In all of these Specific Antigen trials, we will be collecting blood and tumor samples to measure CTL generation against NY-ESO-1 
and to determine epitope mapping, antigen spreading and T cell receptor repertoire.  

Endogenous Antigen Approach (Intra-tumoral Immune A ctivation)  

G100  

We are evaluating our first product candidate from our Endogenous Antigen approach, G100, in a Phase 1 clinical trial in patients 
with MCC. MCC is a rare and aggressive type of skin cancer associated with a polyomavirus infection and UV exposure. The 
majority of patients present with localized disease in the skin, although the disease can readily spread to regional and distant sites. 
The accessibility of most MCC tumors makes them ideal for intra-tumoral dosing and obtaining skin lesion biopsies to determine 
changes in the tumor microenvironment following G100 treatment. This Phase 1 trial commenced in January 2014 and is designed 
to evaluate the safety, immunogenicity and preliminary indications of efficacy of administered intra-tumorally in MCC patients with 
either loco-regional or metastatic disease. We previously disclosed that one of our initial patients had a complete response in the 
first loco-regional tumor treated with G100. Since then, we have observed additional evidence of clinical efficacy. While we believe 
the responses we observed may be related to treatment with G100, we cannot be certain that this is the case, that we will observe 
any additional complete or partial responses, or that these or any future responses observed will be durable. We intend to follow 
these patients to determine the safety of G100 and durability of these responses.  

We are also developing G100 for the treatment of other types of tumors where preclinical data suggests there may be ideal 
opportunities for the Endogenous Antigen approach. A sarcoma clinical study commenced in November 2014 via an investigator-
sponsored study at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, or FHCRC, which we expect to complete by year-end 2015. We 
also plan to initiate a study in the second quarter of 2015 that will combine G100 and radiation in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Both are 
being conducted to evaluate the local immune environment, as well as the effect on distant tumors. We do not anticipate releasing 
any preliminary data prior to the completion of these trials, and although the data may be available as of a given date, we may elect 
to announce the results at an appropriate medical meeting.  

Infectious Diseases and Allergy Immunotherapy Progr ams  

Although our primary focus is on the development of cancer immunotherapies, we are also establishing partnerships with third 
parties to develop potential therapies for non-oncology diseases. The following chart details our existing infectious disease 
programs and collaborations:  

    

Manufacturing  

Overview  

We are establishing manufacturing processes and supply agreements for all of the components used in our product candidates to 
support ongoing and planned clinical trials. These include the components for LV305 and bulk and formulated GLA for CMB305 
and G100. We rely on third-party contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, to produce our product candidates for clinical use 
and currently do not own or operate manufacturing facilities. We require that our CMOs produce bulk drug substances and finished 
drug products in accordance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs, and all other applicable laws and regulations. 
We may continue to rely on CMOs to develop and manufacture our products for commercial sale. We maintain agreements with 
potential and existing manufacturers that include confidentiality and intellectual property provisions to protect our proprietary rights 
related to our product candidates.  
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LV305  

We have contracts with third-party manufacturers to produce the vector, final drug product and fill-finish. Release and stability 
testing is done through a combination of in-house testing and contractual agreements with our CMOs. Our new contract 
manufacturer, to which we recently transitioned all of the manufacturing of our lentiviral vectors, has only recently begun to 
manufacture LV305.  

GLA  

Manufacturing for the GLAAS platform generally encompasses both the synthesis of bulk GLA, its formulations and the fill-finish of 
formulated GLA. We have established a supply chain for bulk GLA and two types of formulated GLA: GLA stable emulsion, also 
called GLA-SE, and GLA aqueous formulation, also called GLA-AF.  

The synthetic process for the manufacture of bulk GLA is a trade secret and we retain control and ownership of the process. Our 
CMOs also perform release and stability testing on the bulk GLA. The scale of the GLA synthetic manufacturing process is 
adequate to support commercial production for our product candidates.  

We have also contracted with a CMO to formulate and fill-finish our GLA-SE drug product. We have manufactured multiple lots in 
support of Phase 1 and 2 clinical trials. The formulation process utilizes technology that is readily scalable to support commercial 
manufacturing of our product candidates. Release and stability testing on the GLA-SE drug product is contracted to several CMOs.  

Intellectual Property  

Overview  

Our intellectual property strategy is to protect our technologies by filing multiple patent applications and obtaining patent rights both 
in the United States and in foreign countries that we consider important to our current and future business. In addition, we have 
acquired and will seek to acquire, as needed or desired, intellectual property rights of others through assignment or license to 
complement and enhance our portfolio of patent rights. We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological 
innovations to develop and maintain our competitive position.  

Patents  

ZVex  

We are the owner or exclusive licensee to proprietary patent positions related to our ZVex platform. Our patent portfolio includes a 
patent family licensed from the California Institute of Technology, or Caltech, and is directed to our dendritic cell targeting lentiviral 
vector platform technology. This patent family includes patents granted domestically and in Europe, Australia, Japan and South 
Africa and has granted claims that include composition of matter claims to our lentiviral vector and packaging cells as well as 
methods of using our lentiviral vector to elicit an immune response against a target antigen of interest and methods of preparing our 
lentiviral vector.  

Our patent portfolio also includes two patent families solely owned by us, directed to improvements to the lentiviral vector and 
methods of making the lentiviral vector, with patents granted domestically and in various countries including in Europe, Australia 
and New Zealand. The granted patents include composition of matter claims to our lentiviral vector, a lentiviral vector packaging 
system, methods of using our lentiviral vectors to induce an immune response to an antigen and methods of making lentiviral vector 
particles.  

We also license one patent family from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, or UNC Chapel Hill, directed to a specific 
component of our lentiviral vectors, with patent applications pending in the United States, Europe and Japan.  

Together, we own or license seven issued U.S. patents, nine granted foreign patents and numerous pending U.S. and foreign 
patent applications. We also own pending U.S. and foreign patent applications directed to methods using our lentiviral vectors in 
combination with our GLAAS platform.  

Granted patents directed to our lentiviral vectors have expiration dates ranging from 2027 to 2032, not giving effect to any potential 
extensions and assuming payment of all appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or other governmental fees. The 20-year 
projected expiration dates for our pending patent applications range from 2027 to 2034, not giving effect to any potential extensions 
and assuming payment of all associated fees.  
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GLAAS  

We license rights to four granted U.S. patents and several granted foreign patents from the Infectious Disease Research Institute, 
or IDRI. We own two granted U.S. patents and own or license numerous patent applications in the United States and abroad 
directed to our GLAAS platform. The patents licensed from IDRI include patents in the United States, Europe, Australia, China, 
Japan and Hong Kong. Key patents and pending applications in our portfolio are directed to vaccine compositions and uses of 
compositions containing GLA in a variety of disease indications including cancer, infectious diseases and allergy. The issued IDRI 
patents in the United States and granted IDRI foreign patents are directed to any antigen-containing vaccine formulations 
containing GLA, medical uses of the formulations to generate antigen-specific immune response for cancer, infectious disease and 
autoimmune disease antigens and medical uses for generating an immune response by administering pharmaceutical compositions 
containing GLA. We also own or license pending U.S. and foreign patent applications directed to G103.  

Our granted patents directed to GLA will expire in 2027, with one U.S. patent that will expire in early 2028 due to expected patent 
term adjustment, not giving effect to any potential extensions and assuming payment of all appropriate maintenance, renewal, 
annuity or other governmental fees. The 20-year projected expiration dates for our pending patent applications range from 2027 to 
2035, not giving effect to any potential extensions and assuming payment of all associated fees.  

We require employees, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter into agreements with appropriate confidentiality and 
intellectual property provisions standard for the industry.  

Licensing Agreements  

We have in-licensed intellectual property related to our discovery platform technologies, including the following:  

Exclusive License Agreement with Caltech  

In January 2009, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Caltech, pursuant to which we obtained a worldwide, 
exclusive license under certain patent rights directed to the production of DC-targeted therapeutic and prophylactic immunization 
strategies, with the right to sublicense. We also received a time-limited option to expand the field of use to include human cancer 
applications, which we exercised in September 2009. Additionally, we have a non-exclusive, sub-licensable worldwide license to 
unpatented know-how related to the licensed patents. Under the license agreement, we are obligated to use diligent commercial 
efforts to develop and commercialize licensed products and to make them available to the developing world.  

In partial consideration for the patent rights licensed to us under the license agreement, we issued shares of our common stock to 
Caltech. We are obligated to pay Caltech a low single-digit percentage royalty on net sales of licensed products, subject to a non-
material annual minimum, as well as a mid single-digit to low double-digit percentage share of any payments that we receive from 
sub-licensees, which percentage depends on the stage of development when the sublicense was granted. We are also obligated to 
pay Caltech up to an aggregate of $1.6 million in additional payments based on the achievement of certain development and 
regulatory milestones. Our royalty obligations continue for the life of the relevant licensed patent rights. Currently, we expect that 
the last-to-expire licensed patent in the United States will expire in 2027.  

Our license agreement with Caltech will remain in effect until the later of the expiration of the last-to-expire licensed patent rights or 
the end of our payment obligations under the license agreement. Either party may terminate the license agreement in the event of 
the other party’s uncured material breach or certain insolvency events.  

Exclusive License Agreement with UNC Chapel Hill  

In January 2013, we entered into a non-exclusive license agreement with UNC Chapel Hill, pursuant to which we obtained a 
worldwide, sub-licensable, non-exclusive license to certain modified retroviral vectors, including a license under all patent rights 
owned or controlled by UNC Chapel Hill covering such vectors. In January 2015, we exercised an option to obtain an exclusive 
license under these patent rights. Under the license agreement, we are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
diligently pursue the development and commercialization of licensed products, and we are required to meet certain performance 
milestones relating to the development of licensed products.  

Through December 31, 2014, we have paid to UNC Chapel Hill an aggregate of $0.1 million, consisting of a license-issue fee, an 
annual renewal fee, a fee for the extension of the option period and reimbursement of patent  
 

16  



Table of Contents  
 

expenses relating to the licensed patent rights. We will owe UNC Chapel Hill one or more non-material milestone payments upon 
the occurrence of certain events relating to the development or regulatory approval of licensed products. We are also obligated to 
pay UNC Chapel Hill non-material annual renewal fees, a low double-digit percentage share of any payments that we receive from 
sub-licensees, and a low single-digit royalty on net sales of licensed products by us or our sub-licensees. Our royalty obligations 
continue for the life of the licensed patent rights, on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis, and in any event will cease 
upon termination or expiration of the license agreement. Currently, we expect that the last-to-expire licensed patent in the United 
States will expire in 2028.  

Our license agreement with UNC Chapel Hill will expire upon the expiration of the last-to-expire licensed patent rights, or, if no 
patents issue from the licensed patent rights, in January 2028. We may terminate the license agreement at any time upon advance 
written notice to UNC Chapel Hill. UNC Chapel Hill may terminate the license agreement in the event of our uncured material 
breach or if we become insolvent, and either party may terminate the license agreement for uncured fraud, willful misconduct, or 
illegal conduct of the other party.  

Amended and Restated License Agreement with the Infectious Disease Research Institute  

In November 2010, we entered into an amended and restated license agreement with IDRI, pursuant to which we obtained licenses 
under certain patent rights and know-how relating to synthetic TLR4 agonists, including products containing GLA. The patent rights 
licensed under this agreement are directed to GLA and other synthetic TLR4 agonists, compositions that include these molecules, 
and methods of using these compositions to elicit or enhance an immune response. The licensed patent rights cover all of our 
GLAAS platform products. The licenses granted to us under the license agreement are generally exclusive and worldwide and 
generally extend to the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of any disease or condition. However, IDRI has retained all rights with 
respect to certain infectious diseases found predominantly in low-income countries and we have no rights to use the licensed 
technology for these diseases. Also, for certain specific territories, indications, and/or a narrow subset of synthetic TLR4 agonist-
containing products, our rights are more limited. For example, we have non-exclusive rights to use GLA for the treatment, 
prevention, or diagnosis of HIV and streptococcus pneumonia, and in certain low income countries, we have non-exclusive rights 
with respect to a narrow set of other specific infectious diseases. For two narrow categories of other synthetic TLR4 agonists, our 
rights are both non-exclusive and limited to cancer and specific infectious diseases, including infectious diseases within our core 
focus. Under the license agreement, we are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize 
licensed products to which we have exclusive rights. We and IDRI are not permitted to sell or transfer GLA outside our respective 
exclusive fields.  

Through December 31, 2014, we have paid IDRI an aggregate of $1.9 million in upfront and annual fees, sublicensing fees and 
financial support of continuing research on GLA to IDRI, and issued shares of our common stock to IDRI. We are obligated to pay 
IDRI up to $2.4 million in additional payments based on the achievement of certain developmental and regulatory milestones for the 
first GLA product, and up to $1.3 million in additional payments based on the achievement of certain developmental and regulatory 
milestones for each subsequent GLA product. Lower milestone payments apply to territories, indications, and/or synthetic TLR4 
agonist where our rights are not exclusive. We are obligated to pay IDRI a low single-digit royalty on net sales of licensed products 
that varies according to the indication, as well as a percentage share of any payments that we receive from sub-licensees, ranging 
from the low double-digits to the middle single-digits. Our royalty obligations continue for the life of the relevant licensed patents or 
12 years after the first commercial sale of a licensed product, whichever is longer. Currently, we expect that the last-to-expire 
licensed patent in the United States will expire in 2028.  

Our license agreement with IDRI will remain in effect until the expiration of our payment obligations under the license agreement. 
We may terminate the license agreement at any time with advance written notice. IDRI may terminate the license agreement if we 
challenge any of the licensed patents. Either party may terminate the license agreement for the other party’s uncured material 
breach or upon certain insolvency events.  

Collaboration Agreements  

Exclusive License Agreements with MedImmune  

In October 2010, we entered into three separate license agreements with MedImmune LLC, or MedImmune, pursuant to which we 
granted MedImmune a worldwide, sub-licensable, exclusive license use GLA to develop and sell vaccines in three different 
infectious disease indications. Two of the three agreements remain in full force and effect, and the rights granted under the third 
have returned to us. Under the license agreements, MedImmune is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and 
obtain regulatory approval for a licensed product in certain markets, and to market and sell licensed products in any country where 
it obtains regulatory approval.  
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Through December 31, 2014, MedImmune has paid us an aggregate of $5.5 million in upfront payments under the license 
agreements. Under each license agreement, MedImmune is obligated to make additional aggregate payments of $62.9 million to 
$75.0 million, depending on the infectious disease indication, based on achievement of certain development, regulatory and 
commercial milestones for the licensed indication. MedImmune is also obligated to pay us a low double-digit percentage share of 
non-royalty payments that it receives from sub-licensees and a mid single-digit royalty on net sales of licensed products, which 
royalty is subject to reduction under certain circumstances. Under our license agreement with IDRI, we are obligated to share with 
IDRI a percentage of payments received from third-party licensees, including MedImmune. MedImmune’s royalty obligations will 
continue, on a country-by-country basis, for at least 10 years after the first commercial sale of the first licensed product in the 
applicable country and will continue on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, for the life of the licensed patents that 
cover the sale of the applicable product in the applicable country.  

Each of our license agreements with MedImmune will remain in effect until the later of October 2060 or the expiration of 
MedImmune’s payment obligations. MedImmune may terminate any of the license agreements at any time with advance written 
notice. We or MedImmune may terminate any of the license agreements in case of the other party’s uncured material breach or 
upon certain insolvency events.  

Exclusive License Agreement with Sanofi  

In August 2014, we granted Sanofi an exclusive license to use the GLAAS platform to discover, develop and commercialize 
products to treat a selected food allergy. We received an undisclosed upfront payment and are eligible to receive development and 
commercialization milestones totaling US $168.0 million, as well as tiered royalties on sales of approved products.  

Collaboration Agreement with Sanofi Pasteur  

In October 2014, we entered into a collaboration for the development of a herpes simplex virus, or HSV, immune therapy with 
Sanofi Pasteur, the vaccines division of Sanofi. We and Sanofi Pasteur each contributed product candidates to the collaboration: 
Sanofi Pasteur contributed HSV-529, a clinical-stage, replication-defective HSV vaccine product candidate, and we contributed 
G103, our preclinical trivalent vaccine product candidate. The collaboration will explore the potential of various combinations of 
agents, including leveraging our GLAAS platform, with the goal to select the best potential immune therapy for patients. We will 
develop the products jointly through Phase 2 clinical trials, at which point Sanofi Pasteur intends to continue development of the 
most promising candidate and be responsible for commercialization. Sanofi Pasteur will bear the costs of all preclinical and clinical 
development, and we will provide a specific formulation of GLA from the GLAAS platform at our cost through Phase 2 studies. We 
are eligible to receive future milestone and royalty payments on any product developed from the collaboration.  

Competition  

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by continuing technological advancement and significant 
competition. While we believe that our product candidates, technology, knowledge and experience provide us with competitive 
advantages, we face competition from established and emerging pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic 
institutions, governmental agencies and public and private research institutions, among others. Any product candidates that we 
successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the 
future. Key product features that would affect our ability to effectively compete with other therapeutics include the efficacy, safety 
and convenience of our product candidates. The availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors will 
also significantly affect the pricing and competitiveness of our product candidates. Our competitors may also obtain FDA or other 
regulatory approval for their product candidates more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our 
competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter the market.  

Many of the companies against which we may compete have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and 
development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved 
products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through 
collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. Mergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology and 
pharmaceutical industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. 
These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing 
clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, 
our programs.  
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Government Regulation and Product Approval  

In the United States, the FDA regulates our current product candidates as biological drug products, or biologics, under the Federal 
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act and related regulations. Biologics are also subject to other federal, 
state and local statutes and regulations. Failure to comply with the applicable United States regulatory requirements at any time 
during the product development process, approval process or after approval may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial 
actions. These actions could include the suspension or termination of clinical trials by the FDA or an Institutional Review Board, or 
IRB, the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications or supplements, revocation of a biologics license, warning letters, product 
recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, import detention, injunctions, civil penalties or 
criminal prosecution. Any administrative or judicial action could have a material adverse effect on us.  

The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries impose substantial 
requirements upon the clinical development, manufacture and marketing of biologics. These agencies and other federal, state and 
local entities regulate research and development activities and the testing, manufacture, quality control, safety, effectiveness, purity, 
potency, labeling, storage, distribution, record keeping and reporting, approval, import and export, advertising and promotion and 
post-market surveillance of our products.  

The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory 
approval of any future product candidates or approval of product or manufacturing changes, new disease indications, or label 
changes. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that might arise from future 
legislative or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.  

Biologics Marketing Approval  

The process required by the FDA before biologics may be marketed in the United States generally involves nonclinical laboratory 
and animal tests; submission of an IND application, which must become effective before clinical trials may begin; adequate and 
well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety, purity and potency of the proposed biologic for its intended use or uses; 
pre-approval inspection of manufacturing facilities and clinical trial sites; and FDA approval of a BLA, which must occur before a 
biologic can be marketed or sold.  

The testing and approval process requires substantial time and financial resources, and we cannot be certain that any approvals for 
our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all.  

Our planned clinical trials for our product candidates may not begin or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be 
delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays in:  

Before testing any compound in human subjects, a company must develop extensive preclinical data. Preclinical testing generally 
includes laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as toxicological and pharmacological studies in several 
animal species to assess the quality and safety of the product. Animal studies must be performed in compliance with the FDA’s 
Good Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulations and the United States Department of Agriculture’s Animal Welfare Act and related 
regulations.  

Prior to commencing the first clinical trial in humans, an initial IND application must be submitted to the FDA. A company must 
submit preclinical testing results to the FDA as part of the IND, and the FDA must evaluate whether there is an adequate basis for 
testing the drug in humans. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA unless the FDA within the 
30-day time period raises concerns or questions about the conduct of the clinical trial and places the trial on clinical hold. In such 
case, the IND application sponsor must resolve any outstanding concerns with the FDA before the clinical trial may begin. A 
separate submission to the existing IND must be made for each successive clinical trial to be conducted during product 
development. Further, an independent IRB for each site proposing to conduct the clinical trial must review and approve the protocol 
and informed consent for any clinical trial before it commences at that site. Informed consent must also be obtained  
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▪   obtaining regulatory approval to commence a study; 

▪  reaching agreement with third-party clinical trial sites and their subsequent performance in conducting accurate and reliable 

studies on a timely basis;  

▪  obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a study at a prospective site; and 

▪  recruiting patients to participate in a study; and 

▪  supply of the investigational product and related materials. 
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from each study subject. Regulatory authorities, an IRB, a data safety monitoring board or the trial sponsor may suspend or 
terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the participants are being exposed to an 
unacceptable health risk.  

A study sponsor is also required to submit to NIH for public posting on NIH’s clinical trial website, details about certain active clinical 
trials and clinical trial results. For purposes of developing product candidates for BLA approval, human clinical trials are typically 
conducted in phases that may overlap:  

All of these trials must be conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice, or GCP, requirements in order for the data to be 
considered reliable for regulatory purposes.  

Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of product candidates for a considerable period of time and impose costly 
procedures upon our activities. We cannot be certain that the FDA or any other regulatory agency will grant approvals for any future 
product candidates on a timely basis, if at all. Success in early stage clinical trials does not ensure success in later stage clinical 
trials. Data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying interpretations, which could 
delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.  

The Biologic License Application Approval Process  

In order to obtain approval to market a biologic in the United States, a BLA must be submitted to the FDA that provides data 
establishing to the FDA’s satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the investigational product for the proposed indication. Each 
BLA submission requires a substantial user fee payment unless a waiver or exemption applies. The application includes all relevant 
data available from pertinent nonclinical studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive 
findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls and proposed labeling, 
among other things. Data can come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of 
a product, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by investigators.  

The FDA will initially review the BLA for completeness before it accepts it for filing. Under the FDA’s procedures, the agency has 60 
days from its receipt of a BLA to determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold 
determination that the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. After the BLA submission is accepted for 
filing, the FDA reviews the BLA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed product is safe, pure and potent, which 
includes determining whether it is effective for its intended use, and whether the product is being manufactured in accordance with 
cGMP, to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality, potency and purity. The FDA may refer applications for novel 
products or products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes 
clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and, if 

▪   Phase 1—the investigational biologic is initially given to healthy human subjects or patients and tested for safety, dosage 

tolerance, reactivity, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion. These studies may also gain early evidence on 

effectiveness. During Phase 1 clinical trials, sufficient information about the investigational products may be obtained to 

permit the design of well-controlled and scientifically valid Phase 2 clinical trials.  

▪  Phase 2—studies are conducted in a limited number of patients in the target population to identify possible adverse effects 

and safety risks, to assess the efficacy of the investigational product for specific targeted diseases and to determine 

dosage tolerance and optimal dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted by the sponsor to obtain 

information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.  

▪  Phase 3—when Phase 2 evaluations demonstrate that a dosage range of the investigational product may be effective and 

may have an acceptable safety profile, and provide sufficient information for the design of Phase 3 clinical trials, Phase 3 

clinical trials are undertaken to provide statistically significant evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety in an 

expanded patient population at multiple clinical trial sites. They are performed after preliminary evidence suggesting 

effectiveness of the drug has been obtained, and are intended to further evaluate dosage, effectiveness and safety, to 

establish the overall benefit-risk relationship of the investigational drug, and to provide an adequate basis for product 

approval by the FDA.  



so, under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such 
recommendations carefully when making decisions.  
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During the approval process, the FDA also will determine whether a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, is 
necessary to assure the safe use of the biologic. A REMS may include various elements depending on what the FDA considers 
necessary for the safe use of the drug. These elements may range from a medication guide or patient package insert to limitations 
on who may prescribe or dispense the biologic. If the FDA concludes that a REMS is needed, the BLA sponsor must submit a 
proposed REMS and the FDA will not approve the BLA without a REMS that the agency has determined is acceptable.  

Certain applications for approval must include an assessment, generally based on clinical study data, of the safety and 
effectiveness of the subject drug or biological product in relevant pediatric populations. The FDA may waive or defer the 
requirement for a pediatric assessment, either at the Company’s request or by the agency’s initiative.  

The Orphan Drug Act provides incentives for the development of drugs and biological products intended to treat rare diseases or 
conditions, which generally are diseases or conditions affecting less than 200,000 individuals in the United States. If a sponsor 
demonstrates that a drug or biologic is intended to treat a rare disease or condition, the FDA grants orphan drug designation to the 
product for that use. The benefits of orphan drug designation include research and development tax credits and exemption from 
user fees. A drug or biologic that is approved for the orphan designated indication is granted seven years of orphan drug 
exclusivity. During that period, the FDA generally may not approve any other application for the same product for the same 
indication, although there are exceptions, most notably when the later product is shown to be clinically superior to the product with 
exclusivity.  

For investigational products that are intended to treat serious diseases, certain mechanisms may expedite the FDA approval 
process. For example, FDA may grant Priority Review designation to a product that could provide significant improvement in the 
treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of a serious condition. Priority Review sets the target date for FDA action on the application at 
six months from the FDA’s filing of the BLA, rather than the standard 10 months. Priority review designation does not, however, 
change the scientific or medical standard for approval or the quality of evidence necessary to support approval. Another potential 
approach is Fast Track designation, which a sponsor can request at any time during the development process to facilitate 
development and expedite review of a product intended to treat a serious condition and fill an unmet medical need. Fast Track 
designation involves early and frequent communication between the FDA and the sponsor, which often leads to earlier 
approval. Breakthrough Therapy designation is another approach that is intended to expedite development and review of a product 
that is intended to treat a serious condition and where preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate 
substantial improvement over available therapy on a clinically significant endpoint. Like Fast Track designation, Breakthrough 
Therapy designation provides a sponsor with the opportunity to obtain early and intensive guidance from FDA for an efficient drug 
development program.  

After the FDA completes its initial review of a BLA, it will either communicate to the sponsor that it will approve the product, or issue 
a complete response letter to communicate that it will not approve the BLA in its current form and to inform the sponsor of changes 
that the sponsor must make or additional clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing data that must be received before the FDA can 
approve the application, with no implication regarding the ultimate approvability of the application. If a complete response letter is 
issued, the sponsor may either resubmit the BLA, addressing all of the deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the 
application.  

Before approving a BLA, the FDA will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve the 
product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and are 
adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the 
FDA may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. If the FDA determines the application, manufacturing 
process or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it typically will outline the deficiencies and often will request additional testing 
or information. This may significantly delay further review of the application. If the FDA finds that a clinical site did not conduct the 
clinical trial in accordance with GCP, the FDA may determine that the data generated by the clinical site should be excluded from 
analyses provided in the BLA. Additionally, notwithstanding the submission of any requested additional information, the FDA 
ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.  

The testing and approval process for a biologic requires substantial time, effort and financial resources and this process may take 
several years to complete. Data obtained from clinical activities are not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying 
interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. The FDA may not grant approval on a timely basis, or at all. 
We may encounter difficulties or unanticipated costs in our efforts to secure necessary governmental approvals, which could delay 
or preclude us from marketing our products.  
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The FDA may require, or companies may pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is approved. These so-called Phase 4 
clinical trials may be made a condition to be satisfied for continuing drug approval. The results of Phase 4 clinical trials can confirm 
the effectiveness of a product candidate and can provide important safety information. In addition, the FDA has express statutory 
authority to require sponsors to conduct post-market studies to specifically address safety issues identified by the agency.  

Even if a product candidate receives regulatory approval, the approval may be limited to specific disease states, patient populations 
and dosages, or might contain significant limitations on use in the form of warnings, precautions or contraindications, or in the form 
of a REMs, restrictions on distribution, or post-marketing study requirements. Further, even after regulatory approval is obtained, 
later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in restrictions on the product or even complete withdrawal 
of the product from the market. In addition, we cannot predict what adverse governmental regulations may arise from future 
United States or foreign governmental action.  

FDA Post-Approval Requirements  

Any products manufactured or distributed by us or on our behalf pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to continuing regulation by 
the FDA, including requirements for record-keeping, reporting of adverse experiences with the biologic, submitting annual reports, 
and reporting biological product deviations. Manufacturers are required to register their facilities with the FDA and certain state 
agencies, and are subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP standards, 
which impose certain quality processes, manufacturing controls and documentation requirements upon us and our third-party 
manufacturers in order to ensure that the product is safe, has the identity and strength, and meets the quality, purity and potency 
characteristics that it purports to have. We cannot be certain that we or our present or future suppliers will be able to comply with 
the cGMP and other FDA regulatory requirements. If our present or future suppliers are not able to comply with these requirements, 
the FDA may halt our clinical trials, refuse to approve any BLA or other application, force us to recall a drug from distribution, shut 
down manufacturing operations or withdraw approval of the BLA for that biologic. Noncompliance with cGMP or other requirements 
can result in issuance of warning letters, civil and criminal penalties, seizures, and injunctive action.  

The FDA and other federal and state agencies closely regulate the labeling, marketing and promotion of biologics. While doctors 
may prescribe any product approved by the FDA for any use, a company can only make claims about a product that are consistent 
with its FDA approval, and the Company is allowed to market a drug only for the particular use approved by the FDA. In addition, 
any claims we make for our products in advertising or promotion must be appropriately balanced with important safety information 
and otherwise be adequately substantiated. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in adverse publicity, untitled or 
warning letters, corrective advertising requirements, injunctions, potential civil and criminal penalties, criminal prosecution, and 
agreements with governmental agencies that materially restrict the manner in which a company promotes or distributes drug 
products. Government regulators, including the Department of Justice and the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of 
Health and Human Services, as well as state authorities, recently have increased their scrutiny of the promotion and marketing of 
drugs.  

Finally, post-approval modifications to a licensed biological product, such as changes in indications, labeling, or manufacturing 
processes or facilities, may require a sponsor to develop additional data or conduct additional preclinical or clinical trials, to be 
submitted in a new or supplemental BLA, which would require FDA review and approval.  

Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2 009  

The Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA, amended the Public Health Service Act to create a new 
licensure framework for biosimilar products, or biosimiliars, which could ultimately subject our biological product candidates to 
competition from biosimiliars. Under the BPCIA, a manufacturer may submit an abbreviated application for licensure of a biologic 
that is “biosimilar to” an already licensed biologic, or reference product. This abbreviated approval pathway is intended to permit a 
biosimilar to come to market more quickly and less expensively, by relying to some extent on the FDA’s previous review and 
approval of the reference biologic to which the proposed product is biosimilar. Previously, there had been no regulatory approval 
pathway for such biosimilar products.  

Under the BPCIA, a biosimilar sponsor’s ability to seek or obtain approval through the abbreviated pathway is limited by periods of 
exclusivity granted to the sponsor of the reference product. No biosimilar application may be accepted by the FDA for review until 
four years after the date of approval of the reference product, and no such  
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application, once accepted, may receive final approval until 12 years after that same date. Once approved, biosimilar products likely 
would compete with, and in some circumstances may be deemed under the law to be “interchangeable with”, the previously 
approved reference product.  

On March 6, 2015, the FDA approved the first biosimilar, Zarxio (filgrastim-sndz), a leukocyte growth factor which referenced 
Amgen’s filgrastim product, Neupogen. Because Neupogen was approved in 1991, Amgen had no remaining exclusivity. In 
contrast, the twelve-year marketing exclusivity and four-year data exclusivity provided to innovator products will be available for 
each of our biological product candidates, running from the date of each such product’s first licensure.  

Coverage and Reimbursement  

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of any product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval will depend in 
part upon the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors. Such third-party payors include governmental 
healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and managed care organizations and other entities. 
Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor new drug products when more established or 
lower cost therapeutic alternatives are already available or subsequently become available. Assuming coverage is granted, the 
reimbursement rates paid for covered products might not be adequate. Even if favorable coverage status and adequate 
reimbursement rates are attained, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future. 
The marketability of any products for which we may receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may suffer if governmental 
healthcare programs and other third-party payors fail to provide coverage and adequate reimbursement to allow us to sell such 
products on a competitive and profitable basis. For example, under these circumstances, physicians may limit how much or under 
what circumstances they will prescribe or administer, and patients may decline to purchase, such products. This, in turn, could 
affect our ability to successfully commercialize our products and impact our profitability, results of operations, financial condition, 
and future success.  

The market for any product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval will depend significantly on the degree to 
which these products are listed on third-party payors’ drug formularies, or lists of medications for which third-party payors provide 
coverage and reimbursement. The industry competition to be included on such formularies often leads to downward pricing 
pressures on pharmaceutical companies. Also, third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded drug on their 
formularies or otherwise restrict patient access to a branded drug when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is 
available. In addition, because each third-party payor individually approves coverage and reimbursement levels, obtaining coverage 
and adequate reimbursement is a time-consuming and costly process. We may be required to provide scientific and clinical support 
for the use of any product to each third-party payor separately with no assurance that approval will be obtained, and we may need 
to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of our products. We cannot be 
certain that our product candidates will be considered cost-effective by third-party payors. This process could delay the market 
acceptance of any product candidates for which we may receive approval and could have a negative effect on our future revenues 
and operating results.  

Other Healthcare Laws  

In the United States, the research, manufacturing, distribution, marketing, sale and promotion of drug products and medical devices 
are subject to numerous regulations by various federal, state and local authorities in addition to the FDA, including but not limited 
to, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, and its various divisions, including but not limited to, the Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS. These regulations are enforced by various federal, state and local authorities, 
including but not limited to, the U.S. Department of Justice, state Attorneys General, state Medicaid Fraud Control Units, HHS’ 
various enforcement divisions, including but not limited to, the Office of Inspector General, the Office for Human Research 
Protections, or OHRP, and the Office of Research Integrity and other state and local government agencies. Pricing and rebate 
programs must comply with the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program requirements of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 
and the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992. If products are made available to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule of 
the General Services Administration, additional laws and requirements apply. All of these activities are also potentially subject to 
federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws.  

We are subject to complex laws pertaining to healthcare “fraud and abuse,” including, but not limited to, the federal Anti-Kickback 
Statute, the federal False Claims Act, the Federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act and other state and federal laws.  
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The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering 
or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, 
lease, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under federal health care programs such 
as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical 
manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other. Violations of the Federal Anti-
Kickback Statute are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetary penalties and exclusion from participation in federal 
healthcare programs. The Federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education 
Reconciliation Act of 2010 and subsequent legislation, or collectively, the Healthcare Reform Act or PPACA, among other things, 
amends the intent requirement of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute. A person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge 
of this statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, PPACA provides that the government may assert that a claim including 
items or services resulting from a violation of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes 
of the false claims statutes. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common 
activities from prosecution or other regulatory sanctions; however, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and 
practices that do not fit squarely within an exception or safe harbor may be subject to scrutiny. The Federal False Claims Act 
prohibits, among other things, any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for 
payment, or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim. Several 
pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have faced enforcement actions under these laws for allegedly inflating drug 
prices they report to pricing services, which in turn were used by the government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement 
rates, and for allegedly providing free product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for 
the product. Federal Anti-Kickback Statute violations and certain marketing practices, including off-label promotion, also may 
implicate the Federal False Claims Act. Federal False Claims Act violations may result in imprisonment, criminal fines, civil 
monetary damages and penalties and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. The majority of U.S. states also 
have statutes or regulations similar to the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute and False Claims Act, which apply to items and services 
reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs. A number of states have Anti-Kickback Statutes that apply regardless of the 
payor. In addition, the Federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act requires extensive tracking of physician and teaching hospital 
payments, maintenance of a payments database, and public reporting of the payment data. The system for reporting is called Open 
Payments and applies to pharmaceutical companies. Last year was the first year for reporting under the Open Payments system. 
Failure to comply with the reporting obligations may result in civil monetary penalties.  

The civil monetary penalties statute imposes penalties against any person or entity that, among other things, is determined to have 
presented or caused to be presented a claim to a federal health program that the person knows or should know is for an item or 
service that was not provided as claimed or is false or fraudulent.  

Several states now require pharmaceutical companies to report expenses relating to the marketing and promotion of 
pharmaceutical products in those states and to report gifts and payments to individual health care providers in those states. Some 
of these states also prohibit certain marketing related activities including the provision of gifts, meals, or other items to certain 
health care providers. In addition, some states require pharmaceutical companies to implement compliance programs or marketing 
codes.  

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of available statutory and regulatory exemptions, it is possible that some 
of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. If our operations are found to be in violation 
of any of the federal or state laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to 
penalties, including significant criminal and civil monetary penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion from participation in 
government programs, injunctions, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, denial or withdrawal of 
pre-marketing product approvals, private “qui tam” actions brought by individual whistleblowers in the name of the government, and 
the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our 
results of operations.  

To the extent that any of our products are sold in a foreign country, we may be subject to similar foreign laws and regulations, which 
may include, for instance, applicable post-marketing requirements, including safety surveillance, anti-fraud and abuse laws, and 
implementation of corporate compliance programs and reporting of payments or transfers of value to healthcare professionals.  
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Affordable Care Act  

The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of legislative and regulatory proposals 
to change the healthcare system in ways that could affect our ability to sell our product candidates profitably, even if they are 
approved for sale. Among policy makers and payors in the United States and elsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting 
changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and/or expanding access. In 
the United States, the pharmaceutical and medical device industries have been a particular focus of these efforts and have been 
significantly affected by major legislative initiatives.  

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 
2010, or collectively the Affordable Care Act, was enacted, which includes measures that have or will significantly change health 
care delivery and financing by both governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the Affordable Care Act of 
importance to the pharmaceutical and medical device industries are the following:  

▪  The Affordable Care Act increased the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug 

Rebate Program, retroactive to January 1, 2010, from 15.1% to 23.1% and from 11% to 13% of the average manufacturer 

price, or AMP, for most branded and generic drugs and biologic agents, respectively. The Affordable Care Act also added a 

new rebate calculation for “line extensions” (i.e., new formulations, such as extended release formulations) of solid oral 

dosage forms of branded products and potentially impacted manufacturers’ Medicaid Drug Rebate liability by modifying the 

statutory definition of AMP. The Affordable Care Act also expanded the universe of Medicaid utilization subject to drug 

rebates by requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to pay rebates on covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are 

enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations as of 2010 and by expanding the population potentially eligible for 

Medicaid drug benefits, to be phased-in by 2014. Effective in 2010, the Affordable Care Act expanded the types of entities 

eligible to receive discounted pricing through the 340B drug pricing program. In addition, as 340B drug pricing is 

determined based on AMP and Medicaid rebate data, the revisions to the Medicaid rebate formula and AMP definition 

described above could cause the required 340B discount to increase.  

▪  The Affordable Care Act imposes a requirement on manufacturers of branded drugs and biologic agents to provide a 50% 

discount off the negotiated price of branded drugs dispensed to Medicare Part D patients in the coverage gap (i.e., “donut 

hole”) as a condition for the manufacturers’ outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D.  

▪  The Affordable Care Act imposes an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded 

prescription drugs and biologic agents, apportioned among these entities according to their market share in certain 

government healthcare programs, although this fee would not apply to sales of certain products approved exclusively for 

orphan indications. The Affordable Care Act expanded healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the False Claims Act 

and the Anti-Kickback Statute, and added new government investigative powers, and enhanced penalties for 

noncompliance.  

▪  The Affordable Care Act establishes the Physician Payment Sunshine Act (as referenced above) which now requires 

pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers to track and report annually certain financial arrangements with 

physicians and teaching hospitals, as defined in the Affordable Care Act and its implementing regulations, including 

reporting any “payments or other transfers of value” made or distributed to such entities, and it requires applicable 

manufacturers and applicable group purchasing organizations to report annually any ownership and investment interests 
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held by physicians and certain other healthcare providers and their immediate family members by the 90th day of each 

calendar year.  

▪  The Affordable Care Act added a new requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors 

provide to physicians.  

▪  New Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute was established pursuant to the Affordable Care Act to oversee, 

identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research. The 

research conducted by the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute may affect the market for certain pharmaceutical 

products.  

▪  The Affordable Care Act created the Independent Payment Advisory Board which has authority to recommend certain 

changes to the Medicare program to reduce expenditures by the program that could  
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result in reduced payments for prescription drugs. Under certain circumstances, these recommendations will become law 
unless Congress enacts legislation that will achieve the same or greater Medicare cost savings.  

In 2012, the Supreme Court of the United States heard challenges to the constitutionality of certain provisions of the Affordable 
Care Act. The Supreme Court’s decision upheld most of the Affordable Care Act. However, the Supreme Court struck down a 
provision in the Affordable Care Act that penalized states that choose not to expand their Medicaid programs through an increase in 
the Medicaid eligibility income limit from a state’s current eligibility levels to 133% of the federal poverty limit. As a result of the 
Supreme Court’s ruling, it is unclear whether states will expand their Medicaid programs by raising the income limit to 133% of the 
federal poverty level and whether there will be more uninsured patients in 2015 than anticipated when Congress passed the 
Affordable Care Act. For each state that does not choose to expand its Medicaid program, there will be fewer insured patients 
overall. The reduction in the number of insured patients could impact our sales, business and financial condition.  

In early 2015, the Supreme Court of the United States heard a case in which it will decide whether the federal government has the 
authority to make subsidies available to millions of Americans who buy health insurance on federal Exchanges. The outcome of this 
case could adversely affect the ability of enrollees to continue their insurance coverage and consequently may affect the insurance 
coverage to certain individuals for the Company’s products. A decision is expected in June.  

Other Regulations  

We are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing 
practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. We may 
incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations now or in the future.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2014, we had 33 full-time employees and three part-time employees. Of these employees, 24 were primarily 
engaged in research and development activities and 13 have a M.D. or a Ph.D. degree. None of our employees are represented by 
labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements.  

Available Information  

Our website address is www.immunedesign.com. We make available on our website, free of charge, our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed 
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as soon 
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or 
the SEC. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., 
Washington, D. C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding 
our filings at www.sec.gov. The information found on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.  
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▪  The Affordable Care Act established the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation within CMS to test innovative 

payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription drug 

spending.  
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations. Because our business is 
subject to many risks and our actual results may differ materially from any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of us, 
this section includes a discussion of important factors that could affect our business, operating results, financial condition and the 
trading price of our common stock. You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the other information 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as our other publicly available filings with the SEC.  

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital  Needs  

We have incurred net losses since our inception and  anticipate that we will continue to incur net loss es for the 
foreseeable future.  
We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company with a limited operating history. Investment in biotechnology product development is 
highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and significant risk that any potential product candidate 
will fail to demonstrate adequate efficacy or an acceptable safety profile, obtain regulatory approval or become commercially viable. 
We have no products approved for commercial sale and have generated only limited revenue to date. We continue to incur 
significant research and development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. As a result, we are not and have 
never been profitable and have incurred losses in each period since our inception in 2008. For the years ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we reported a net loss of $34.2 million , $16.0 million and $10.8 million , respectively. As of December 31, 
2014 , we had an accumulated deficit of $90.8 million .  

We expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect these losses to increase as we continue 
our research and development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates. We may also encounter unforeseen 
expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. The size of our 
future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to generate revenues, if any. Our 
prior losses and expected future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and 
working capital.  

We currently have limited revenues and may never ac hieve or maintain profitability.  
To date, we have only generated limited revenues from sales of GLA and such revenues have not been sufficient to cover our 
operating expenses. Our ability to generate significant product revenue and become profitable depends upon our ability to 
successfully commercialize our current product candidates or any other future product candidates. We do not anticipate generating 
revenue from the sale of our current or future product candidates for the foreseeable future. Our ability to generate significant 
product revenue from our current or future product candidates also depends on a number of additional factors, including but not 
limited to our ability to:  

In addition, because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with biotechnology product development, including that our 
product candidates may not achieve the clinical endpoints of applicable trials, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of 
increased expenses, and if or when we will achieve or maintain profitability. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond 
expectations if we decide to or are required by the FDA or foreign  
regulatory authorities to perform additional studies or trials in addition to those that we currently anticipate. Even if we complete the 
development and regulatory processes described above, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with launching and 
commercializing these products.  
 

▪  successfully complete the research and clinical development of and receive regulatory approval for current and future 

product candidates, including those of our licensees for the use of GLA in specific indications;  

▪  launch, commercialize and achieve market acceptance of our current and future product candidates for which we obtain 

marketing approval, if any, and if launched independently, successfully establish a sales, marketing and distribution 

infrastructure;  

▪  establish and maintain supplier and manufacturing relationships with third parties, and ensure adequate and legally 

compliant manufacturing of bulk drug substances and drug products to maintain that supply;  

▪  obtain coverage and adequate product reimbursement from third-party payors, including government payors; 

▪  establish, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights; and 

▪  attract, hire and retain qualified personnel. 
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Even if we generate revenues from the sale of any of our product candidates that may be approved, we may not become profitable 
and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations. If we fail to become profitable and subsequently do not sustain 
profitability on a continuing basis, we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be forced to reduce our 
operations or even shut down.  

We will require additional capital to finance our o perations, which may not be available to us on acce ptable terms, if at all. 
As a result, we may not complete the development an d commercialization of our product candidates or de velop new 
product candidates.  
Development of our product candidates will require substantial additional funds to conduct research, development and clinical trials 
necessary to bring such product candidates to market and to establish manufacturing, marketing and distribution capabilities. Our 
future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, among others:  

We anticipate that we will continue to generate significant losses for the next several years as we incur expenses to complete our 
clinical trial programs for our product candidates, build commercial capabilities, develop our product pipeline and expand our 
corporate infrastructure. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, will allow us to fund our operating plan for at least 
the next 12 months. However, our operating plan may change as a result of factors currently unknown to us.  

There can be no assurance that our revenue and expense forecasts will prove to be accurate, and any change in the foregoing 
assumptions could require us to obtain additional financing earlier than anticipated. Actual research and development costs could 
substantially exceed budgeted amounts.  

We may never be able to generate a sufficient amount of product revenue to cover our expenses. To finance our operations, we 
expect to seek additional funding through public or private equity or debt financings, collaborations or licenses, capital lease 
transactions or other available financing transactions. However, we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available on 
acceptable terms, if at all. Moreover, in the event that additional funds are obtained through arrangements with collaborative 
partners, such arrangements may require us to relinquish rights to certain of our technologies, product candidates or products that 
we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize ourselves. Our failure to obtain adequate financing when needed and on 
acceptable terms could force us to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research or development programs.  
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▪  the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other research and development 

activities;  

▪  the scope, rate of progress and costs of our manufacturing development and commercial manufacturing activities; 

▪  the cost, timing and outcomes of regulatory proceedings, including FDA review of any Biologics License Application, or 

BLA, we file;  

▪  payments required with respect to development milestones we achieve under our in-licensing agreements; 

▪  the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims; 

▪  the costs associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive regulatory approval; 

▪  the cost and timing of developing our ability to establish sales and marketing capabilities; 

▪  the costs of current or future litigation or judgments; 

▪  competing technological efforts and market developments; 

▪  changes in our existing research relationships; 

▪  our ability to establish collaborative arrangements to the extent necessary; 

▪  revenues received from any existing or future products; and 

▪  payments received under any current or future strategic partnerships. 
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to ou r existing stockholders, restrict our operations or  require us to 
relinquish rights to our technologies.  
Until we can generate a sufficient amount of revenue from our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance future cash needs 
through public or private equity or debt offerings or from other sources. Additional capital may not  
be available on reasonable terms, if at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of additional debt or equity securities, it 
could result in dilution to our existing stockholders and increased fixed payment obligations. Furthermore, these securities may 
have rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our operations and potentially 
impair our competitiveness, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or 
license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. 
Any of these events could significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects.  

We plan to use potential future operating losses an d our federal and state net operating loss, or NOL,  carryforwards to 
offset taxable income from revenue generated from o perations or corporate collaborations. However, our  ability to use 
NOL carryforwards could be limited as a result of i ssuance of equity securities.  
We plan to use our current year operating losses to offset taxable income from any revenue generated from operations or corporate 
collaborations. To the extent that our taxable income exceeds any current year operating losses, we plan to use our NOL 
carryforwards to offset income that would otherwise be taxable. However, under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the amount of 
benefits from our NOL carryforwards may be impaired or limited if we incur a cumulative ownership change of more than 50%, as 
interpreted by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, over a three-year period. As a result, our use of federal NOL carryforwards could 
be limited by the provisions of Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, depending upon the timing 
and amount of additional equity securities that we issue. In addition, we have not performed an analysis of limitations, and we may 
have experienced an ownership change under Section 382 as a result of past financings. State NOL carryforwards may be similarly 
limited. Any such disallowances may result in greater tax liabilities than we would incur in the absence of such a limitation and any 
increased liabilities could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.  

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry  

We are subject to litigation that could interrupt t he supply of our drug candidates, delay our clinica l trials and future 
clinical development and materially harm our busine ss.  

In September 2013, Henogen, the manufacturer of some of our lentiviral vectors, was sued in Belgium by one of its customers, 
TheraVectys SA, or TVS, who claimed that the manufacturer had breached its exclusive contract with TVS by producing lentiviral 
vectors for us. While we were not named in the suit in Belgium, we voluntarily intervened in that proceeding to protect our rights. In 
addition, TVS subsequently filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, alleging 
tortious interference, unfair competition and misappropriation of trade secrets. In April 2014, TVS filed a Notice of Voluntary 
Dismissal without prejudice for this suit. As a result of the action in Belgium, Henogen was temporarily enjoined from producing or 
delivering the lentiviral vectors we need for our ZVex platform-based product candidates. This injunction was lifted by the Belgian 
court in October 2013.  

In October 2013, Henogen filed an action in the Commercial Court of Paris against TVS. We were not a party to this action. In April 
2014, the Commercial Court of Paris rendered a decision in which it dismissed all claims raised by Henogen, determined that 
Henogen had breached the agreement with TVS and, among other things, ordered Henogen to comply with the exclusivity 
provision of the agreement. It is our understanding that Henogen and TVS have reached a settlement agreement pertaining to this 
matter.  

On or about July 24, 2014, shortly after our Registration Statement on Form S-1 was declared effective by the SEC for our initial 
public offering, TVS filed a new complaint against us in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware, alleging facts substantially 
similar to the prior complaint. In addition, the complaint further alleges that we obtained shipments of lentiviral vectors for vaccines 
from Henogen and are conducting clinical trials with these lentiviral vectors. The complaint asserts four counts for relief: tortious 
interference with contractual relationship, unfair competition, misappropriation of trade secrets, and unjust enrichment; claimed 
damages were not specified. The complaint also requested injunctive relief enjoining us from using lentiviral vectors developed or 
produced by Henogen, using any other materials or information obtained by Henogen, and citing to the FDA or otherwise relying on 
any clinical trials using lentiviral vector vaccines developed or produced by Henogen.  
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On or about July 24, 2014, TVS also filed a motion for expedited proceedings in support of an anticipated motion for preliminary 
injunction. On August 8, 2014 the court granted TVS’ motion for expedited proceedings and set a hearing date in mid-November 
2014 for TVS’ anticipated motion for preliminary injunction. In September 2014, TVS filed a motion to postpone the hearing date 
and delay the proceedings it previously sought to expedite. The court granted the motion and set a new date for the hearing. On or 
about December 15, 2014, TVS filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking, among other things, to enjoin us from making 
any use of lentiviral vectors pending final resolution of the litigation. A hearing was held on TVS’s motion in January 2015.  

By order dated March 9, 2015, the Chancery Court denied TVS’ motion for a preliminary injunction. The court has not yet made any 
final determination on the merits of the lawsuit, which will be determined at a full trial which we expect will occur prior to the end of 
the third quarter of 2015. We cannot predict the outcome of any trial on the merits. The Chancery Court ruled that TVS had not 
established a reasonable probability of success on the merits of most, but not all, of its claims. If we receive an adverse judgment, 
we could be subject to the payment of damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of 
operations. In addition, the Chancery Court could enter injunctive or other equitable relief of unknown scope, which could delay or 
prevent further development of LV305 or other product candidates from our ZVex platform.  

We have transitioned the manufacture of our lentiviral vectors to a new manufacturer to mitigate the risk of future supply 
interruptions. However, in the event we are unable to use any lentiviral vectors manufactured from our new manufacturer or any 
future manufacturer or the clinical data from the ongoing Phase 1 trial of LV305, prevented from conducting any new clinical trials 
using lentiviral vectors or otherwise prevented from developing, using or producing products using lentiviral vectors as a result of an 
injunction ordered by the Delaware Chancery Court after a trial on the merits or any other legal proceeding, the development of 
LV305 or any other product candidates from our ZVex platform could be substantially delayed and our business could be harmed. 
We also cannot be certain that TVS will not bring separate actions against us or our current or any future contract manufacturer 
which we may use to produce lentiviral vectors. Any such litigation could lead to delays in manufacturing doses of, or developing, 
LV305 or other products candidates from our ZVex platform.  

Ongoing legal proceedings with TheraVectys SA are t ime consuming and expensive and constitute a signif icant 
distraction to management, which could adversely af fect our ability to execute on our business plan an d have a material 
adverse effect on our business.  
TVS is simultaneously pursuing its legal proceeding against us in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware and a separate 
patent opposition proceeding at the EPO. While we did not initiate these proceedings, we are obligated to vigorously defend the 
company and protect our intellectual property. Litigation is expensive, particularly given the multiple jurisdictions and actions 
brought by TVS. The costs of defending these actions and protecting our rights will have a materially adverse effect on our results 
of operations through at least 2015. In addition, managing these actions is time consuming and results in significant distraction of 
management and operational resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to execute on our business plan.  

Our product candidates are in early stages of devel opment. We cannot predict if we will receive regula tory approval to 
commercialize our product candidates.  
All of our product candidates are in early stages of development, including product candidates that are in Phase 1 clinical 
development, and they will require extensive preclinical and clinical testing. We cannot predict with any certainty if or when we 
might submit a BLA for regulatory approval for any of our product candidates or whether any such BLA will be accepted for review 
by FDA, or whether any BLA will be approved upon review.  

Even if our clinical trials are completed as planned, we cannot be certain that their results will support our proposed indications. 
Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and we cannot be 
sure that the results of later clinical trials will replicate the results of prior clinical trials and preclinical testing. If our clinical results 
are not successful, we may terminate the clinical trials for a product candidate and abandon any further research or testing of the 
product candidate. Any delay in, or termination of, our clinical trials will delay and possibly preclude the filing of any BLAs with the 
FDA and, ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate product revenues.  

If our product candidates fail to meet safety and e fficacy endpoints in clinical trials, they will not  receive regulatory 
approval, and we will be unable to market them.  
Our product candidates may not prove to be safe and efficacious in clinical trials and may not meet all of the applicable regulatory 
requirements needed to receive regulatory approval. For example, while we have observed a complete response in a patient with a 
loco-regional Merkel cell tumor treated with G100 in an ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial, the results from our Phase 1 clinical trial are 
not yet final, and we cannot assure you that G100 will be  
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efficacious in clinical trials, that the complete response was a result of being treated with G100 or that any response will be durable. 

As part of the regulatory process, we must conduct clinical trials for each product candidate to demonstrate safety and efficacy to 
the satisfaction of the FDA and other regulatory authorities abroad. The number and design of clinical trials that will be required 
may vary depending on factors such as, the product candidate, the condition being evaluated, results of the previous trial and 
regulations or guidance applicable to any particular product candidate. The design of our clinical trials is based on many 
assumptions about the expected effect of our product candidates, and if those assumptions prove incorrect, the clinical trials may 
not demonstrate the safety or efficacy of our product candidates. Preliminary results may not be confirmed upon full analysis of the 
detailed results of a trial, and prior  
clinical trial program designs and results may not be predictive of future clinical trial designs or results. Product candidates in later 
stage clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy despite having progressed through initial clinical trials with 
acceptable endpoints. If our product candidates fail to meet the necessary safety or efficacy endpoints, we may not be able to 
receive regulatory approval.  

If we experience delays in clinical testing, we wil l be delayed in commercializing our product candida tes, our costs may 
increase and our business may be harmed.  
We have not completed all the clinical trials necessary to support an application with the FDA for approval to market any of our 
product candidates. Our current and future clinical trials may be delayed or terminated as a result of many factors, including:  

Any inability of us or our partners to timely complete clinical development could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to 
generate product revenues or development, regulatory, commercialization and sales milestone payments and royalties on product 

▪  efforts by TVS to slow down our clinical development, including through the entry of a permanent injunction or other 

equitable relief by the Chancery Court of Delaware after a trial on the merits in our ongoing litigation with TVS;  

▪  delays in, or failure to obtain, approval from institutional review boards, or IRBs, or ethics committees, or ECs, or 

institutional biosafety committees, to begin clinical trials at study sites;  

▪  imposition of a clinical hold by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, or a decision by the FDA, other regulatory 

authorities, IRBs, ECs, or recommendation by a data safety monitoring board, to suspend or terminate clinical trials at any 

time for safety issues or for any other reason;  

▪  delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical 

trial sites;  

▪  deviations from the trial protocol by clinical trial sites and investigators, or failure to conduct the trial in accordance with 

regulatory requirements;  

▪  failure of third parties, such as CROs, to satisfy their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines; 

▪  delays in the testing, validation, manufacturing and delivery of the product candidates to the clinical sites; 

▪  for clinical trials in selected patient populations, delays in identification and auditing of central or other laboratories and the 

transfer and validation of assays or tests to be used to identify selected patients;  

▪  delays in having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up; 

▪  delays caused by patients dropping out of a trial due to side effects, disease progression or other reasons; 

▪  slow patient enrollment because of the perceived risk of contracting HIV because the viral vector we use in LV305 and 

CMB305 was constructed from genetic sequences, some of which were derived from HIV;  

▪  withdrawal of clinical trial sites from our clinical trials as a result of changing standards of care or the ineligibility of a site to 

participate in our clinical trials; or  

▪  changes in government regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trials. 



sales.  
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If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical trials could be d elayed or otherwise 
adversely affected.  
We may not be able to enroll a sufficient number of patients or those with required or desired characteristics to complete our clinical 
trials in a timely manner. Patient enrollment is affected by factors including:  

 
If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical trials as planned, we may need to delay or 
terminate ongoing or planned clinical trials, either of which would have an adverse effect on our business.  

Our product candidates may cause undesirable side e ffects or have other properties that could prevent their regulatory 
approval, limit the commercial scope of their appro ved uses, or result in significant negative consequ ences following any 
marketing approval.  
Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical 
trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other comparable 
foreign regulatory authorities. Results of our trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects or 
unexpected characteristics. In such an event, we could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities could order us to cease clinical trials or deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted 
indications. Drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled subjects to complete the trial or result 
in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. 

Additionally, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side 
effects caused by any such products, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:  
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▪  the nature and size of the patient population; 

▪  the number and location of clinical sites we enroll; 

▪  competition with other companies for clinical sites or patients; 

▪  design of the trial protocol; 

▪  eligibility criteria for the study in question; 

▪  slow patient enrollment because of the perceived risk of contracting HIV because the viral vector we use in LV305 and 

CMB305 was constructed from genetic sequences, some of which were derived from HIV;  

▪  ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and 

▪  clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to other available 

therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating.  

▪  we may suspend marketing of, or withdraw or recall, such product; 

▪  regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product; 

▪  regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label; 

▪  the FDA or other regulatory authorities may issue safety alerts, “Dear Healthcare Provider” letters, press releases or other 

communications containing warnings about such product;  

▪  the FDA may require the establishment or modification of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, or a 

comparable foreign regulatory authority may require the establishment or modification of a similar strategy that may, for 

instance, restrict distribution of our products and impose other implementation requirements on us;  

▪  regulatory authorities may require that we conduct post-marketing studies; 
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Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate or 
otherwise materially harm the commercial prospects for the product candidate, if approved, and could significantly harm our 
business, results of operations and prospects.  

We may be required to suspend, repeat, redesign or terminate our clinical trials if they are not condu cted in accordance 
with regulatory requirements, the results are negat ive or inconclusive or the trials are not well desi gned.  
Clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s current Good Clinical Practices, or cGCP, or other applicable foreign 
government guidelines. Clinical trials are subject to oversight by the FDA, other foreign governmental agencies, IRBs and ECs at 
the study sites where the clinical trials are conducted. In addition, clinical trials must be conducted with product candidates 
produced in accordance with applicable current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP. Clinical trials may be suspended by the 
FDA, other foreign governmental agencies, or us for various reasons, including:  

 
Our ZVex platform is novel, which may raise new reg ulatory issues that could delay or make regulatory approval of our 
product ZVex candidates more difficult.  
The process of obtaining required FDA and other regulatory approvals, including foreign approvals, is expensive, often takes many 
years and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the products involved. Because our ZVex platform 
is novel, regulatory agencies lack experience with product candidates such as LV305 and CMB305, which may lengthen the 
regulatory review process, increase our development costs and delay or prevent commercialization of our ZVex product candidates. 

The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and co mparable foreign regulatory authorities are lengthy , time consuming 
and inherently unpredictable. Our inability to obta in regulatory approval for our product candidates w ould substantially 
harm our business.  
The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities is unpredictable but typically takes 
many years following the commencement of preclinical studies and clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors. In addition, 
approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval vary among jurisdictions. We have 
not obtained regulatory approval for any product candidate and it is possible that none of our existing product candidates or any 
future product candidates will ever obtain regulatory approval.  

Our product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval from the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority for many 
reasons, including:  
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▪  we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to subjects or patients; and 

▪  our reputation may suffer. 

▪  deficiencies in the conduct of the clinical trials, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory 

requirements or clinical protocols;  

▪  deficiencies in the clinical trial operations or trial sites; 

▪  the product candidate may have unforeseen adverse side effects; 

▪  deficiencies in the trial design necessary to demonstrate efficacy; 

▪  fatalities or other adverse events arising during a clinical trial due to medical problems that may not be related to clinical 

trial treatments;  

▪  the product candidate may not appear to be more effective than current therapies; or 

▪  the quality or stability of the product candidate may fall below acceptable standards. 

▪  disagreement with the design or implementation of our clinical trials; 

▪  failure to demonstrate that a product candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication; 

▪  failure of clinical trials’ endpoints to meet the level of statistical significance required for approval; 

▪  failure to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; 
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The FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may require more information, including additional preclinical or clinical data 
to support approval, which may delay or prevent approval and our commercialization plans, or we may decide to abandon the 
development program. If we were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or 
more limited indications than we request, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials, 
or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful 
commercialization of that product candidate. Regulatory authorities’ assessment of the data and results required to demonstrate 
safety and efficacy can change over time and can be affected by many factors, such as the emergence of new information, 
including on other products, changing policies and agency funding, staffing and leadership.  

Our failure to obtain regulatory approval in intern ational jurisdictions would prevent us from marketi ng our product 
candidates outside the United States.  
In order to market and sell our products in other jurisdictions, we must obtain separate marketing approvals for those jurisdictions 
and comply with their numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and can 
involve additional testing. The time required to obtain approval may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. 
The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA 
approval. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, we must secure product reimbursement approvals before 
regulatory authorities will approve the product for sale in that country. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with 
foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay or prevent the 
introduction of our products in certain countries. Further, clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory 
authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not ensure approval in any other country, while a failure 
or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. 
Also, if regulatory approval for any of our product candidates is granted, it may be later withdrawn. If we fail to comply with the 
regulatory requirements in international markets and receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and 
our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed and our business will be adversely affected. 
We may not obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Our failure to obtain approval of any of our product 
candidates by regulatory authorities in countries outside of the United States may significantly diminish the commercial prospects of 
that product candidate and our business prospects could decline.  

Even if our product candidates receive regulatory a pproval, they may still face future development and  regulatory 
difficulties.  
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, it will be subject to ongoing regulation by the FDA and comparable 
foreign regulatory authorities, including requirements governing the manufacture, quality control, further development, labeling, 
packaging, tracking, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, import, export, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of 
safety and other post-market information. The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities continue to closely monitor the 
safety profile of any product even after approval. If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities become aware of new 
safety information after approval of any of our product candidates, they may, among other measures, require labeling changes or 
establishment of a REMS or similar strategy, impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing, or impose 
ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market surveillance.  

In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA 
and other regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMP regulations and standards. If we or a regulatory agency discover 
previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the 
facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturing facility 
or us, including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. If we or the 
manufacturing facilities for  
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▪  disagreement with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials; 

▪  the insufficiency of data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates to support the submission and filing of a BLA 

or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval;  

▪  failure to obtain approval of the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with whom we contract for 

clinical and commercial supplies; or  

▪  changes in the approval policies or regulations that render our preclinical and clinical data insufficient for approval. 
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our product candidates, if approved, fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:  

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize our products and generate 
revenue.  

Advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval in the United States will be heavily scrutinized by the 
FDA, the Department of Justice, the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of Inspector General, state attorneys 
general, members of Congress and the public. Violations, including promotion of our products for unapproved, or off-label, uses, 
may be subject to enforcement letters, inquiries and investigations, as well as civil and criminal sanctions. Additionally, comparable 
foreign regulatory authorities will heavily scrutinize advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval in their 
respective jurisdictions.  

In the United States, engaging in the impermissible promotion of our products for off-label uses can also subject us to false claims 
litigation under federal and state statutes, which can lead to administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, monetary fines, 
disgorgement, individual imprisonment, exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, 
curtailment or restructuring of our operations and agreements that materially restrict the manner in which a company promotes or 
distributes drug products. These false claims statutes include, but are not limited to, the federal civil False Claims Act, which allows 
any individual to bring a lawsuit against an individual or entity, including a pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical company on behalf 
of the federal government alleging the knowing submission of false or fraudulent claims, or causing to present such false or 
fraudulent claims, for payment or approval by a federal program such as Medicare or Medicaid. If the government decides to 
intervene and prevails in the lawsuit, the individual initiating the lawsuit will share in any fines or settlement funds. These False 
Claims Act lawsuits against pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies have increased significantly in number and breadth, 
leading to several substantial civil and criminal settlements regarding certain sales practices, including promoting off-label drug 
uses involving fines in excess of $1.0 billion. This growth in litigation has increased the risk that a pharmaceutical or 
biopharmaceutical company will have to defend a false claim action, pay settlement fines or restitution, agree to comply with 
burdensome reporting and compliance obligations, and be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state 
healthcare programs. If we do not lawfully promote our approved products, we may become subject to such litigation, which have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Promotion prior to marketing approval or for 
off-label uses may also give rise to criminal prosecution in the European Union.  

The FDA’s and other applicable government agencies’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted 
that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval, and thus the sale and promotion, of our product candidates. If we are slow or 
unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to 
maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, which would adversely affect our 
business, prospects and ability to achieve or sustain profitability.  
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▪  issue warning letters or untitled letters; 

▪  mandate modifications to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective information to healthcare practitioners; 

▪  impose a consent decree, which can include various fines, reimbursements for inspection costs, required due dates for 

specific actions and penalties for noncompliance;  

▪  seek an injunction or other court actions to impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines; 

▪  suspend or withdraw regulatory approval; 

▪  suspend any ongoing clinical trials; 

▪  refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed by us; 

▪  suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or 

▪  seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of products, or require us to initiate a product recall. 
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Our product candidates may not achieve adequate mar ket acceptance among physicians, patients, healthca re payors and 
others in the medical community necessary for comme rcial success.  
Even if our product candidates receive regulatory approval, they may not gain adequate market acceptance among physicians, 
patients, healthcare payors and others in the medical community. Our commercial success also depends on coverage and 
adequate reimbursement and pricing of our product candidates by third-party payors, including government payors, which may be 
difficult or time-consuming to obtain, may be limited in scope and may not be obtained in all jurisdictions in which we may seek to 
market our products. The degree of market acceptance of any of our approved product candidates will depend on a number of 
factors, including:  

 
Our competitors may develop and market products tha t are less expensive, more effective, safer or reac h the market 
sooner than our product candidates, which may dimin ish or eliminate the commercial success of any prod ucts we may 
commercialize.  
The biotechnology industry is intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. We face competition 
with respect to our current product candidates and will face competition with respect to any future product candidates from major 
pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide. Many of our competitors 
have significantly greater financial, technical and human resources. Smaller and early-stage companies may also prove to be 
significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies.  

Our competitors may obtain regulatory approval of their product candidates more rapidly than we may or may obtain patent 
protection or other intellectual property rights that limit our ability to develop or commercialize our product candidates. Our 
competitors may also develop drugs that are more effective, more convenient, more widely used and less costly or have a better 
safety profile than our products and these competitors may also be more successful than us in manufacturing and marketing their 
products.  

Our competitors will also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, management and commercial personnel, 
establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or 
necessary for, our programs.  
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▪  the efficacy and safety profile as demonstrated in clinical trials; 

▪  the timing of market introduction of the product candidate as well as competitive products; 

▪  the clinical indications for which the product candidate is approved; 

▪  acceptance of the product candidate as a safe and effective treatment by physicians, clinics and patients; 

▪  the potential and perceived advantages of product candidates over alternative treatments; 

▪  the perceived risk of contracting HIV because the viral vector we use in LV305 and CMB305 was constructed from genetic 

sequences, some of which were derived from HIV;  

▪  the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments; 

▪  the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement and pricing by third-party payors, including government payors 

and the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of coverage by third-party payors;  

▪  the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies based on new technologies and of physicians to 

prescribe these therapies;  

▪  the strength of marketing and distribution support; 

▪  relative convenience and ease of administration; 

▪  the frequency and severity of adverse events; 

▪  the effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts; and 

▪  unfavorable publicity relating to the product candidate. 





Table of Contents  
 

Although there is only one approved in vivo immuno-oncology therapy, there are numerous currently approved therapies to treat 
cancer. Many of these approved drugs are well-established therapies or products and are widely accepted by physicians, patients 
and third-party payors. Some of these drugs are branded and subject to patent protection, and others are available on a generic 
basis. Insurers and other third-party payors may also encourage the use of generic products or specific branded products. We 
expect that if our product candidates are approved, they will be priced at a significant premium over competitive generic, including 
branded generic, products. This may make it difficult for us to differentiate our products from currently approved therapies, which 
may adversely impact our business strategy. In addition, many companies are developing new therapeutics, and we cannot predict 
what the standard of care will be as our product candidates progress through clinical development.  

We believe that our ability to successfully compete will depend on, among other things:  

If any product candidate is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, hospitals, healthcare 
payors and patients, we may not generate or derive sufficient revenue from that product candidate and may not become or remain 
profitable.  

We may encounter delays in our clinical enrollment or other unforeseen challenges because the viral ve ctor used in 
LV305 and CMB305 was constructed from genetic seque nces, some of which were derived from HIV.  
The viral vector in our LV305 and CMB305 product candidates was constructed from many genetic sequences, some of which were 
derived from HIV. While the vector will not cause an HIV infection, patients may test positive for HIV under certain screening tests 
and perceive the use of our product candidates as putting themselves at risk of contracting HIV. We disclose the origination of the 
vector in the consent forms used in our trial enrollments, which may cause patients to be deterred from enrolling in our trials 
resulting in delays in the enrollment for our clinical trials. Furthermore, we may encounter other difficulties, such as lack of market 
adoption of any commercialized product candidate, due to the public’s negative perception of the risk of contracting HIV.  

We will need to develop or acquire additional capab ilities in order to commercialize any product candi dates that obtain 
regulatory approval, and we may encounter unexpecte d costs or difficulties in doing so .  
We will need to acquire additional capabilities and effectively manage our operations and facilities to successfully pursue and 
complete future research, development and commercialization efforts. Currently, we have no experience in preparing applications 
for marketing approval, commercial-scale manufacturing, managing of large-scale information technology systems or managing a 
large-scale distribution system. We will need to add personnel and expand our capabilities, which may strain our existing 
managerial, operational, regulatory compliance, financial and other resources. To do this effectively, we must:  
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▪    the efficacy and safety profile of our product candidates, including relative to marketed products and product candidates in 

development by third parties;  

▪  the time it takes for our product candidates to complete clinical development and receive marketing approval; 

▪  the ability to commercialize any of our product candidates that receive regulatory approval; 

▪  the price of our products, including in comparison to branded or generic competitors; 

▪  whether coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement are available under private and governmental health insurance 

plans, including Medicare;  

▪  the ability to establish, maintain and protect intellectual property rights related to our product candidates; 

▪  the ability to manufacture commercial quantities of any of our product candidates that receive regulatory approval; and 

▪  acceptance of any of our product candidates that receive regulatory approval by physicians and other healthcare providers. 

▪  train, manage and motivate a growing employee base; 

▪  accurately forecast demand for our products; and 

▪  expand existing operational, financial and management information systems. 
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We plan to conduct process development activities to support late stage development and commercialization activities and seek 
approval of our product candidates. Should we not receive timely approval of our production process, our ability to produce the 
immunotherapy products following regulatory approval for sale could be delayed, which would further delay the period of time when 
we would be able to generate revenues from the sale of such products, if we are even able to generate revenues at all.  

We have no internal sales or marketing capability a nd may rely on alliances with others possessing suc h capabilities to 
commercialize our products successfully.  
We intend to market our product candidates, if and when such product candidates are approved by the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities, either directly or through other strategic alliances and distribution arrangements with third parties. There can 
be no assurance that we will be able to enter into third-party marketing or distribution arrangements on advantageous terms or at 
all. To the extent that we do enter into such arrangements, we will be dependent on our marketing and distribution partners. In 
entering into third-party marketing or distribution arrangements, we expect to incur significant additional expense. If we are unable 
to enter into such arrangements on acceptable terms, or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any of our 
product candidates that receive regulatory approval. Depending on the nature of the third party relationship, we may have little 
control over such third parties, and any of these third parties may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell, 
market and distribute our products effectively. If we are not successful in commercializing our product candidates, either on our own 
or through collaborations with one or more third parties, our future product revenue will suffer and we may incur significant 
additional losses.  

We depend on key personnel for our continued operat ions and future success and a loss of certain key p ersonnel could 
significantly hinder our ability to move forward wi th our business plan.  
To succeed, we must recruit, retain, manage and motivate qualified clinical, scientific, technical and management personnel and we 
face significant competition for experienced personnel. If we do not succeed in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, 
particularly at the management level, it could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and harm our operating 
results. In particular, the loss of one or more of our executive officers could be detrimental to us if we cannot recruit suitable 
replacements in a timely manner. The competition for qualified personnel in the immuno-oncology field is intense and as a result, 
we may be unable to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit 
suitable replacement personnel.  

Many of the other biopharmaceutical companies that we compete against for qualified personnel have greater financial and other 
resources, different risk profiles and a longer history in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities 
and better chances for career advancement. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, the rate and 
success at which we can discover and develop product candidates and our business will be limited.  

Even if we commercialize a product candidate, it or  any other product candidates that we develop may b ecome subject to 
unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party covera ge or reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives, which 
could harm our business.  
Our ability to commercialize any product candidates successfully will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate 
reimbursement for our product candidates will be available from government health administration authorities, private health 
insurers and other organizations. The laws that govern marketing approvals, pricing and reimbursement for new drug products vary 
widely from country to country. We cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement will be available for any product that we 
commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, what the level of reimbursement will be. Coverage and reimbursement may 
impact the demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. If coverage and 
reimbursement are not available or reimbursement is available only to limited levels, we may not successfully commercialize any 
product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.  

Current and future legislation may increase the dif ficulty and cost for us to commercialize our drug c andidates and affect 
the prices we may obtain.  
In the United States and many foreign jurisdictions, the legislative landscape continues to evolve. There have been a number of 
enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system and pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical 
industries that could, among other things, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any 
product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.  

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care 
and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or, collectively, the Affordable Care Act. Among other things, the Affordable Care Act 
expanded manufacturers’ rebate liability under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program  
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by increasing the minimum rebate for both branded and generic drugs, effective the first quarter of 2010 and revising the definition 
of “average manufacturer price,” or AMP, for calculating and reporting Medicaid drug rebates on outpatient prescription drug prices. 
This could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates manufacturers are required to pay to states. The Affordable Care Act 
further created a separate AMP for certain categories of drugs generally provided in non-retail outpatient settings. The legislation 
also extended Medicaid drug rebates, previously due only on fee-for-service utilization, to Medicaid managed care utilization, and 
created an alternative rebate formula for certain new formulations of certain existing products that is intended to increase the 
amount of rebates due on those drugs. Also effective in 2010, the Affordable Care Act expanded the types of entities eligible to 
receive discounted 340B pricing, although, with the exception of children’s hospitals, these newly eligible entities will not be eligible 
to receive discounted 340B pricing on orphan drugs used in orphan indications. In addition, because 340B pricing is determined 
based on AMP and Medicaid drug rebate data, the revisions to the Medicaid rebate formula and AMP definition described above 
could cause the required 340B discounts to increase. The Affordable Care Act also imposes a significant annual fee on companies 
that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products. Furthermore, as of 2011, this law changed the Medicare Part D 
coverage gap discount program by requiring manufacturers to provide a 50% point-of-sale-discount off the negotiated price of 
applicable brand drugs to certain eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period as a condition for the manufacturers’ 
outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D. Additionally, the Affordable Care Act created a new licensure framework for 
follow-on biologic products. The Affordable Care Act also created a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, 
identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with providing funding for such research. 
Additionally, the Affordable Care Act created the Independent Payment Advisory Board, which has the authority to recommend 
certain changes to the Medicare program that could result in reduced payments for prescription drugs and those recommendations 
could have the effect of law, even if Congress does not act on the recommendation. Furthermore, the Affordable Care Act 
established a Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation at the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services to test innovative 
payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription drug spending. 
Substantial new provisions affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may affect our business practices with healthcare 
practitioners, as described in more detail below. Notably, a significant number of provisions are not yet, or have only recently 
become, effective.  

Many of the details regarding the implementation of the Affordable Care Act are yet to be determined, and at this time, it remains 
unclear the full effect that the Affordable Care Act would have on our business. In particular, there is uncertainty surrounding the 
applicability of the biosimilars provisions under the Affordable Care Act to our product candidates. FDA’s implementation of the 
biosimilars provisions is at an early stage. Depending on how FDA’s regulation of biosimilars evolves, we may be required to 
change our current strategies.  

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. For example, in 
August 2011, the President signed into law the Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, created the Joint Select 
Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress proposals in spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee on 
Deficit Reduction did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for fiscal years 2012 through 2021, triggering the 
legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to 
providers of up to 2%, starting in 2013. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013, enacted on December 26, 2013, and Public Law 113-
82, enacted on February 15, 2014, expanded sequestration through fiscal year 2024. These cuts will occur unless Congress 
repeals or amends the reductions in future legislation. Continuation of sequestration or enactment of other reductions in Medicare 
reimbursement for drugs could affect our ability to achieve a profit on any candidate products that are approved for marketing.  

Moreover, the recently enacted Drug Supply Chain Security Act imposes new obligations on manufacturers of pharmaceutical 
products, related to product tracking and tracing. Among the requirements of this new legislation, manufacturers will be required to 
provide certain information regarding drug products to individuals and entities to which product ownership is transferred, label drug 
product with a product identifier, and keep certain records regarding the drug product. The transfer of information to subsequent 
product owners by manufacturers will eventually be required to be done electronically. Manufacturers will also be required to verify 
that purchasers of the manufacturers’ products are appropriately licensed. Further, manufacturers will have drug product 
investigation, quarantine, disposition, and notification responsibilities related to counterfeit, diverted, stolen, and intentionally 
adulterated products, as well as products that are the subject of fraudulent transactions or that are otherwise unfit for distribution 
such that they would be reasonably likely to result in serious health consequences or death. In the European Union the Falsified 
Medicines Directive imposes similar requirements which are expected to add materially to product costs.  
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In addition to federal reforms, individual states have become increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing 
regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, 
discounts, restrictions on certain product access, and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and designed to 
encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. Legally-mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-
party payors or other restrictions could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, 
regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical 
products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could reduce ultimate 
demand for our products or put pressure on our product pricing, which could negatively affect our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and prospects.  

In addition, given recent federal and state government initiatives directed at lowering the total cost of healthcare, Congress and 
state legislatures will likely continue to focus on healthcare reform, the cost of prescription drugs and biologics and the reform of the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs. While we cannot predict the full outcome of any such legislation, it may result in decreased 
reimbursement for drugs and biologics, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce prescription drug prices. 
This could harm our ability to generate revenues. In addition, legislation has been introduced that, if enacted, would permit more 
widespread importation or re-importation of pharmaceutical products from foreign countries into the United States, including from 
countries where the products are sold at lower prices than in the United States. Such legislation, or similar regulatory changes, 
could put competitive pressure on our ability to profitably price our products, which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, 
results of operations, financial condition and prospects. Alternatively, in response to legislation such as this, we might elect not to 
seek approval for or market our products in foreign jurisdictions in order to minimize the risk of re-importation, which could also 
reduce the revenue we generate from our product sales.  

We expect that the Affordable Care Act, as well as other healthcare reform measures that have and may be adopted in the future, 
may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and exert downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product, 
and could seriously harm our future revenues. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may 
result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare 
reforms may prevent us from being able to generate sufficient revenue, attain profitability or successfully commercialize our 
products. The full impact of these new laws, as well as laws and other reform measures that may be proposed and adopted in the 
future, remains uncertain, but may continue the downward pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare 
program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business operations.  

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause u s to incur substantial liabilities and to limit com mercialization of our 
product candidates.  
We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human trials and may face 
greater risk if we commercialize any products that we develop. Product liability claims may be brought against us by subjects 
enrolled in our trials, patients, healthcare providers or others using, administering or selling our products. If we cannot successfully 
defend ourselves against such claims, we could incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims 
may result in:  

While we currently hold $5.0 million in trial liability insurance coverage, this may not adequately cover all liabilities that we may 
incur. We also may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount  
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▪    decreased demand for our products; 

▪  termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs; 

▪  injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention; 

▪  withdrawal of trial participants; 

▪  significant costs to defend the related litigation; 

▪  substantial monetary awards to trial subjects or patients; 

▪  diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and 

▪  the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop. 
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adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise in the future. We intend to expand our insurance coverage for products to include the 
sale of commercial products if we obtain marketing approval for our product candidates, but we may be unable to obtain 
commercially reasonable product liability insurance. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us, 
particularly if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business and financial 
condition.  

Our relationships with customers and third-party pa yors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, f raud and abuse, 
transparency and other healthcare laws and regulati ons, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, c ivil penalties, 
contractual damages, reputational harm, administrat ive burdens and diminished profits and future earni ngs.  
Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product 
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us 
to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial 
arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our products for which we obtain marketing approval. 
Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include, but are not limited to, the following:  

▪    the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, 

receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, the referral 

of an individual for the furnishing or arranging for the furnishing, or the purchase, lease or order, or arranging for or 

recommending purchase, lease or order, any good or service for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare 

program such as Medicare and Medicaid;  

▪  the federal false claims laws impose criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, 

against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for 

payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money 

to the federal government;  

▪  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal liability for knowingly 

and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing 

from a health care benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a health care offense, or knowingly and 

willfully making false statements relating to healthcare matters;  

▪  HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 and its 

implementing regulations, also imposes obligations on certain covered entity health care providers, health plans, and health 

care clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or disclosure of 

individually identifiable health information, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, 

security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;  

▪  the Physician Payment Sunshine Act (federal Open Payments program), created under Section 6002 of the Affordable 

Care Act and its implementing regulations, requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for 

which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) 

to report annually to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services information related to “payments or other transfers 

of value” made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching 

hospitals, and applicable manufacturers and applicable group purchasing organizations to report annually to the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services ownership and investment interests held by physicians (as defined above) and 
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their immediate family members;  

▪  analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to 

sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-

party payors, including private insurers;  

▪  state and foreign laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary 

compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict 

payments that may be made to healthcare providers;  

▪  state and foreign laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of 

value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and  
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Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will 
involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with 
current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. 
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we 
may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion from government 
funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the 
physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in compliance with 
applicable laws, that person or entity may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from 
government funded healthcare programs.  

Risks Related to our Dependence on Third Parties  

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical tr ials. If these third parties do not successfully ca rry out their contractual 
duties, comply with budgets and other financial obl igations or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain 
regulatory approval for or commercialize our produc t candidates in a timely or cost-effective manner.  
We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third-party CROs to conduct our clinical trials. Because we do not conduct our own 
clinical trials, we must rely on the efforts of others and cannot always control or accurately predict the timing of such trials, the costs 
associated with such trials or the procedures that are followed for such trials. We do not anticipate significantly increasing our 
personnel in the foreseeable future and therefore, expect to continue to rely on third parties to conduct our future clinical trials. If 
these third parties do not successfully carry out their  
contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they do not carry out the trials in accordance with budgeted 
amounts, if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to adhere to our clinical 
protocols or for other reasons, or if they fail to maintain compliance with applicable government regulations and standards, our 
clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated or may become prohibitively expensive, and we may not be able to obtain 
regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our product candidates.  

We currently depend on third parties for the develo pment and commercialization of five of our non-canc er treatment 
product candidates.  
We have entered into exclusive licenses and development agreements with MedImmune pursuant to which we have granted 
MedImmune exclusive licenses to develop and commercialize product candidates relating to certain infectious diseases. We also 
have entered into an exclusive license agreement with Sanofi for use of our GLAAS discovery platform to develop therapeutic 
agents to treat a selected food allergy and a collaboration agreement with Sanofi Pasteur for the development of a herpes simplex 
virus immune therapy. We cannot control whether or not these partners will devote sufficient time and resources to the ongoing 
clinical and preclinical programs or whether these partners will fulfill their obligations under the agreements. The product candidates 
developed pursuant to these agreements may not be scientifically, medically or commercially successful.  

In addition, we could be adversely affected by:  

Any of the foregoing could adversely impact the likelihood and timing of any milestone or royalty payments we are eligible to 
receive from MedImmune, Sanofi or Sanofi Pasteur and could result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and prospects and would likely cause our stock price to decline.  

We may not succeed in establishing and maintaining additional development collaborations, which could adversely affect 
our ability to develop and commercialize product ca ndidates.  
In addition to our current agreements with MedImmune, Sanofi and Sanofi Pasteur, a part of our strategy is to enter into additional 
product development collaborations in the future, including collaborations with major biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. 
We face significant competition in seeking appropriate development partners and the  
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▪  state and foreign laws that govern the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which 

differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.  

▪  our partners' failure to timely perform their obligations under our agreements; 

▪  our partners' failure to timely or fully develop or effectively commercialize the product candidates; and 

▪  a material contractual dispute between us and our partners. 
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negotiation process is time-consuming and complex. Moreover, we may not succeed in our efforts to establish a development 
collaboration or other alternative arrangements for any of our other existing or future product candidates and programs because our 
research and development pipeline may be insufficient, our product candidates and programs may be deemed to be at too early a 
stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our product candidates and programs as having the 
requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy. Even if we are successful in our efforts to establish new development 
collaborations, the terms that we agree upon may not be favorable to us and we may not be able to maintain such development 
collaborations if, for example, development or approval of a product candidate is delayed or sales of an approved product 
candidate are disappointing.  

Moreover, if we fail to establish and maintain additional development collaborations related to our product candidates:  

 
If we enter into one or more collaborations, we may  be required to relinquish important rights to and control over the 
development of our product candidates or otherwise be subject to unfavorable terms.  

Any future collaborations we enter into could subject us to a number of risks, including:  

▪    the development of certain of our current or future product candidates may be terminated or delayed; 

▪  our cash expenditures related to development of certain of our current or future product candidates would increase 

significantly, and we may need to seek additional financing;  

▪  we may be required to hire additional employees or otherwise develop expertise, such as sales and marketing expertise, 

for which we have not budgeted; and  

▪  we will bear all of the risk related to the development of any such product candidates. 

▪  we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators devote to the development or 

commercialization of our product candidates;  

▪  collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding, terminate a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, 

repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new version of a product candidate for clinical testing;  

▪  collaborators may not pursue further development and commercialization of products resulting from the strategic partnering 

arrangement or may elect to discontinue research and development programs;  

▪  collaborators may not commit adequate resources to the marketing and distribution of our product candidates, limiting our 

potential revenues from these products;  

▪  disputes may arise between us and our collaborators that result in the delay or termination of the research, development or 

commercialization of our product candidates or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management’s 

attention and consumes resources;  

▪  collaborators may experience financial difficulties; 

▪  collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in a 

manner that could jeopardize or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;  

▪  business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator’s business strategy may also adversely affect a 

collaborator’s willingness or ability to complete its obligations under any arrangement;  

▪  collaborators could decide to move forward with a competing product candidate developed either independently or in 

collaboration with others, including our competitors; and  

▪  collaborators could terminate the arrangement or allow it to expire, which would delay the development and may increase 



We have no manufacturing capacity and anticipate co ntinued reliance on third-party manufacturers for t he development 
and commercialization of our products.  
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the cost of developing our product candidates.  
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We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for clinical or commercial production of our product candidates. We have 
limited experience in manufacturing our product candidates, and we lack the resources and the capabilities to do so on a clinical or 
commercial scale. We do not intend to develop facilities for the manufacture of products for clinical trials or commercial purposes in 
the foreseeable future. We rely on third-party manufacturers to produce bulk drug substance and formulated drug products as well 
as fill-finish required for our clinical trials. We plan to continue to rely upon contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaboration 
partners, to manufacture commercial quantities of our product candidates. We do not have a long-term commercial supply 
arrangement in place with any of our contract manufacturers. If we need to identify additional manufacturers, we may experience 
delay and additional cost. We have not secured commercial supply agreements with any contract manufacturers and can give no 
assurance that we will enter commercial supply agreements with any contract manufacturers on favorable terms or at all.  

Our contract manufacturers’ failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, in accordance with applicable regulatory 
requirements, or the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product shortages, product recalls or 
withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems that could seriously harm our 
business. Contract manufacturers often encounter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as 
well as shortages of qualified personnel. Our existing manufacturers and any future contract manufacturers may not perform as 
agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business. In the event of a natural disaster, business failure, strike or other 
difficulty, we may be unable to replace a third-party manufacturer in a timely manner and the production of our product candidates 
would be interrupted, resulting in delays and additional costs.  

Manufacturers have limited or no experience produci ng our product candidates and may not produce our v ectors and 
product candidates at the quality, quantities and t iming needed to support clinical trials or commerci alization.  
The components of our product candidates are difficult to make. No manufacturer currently has the experience or ability to produce 
our vectors and product candidates at commercial levels. In addition, the manufacturer of LV305 has only recently begun to 
manufacture LV305. Our contract manufacturing organizations, or CMO, may encounter technical or scientific issues related to 
manufacturing or development that we may be unable to resolve in a timely manner or with available funds, which could delay our 
clinical trials.  

The manufacturing process for the full length NY-ESO-1 protein in CMB305 is difficult and we currently obtain the protein from a 
single source. If we utilize an alternative source, we may be required to demonstrate comparability of the drug product before 
releasing the product for clinical use. The loss of our current supplier could result in manufacturing delays for the component 
substitution, and we may need to accept changes in terms or price from our existing supplier in order to avoid such delays.  

Risks Related to Intellectual Property  

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights, we may not be able to compete effe ctively in our market.  
Our success depends in significant part on our and our licensor’s and licensees’ ability to establish, maintain and protect patents 
and other intellectual property rights and operate without infringing the intellectual property rights of others. We have filed patent 
applications both in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions to obtain patent rights to inventions we have discovered. We have 
also licensed from third parties rights to patent portfolios. Some of these licenses give us the right to prepare, file and prosecute 
patent applications and maintain and enforce patents we have licensed, and other licenses may not give us such rights.  

The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we and our current or future licensors and licensees may 
not be able to prepare, file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. 
It is also possible that we or our licensors or licensees will fail to identify patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of 
development and commercialization activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection on them. Moreover, in some 
circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the 
patents, covering technology that we license from or license to third parties and are reliant on our licensors or licensees. Therefore, 
these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. 
If our current or future licensors or licensees fail to establish, maintain or protect such patents and other intellectual property rights, 
such rights may be reduced or eliminated. If our licensors or licensees are not fully cooperative or disagree with us as to the 
prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of any patent rights, such patent rights could be compromised.  
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The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and 
factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, 
enforceability and commercial value of our and our current or future licensors’ or licensees’ patent rights are highly uncertain. Our 
and our licensors’ or licensees’ pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our 
technology or products, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and 
products. The patent examination process may require us or our licensors or licensees to narrow the scope of the claims of our or 
our licensors’ or licensees’ pending and future patent applications, which may limit the scope of patent protection that may be 
obtained. We may be required to disclaim part or all of the term of certain patents or part or all of the term of certain patent 
applications.  

There are no assurances that our patent counsel, lawyers or advisors have given us correct advice or counsel. Opinions from such 
patent counsel or lawyers may not be correct or based on incomplete facts. We cannot be certain that we are the first to invent the 
inventions covered by pending patent applications and, if we are not, we may be subject to priority disputes. There may be prior art 
of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim. There also may be prior art of which we are 
aware, but which we do not believe affects the validity or enforceability of a claim, which may, nonetheless, ultimately be found to 
affect the validity or enforceability of a claim. Even if patents do successfully issue and even if such patents cover our product 
candidates, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability or scope. No assurance can be given that if challenged, our 
patents would be declared by a court to be valid or enforceable or that even if found valid and enforceable, a competitor’s 
technology or product would be found by a court to infringe our patents. The possibility exists that others will develop products 
which have the same effect as our products on an independent basis which do not infringe our or our licensee’s patents or other 
intellectual property rights, or will design around the claims of patents that we have had issued that cover our products. We may 
analyze patents or patent applications of our competitors that we believe are relevant to our activities, and consider that we are free 
to operate in relation to our product candidates, but our competitors may achieve issued claims, including in patents we consider to 
be unrelated, which block our efforts or may potentially result in our product candidates or our activities infringing such claims. Our 
and our licensors’ or licensees’ patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in 
such applications unless and until a patent issues from such applications, and then only to the extent the issued claims cover the 
technology. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which may have an adverse 
impact on our business.  

In addition, patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years after it is 
filed. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents 
protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. Even if patents covering our 
product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a product, we may be open to competition from biosimilar or 
generic products. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others 
from commercializing products similar or identical to ours. We expect to seek extensions of patent terms where these are available 
in any countries where we are prosecuting patents. However, the applicable authorities, including the U.S. Patent and Trademark 
Office, or USPTO, and FDA in the United States, and any equivalent regulatory authority in other countries, may not agree with our 
assessment of whether such extensions are available, and may refuse to grant extensions to our patents, or may grant more limited 
extensions than we request. If this occurs, our competitors may take advantage of our investment in development and trials by 
referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case.  

We may not be able to protect our intellectual prop erty rights throughout the world.  
Filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world is prohibitively 
expensive, and our or our current or future licensors’ intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States can be 
less extensive than those in the United States. Moreover, the standards applied by the USPTO and foreign patent offices in 
granting patents are not always applied uniformly or predictably. For example, there is no uniform worldwide policy regarding 
patentable subject matter or the scope of claims allowable in biotechnology patents. In addition, even where patent protection is 
obtained, third-party competitors may challenge our patent claims in the various patent offices. For example, in February 2013, a 
third party filed an opposition at the European Patent Office, or EPO, requesting revocation of European Patent No. 2068918 
directed to GLA formulations and uses. This patent is licensed to us by the Infectious Disease Research Institute, or IDRI, and is an 
important part of our proprietary position for GLA in Europe. We are vigorously defending the grant of this patent, however the final 
outcome of the proceedings is uncertain and will likely not be known for several years. We cannot be certain that this patent will be 
maintained by the EPO. Moreover, it is possible that the patent will be maintained, but in a limited scope, and we cannot predict if 
such a scope would adequately cover our products.  
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Revocation of this patent, or maintenance of an amended patent with inadequate coverage could impair our ability to prevent 
competition from third parties in Europe, which could have an adverse impact on our business.  

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the 
United States. For example, some of our patents relate to treatment methods or dosing regimens that are not considered 
patentable subject matter in some foreign countries. Consequently, we and our licensors may not be able to prevent third parties 
from practicing our and our licensors’ inventions in countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made 
using our and our licensors’ inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our and our 
licensors’ technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and may export 
otherwise infringing products to territories where we and our licensors have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as 
that in the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates and our and our licensors’ patents or other 
intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.  

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign 
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of 
patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for 
us and our licensors to stop the infringement of our and our licensors’ patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our 
and our licensors’ proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our and our licensors’ patent rights in foreign jurisdictions 
could result in substantial costs and divert our attention from other aspects of our business, could put our and our licensors’ patents 
at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our and our licensors’ patent applications at risk of not issuing and could 
provoke third parties to assert claims against us or our licensors. We or our licensors may not prevail in any lawsuits that we or our 
licensors initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful.  

The requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly developing countries. Furthermore, generic drug 
manufacturers or other competitors may challenge the scope, validity or enforceability of our or our licensors’ patents, requiring us 
or our licensors to engage in complex, lengthy and costly litigation or other proceedings. Generic drug manufacturers may develop, 
seek approval for, and launch generic versions of our products. Certain countries in Europe and developing countries, including 
China, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In those 
countries, we and our licensors may have limited remedies if patents are infringed or if we or our licensors are compelled to grant a 
license to a third party, which could materially diminish the value of those patents. This could limit our potential revenue 
opportunities. Accordingly, our and our licensors’ efforts to enforce intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate 
to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we own or license.  

Changes in patent law could diminish the value of p atents in general, thereby impairing our ability to  protect our product 
candidates.  
As is the case with other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, 
particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involve technological and legal complexity, 
and obtaining and enforcing biopharmaceutical patents is costly, time-consuming, and inherently uncertain. The Supreme Court has 
ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or 
weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our and our licensors’ 
ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once 
obtained. Depending on decisions by Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents 
could change in unpredictable ways that may weaken our and our licensors’ ability to obtain new patents or to enforce existing 
patents and patents we and our licensors or collaborators may obtain in the future.  

Patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our and our licensors’ patent 
applications and the enforcement or defense of our or our licensors’ issued patents. On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith 
America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to 
U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect  
the way patent applications are prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The USPTO recently developed new regulations 
and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated 
with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first to file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013. Accordingly, it is 
not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its 
implementation could increase the uncertainties  
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and costs surrounding the prosecution of our or our licensors’ patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our or our 
licensors’ issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.  

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection dep ends on compliance with various procedural, documen t submission, 
fee payment and other requirements imposed by gover nmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be 
reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these  requirements.  
Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in 
several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance 
with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While 
an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable 
rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting 
in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or 
lapse of a patent or patent application include failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees 
and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we or our licensors or collaborators fail to maintain the patents and 
patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a 
material adverse effect on our business.  

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or en force our intellectual property, which could be exp ensive, time-
consuming and unsuccessful and have a material adve rse effect on the success of our business.  
Third parties may infringe our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ patents or misappropriate or otherwise violate our or our licensors’ 
or collaborators’ intellectual property rights. In the future, we or our licensors or collaborators may initiate legal proceedings to 
enforce or defend our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ intellectual property rights, to protect our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ 
trade secrets or to determine the validity or scope of intellectual property rights we own or control. Also, third parties may initiate 
legal proceedings against us or our licensors or collaborators to challenge the validity or scope of intellectual property rights we own 
or control. The proceedings can be expensive and time-consuming and many of our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ adversaries 
in these proceedings may have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to prosecuting these legal actions than we or 
our licensors or collaborators can. Accordingly, despite our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ efforts, we or our licensors or 
collaborators may not prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating intellectual property rights we own or control, 
particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the United States. Litigation could result in 
substantial costs and diversion of management resources, which could harm our business and financial results. In addition, in an 
infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent owned by or licensed to us is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to 
stop the other party from using the technology at issue for various reasons, including on the grounds that our or our licensors’ or 
collaborators’ patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could result in one or 
more of our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ patents being invalidated, held unenforceable or interpreted narrowly.  

Third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review or 
interference proceedings, or other preissuance or post-grant proceedings in the United States or other jurisdictions provoked by 
third parties or brought by us or our licensors or collaborators may be instituted with respect to our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ 
patents or patent applications. An unfavorable outcome of a third-party challenge to our owned or licensed patents or patent 
applications could include a determination of unpatentability, invalidity or a narrowing amendment to our patents. An unfavorable 
outcome in an interference proceeding that awards our patent claims to a third party could require us or our licensors or 
collaborators to cease using related technology. Our business could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us or our 
licensors or collaborators a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we or our licensors or collaborators obtain a 
license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us or our licensors or 
collaborators. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our or our licensors’ or collaborators’ patents and 
patent applications is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize 
current or future product candidates. Even if we successfully defend such litigation or proceeding, we may incur substantial costs 
and it may distract our management and other employees. We could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble 
damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent.  

For example, in February 2013, a third party filed an opposition at the EPO, requesting revocation of European Patent No. 2068918 
directed to GLA formulations and uses. We licensed this patent from IDRI. We are vigorously  
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defending the grant of this patent. This patent is an important part of our proprietary position for GLA in Europe. The final outcome 
of the proceedings is uncertain and will likely not be known for several years.  

An unfavorable outcome could require us or our licensors, collaborators or suppliers to cease using the related technology or 
developing or commercializing our product candidates, or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business 
could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us or our licensors, collaborators or suppliers a license on commercially 
reasonable terms or at all. Even if we or our licensors, collaborators or suppliers obtain a license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby 
giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us or our licensors, collaborators or suppliers. In addition, we 
could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed 
a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our drug candidates or force us to cease some of our 
business operations, which could materially harm our business.  

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a 
risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There could also be 
public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or 
investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock.  

If we breach the agreements under which third parti es have licensed intellectual property rights to us , we could lose the 
ability to use certain of our technologies or conti nue the development and commercialization of our pr oduct candidates.  
Our commercial success depends upon our ability to identify, test, develop, manufacture, market and sell product candidates and 
use our and our licensors’ or collaborators’ proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. Pursuant 
to the license agreement with IDRI, we obtained licensing rights to certain GLA technologies, which we utilize in the development of 
our GLA product candidates. Similarly, under our licenses with Caltech and UNC Chapel Hill, we obtained rights to certain patents 
which we utilize in the development of our ZVex based product candidates. If we fail to comply with the obligations under the 
license agreements, including a material breach by us, certain insolvency events or failure to diligently pursue the development of 
products, the other party may have the right to terminate the license agreements. In addition, IDRI may terminate our licenses in the 
event we challenge the validity, enforceability or scope of any patent licensed to us by IDRI. In the event one of these licenses is 
terminated, we will not be able to develop, manufacture, market or sell any product candidate that is covered by the license 
agreement. Such an occurrence would adversely affect our ability to continue to develop our current product candidates as well as 
potential future product candidates. Termination of any of these licenses or reduction or elimination of our rights under any license 
agreement may result in our having to negotiate a new or reinstated agreement, which may not be available to us on equally 
favorable terms, or at all, or cause us to lose our rights under the license agreement, including our rights to intellectual property or 
technology important to our development programs.  

We may be subject to claims by third parties assert ing that we or our employees have misappropriated t heir intellectual 
property, or claiming ownership of what we regard a s our own intellectual property.  
Many of our employees, including our senior management, were previously employed at universities or at other biotechnology or 
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Some of these employees executed proprietary 
rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements in connection with such previous employment. Although we try to ensure 
that our employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims 
that we or these employees have used or disclosed confidential information or intellectual property, including trade secrets or other 
proprietary information, of any such employee’s former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. For 
example, we are currently defending against a lawsuit initiated by TVS claiming, among other things, that we misappropriated TVS’ 
trade secrets. While we intend to vigorously defend against these claims and we believe TVS has not established a reasonable 
likelihood of success on the merits with respect to these claims, we cannot guarantee the outcome in a trial on the merits.  

Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further 
develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates. Defending against claims of misappropriation of trade secrets 
could be costly and time consuming, regardless of the outcome. If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to 
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel or sustain damages. Such intellectual 
property rights could be awarded to a third party, and we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to 
commercialize our technology or  
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products. Such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we successfully prosecute or 
defend against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and distract management.  

Our inability to protect our confidential informati on and trade secrets would harm our business and co mpetitive position.  
In addition to seeking patents for some of our technology and products, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-
how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in 
part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, 
corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. We 
also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees and consultants. Despite these 
efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and 
we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or 
misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some 
courts both within and outside the United States may be less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If a competitor lawfully 
obtained or independently developed any of our trade secrets, we would have no right to prevent such competitor from using that 
technology or information to compete with us, which could harm our competitive position.  

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock  
 

The market price of our stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.  

The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in 
response to various factors, some of which we cannot control. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and 
elsewhere in this report, these factors include:  
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▪    the success of competitive products or technologies; 

▪  regulatory actions with respect to our products or our competitors’ products; 

▪  actual or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our competitors; 

▪  announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic collaborations, joint ventures, collaborations 

or capital commitments;  

▪  results of clinical trials of our product candidates or those of our competitors; 

▪  regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries; 

▪  developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights; 

▪  the recruitment or departure of key personnel; 

▪  the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs; 

▪  the results of our efforts to in-license or acquire additional product candidates or products; 

▪  actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities 

analysts;  

▪  variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us; 

▪  fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us; 

▪  share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares; 

▪  announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts; 

▪  sales of our common stock by us, our officers, directors or their affiliated funds or our other stockholders; 

▪  changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; 
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In addition, the stock market in general, and The NASDAQ Global Market, or NASDAQ, and biotechnology companies in particular, 
have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating 
performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, 
regardless of our actual operating performance. The realization of any of the above risks or any of a broad range of other risks, 
including those described in this “Risk Factors” section, could have a dramatic and material adverse impact on the market price of 
our common stock.  
 
Our principal stockholders and management own a sig nificant percentage of our stock and will be able t o exert significant 
control over matters subject to stockholder approva l.  
As of March 20, 2015, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their respective affiliates 
beneficially owned approximately 74% of our voting stock. These stockholders may have the ability to control us through this 
ownership position and be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be 
able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets or 
other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock 
that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always 
coincide with your interests or the interests of other stockholders and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests 
and not necessarily those of other stockholders, including seeking a premium value for their common stock, and might affect the 
prevailing market price for our common stock.  
 
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in t he JOBS Act and will be able to avail ourselves of reduced 
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging grow th companies, which could make our common stock les s attractive 
to investors and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain 
exemptions from various requirements applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including:  

We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” We would cease to be an 
“emerging growth company” upon the earliest of: (i) the first fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering in 
July 2014; (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenues are $1.0 billion or more; (iii) the date on which we have, during the 
previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; or (iv) as of the end of any fiscal year in 
which the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of the end of the second quarter of 
that fiscal year.  

▪  market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors; 

▪  rumors or new announcements by third parties, including competitors; and 

▪  general economic, industry and market conditions. 

▪  the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, requiring that our 

independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over 

financial reporting;  

▪  the “say on pay” provisions (requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve compensation of certain executive 

officers) and the “say on golden parachute” provisions (requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve golden 

parachute arrangements for certain executive officers in connection with mergers and certain other business combinations) 

of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Protection Act, or Dodd-Frank Act, and some of the disclosure requirements of 

the Dodd-Frank Act relating to compensation of our chief executive officer;  

▪  the requirement to provide detailed compensation discussion and analysis in proxy statements and reports filed under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and instead provide a reduced level of disclosure 

concerning executive compensation; and  

▪  any rules that the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board may adopt requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a 

supplement to the auditor’s report on the financial statements.  



We currently take advantage of some, but not all, of the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements that will be available to us 
so long as we qualify as an “emerging growth company.” For example, we have irrevocably elected  
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not to take advantage of the extension of time to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards available under 
Section 102(b) of the JOBS Act. Our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to provide an attestation 
report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting so long as we qualify as an “emerging growth company,” 
which may increase the risk that material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting go 
undetected. Likewise, so long as we qualify as an “emerging growth company,” we may elect not to provide you with certain 
information, including certain financial information and certain information regarding compensation of our executive officers, that we 
would otherwise have been required to provide in filings we make with the SEC which may make it more difficult for investors and 
securities analysts to evaluate our company. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we 
may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active 
trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile and may decline.  

We are incurring significant increased costs as a r esult of operating as a public company, and our man agement devotes 
substantial time to meet compliance obligations.  
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We are 
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as rules subsequently implemented by 
the SEC and NASDAQ, that impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and 
maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. The Exchange Act 
requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. 
In addition, on July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive 
compensation-related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these 
areas such as “say on pay” and proxy access. The requirements of these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial 
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and may also place undue strain on our personnel, 
systems and resources. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these new 
compliance initiatives.  

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prev ent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.  
We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to 
reasonably assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and 
communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules 
and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how 
well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are 
met.  

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur 
because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion 
of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control 
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.  

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our comm on stock in the public market could cause our stock  price to fall.  
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the 
perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our 
common stock. As of March 20, 2015, we had 16,979,688 shares of common stock outstanding, of which 12,545,371 shares of our 
common stock are considered restricted as a result of securities laws or held by our affiliates with restrictions on trade. The 
remaining shares may be sold by our stockholders in the public market at any time without restriction.  
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Some provisions of our charter documents and Delawa re law may have anti-takeover effects that could di scourage an 
acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisition  would benefit our stockholders and may prevent att empts by our 
stockholders to replace or remove our current manag ement.  
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws , as well as provisions of 
Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would 
benefit our stockholders, or remove our current management. These provisions include:  

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by 
making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, who are responsible for appointing the 
members of our management. Because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, which may discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging 
with us whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders. Under the DGCL, a corporation may not, in general, engage 
in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, 
among other things, the board of directors has approved the transaction. Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change of control 
could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the 
price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.  

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.  

None.  

Item 2. Properties.  

Our headquarters, where we have office and research and development laboratory space, is in Seattle, Washington, where we 
sublease 11,000 square feet of space pursuant to a sublease that expires in November 2016, with an option to extend for one 
additional month. We also lease a 9,640 square foot facility in South San Francisco, California, which is comprised of office space. 
This lease expires in January 2020, with an option to extend the lease for an additional five years. We believe that our existing 
facilities are sufficient for our current needs.  

Item 3. Legal Proceedings  

TheraVectys SA v. Immune Design Corp.  
In October 2013, TheraVectys SA, or TVS, a French biotechnology company, filed a complaint against us in the United States 
District Court for the District of Delaware. TVS alleged that it had entered into a contractual relationship with Henogen SA, or 
Henogen, in 2010 with respect to the production of lentiviral vector vaccines for TVS. Henogen is a contract manufacturing 
organization with which we contracted for the manufacture of our LV305 product candidate. TVS alleged that its contractual 
relationship with Henogen contained an exclusivity provision limiting Henogen’s ability to participate in the manufacturing process of 
a vaccine based on lentiviral DNA Flap vectors for third parties, as well as a provision preventing Henogen from sharing or using 
certain TVS confidential technology for manufacturing processes developed by TVS with or for the benefit of others. TVS alleged 
that we entered into a contractual relationship with Henogen in 2012 to manufacture lentiviral vectors for vaccines, which TVS 
contends interfered with its contract with Henogen and resulted in the use of certain TVS confidential information and trade secrets. 
The complaint asserted three counts for relief: tortious interference with contractual relationship, unfair competition and 
misappropriation of trade secrets. TVS did not specify its claimed damages,  
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▪    authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock, the terms of which we may establish and shares of which we 

may issue without stockholder approval;  

▪  prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow for less than a majority of 

stockholders to elect director candidates;  

▪  prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our 

stockholders;  

▪  eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and 

▪  establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that 

can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.  
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other than to assert that they exceed $75,000. TVS also requested in its complaint injunctive relief enjoining us from importing, 
receiving possessing or using lentiviral vector vaccines developed or produced by Henogen, but never filed a motion seeking 
injunctive relief. The parties entered into several stipulations extending the deadline for us to respond to the complaint. On or about 
April 7, 2014, TVS filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal without prejudice of this lawsuit.  
 
On or about July 24, 2014, shortly after our Registration Statement on Form S-1 was declared effective by the SEC for our initial 
public offering, TVS filed a new complaint against us in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware, alleging facts substantially 
similar to the prior complaint. In addition, the complaint further alleges that we obtained shipments of lentiviral vectors for vaccines 
from Henogen and are conducting clinical trials with these lentiviral vectors. The complaint asserts four counts for relief: tortious 
interference with contractual relationship, unfair competition, misappropriation of trade secrets, and unjust enrichment; claimed 
damages were not specified. The complaint also requested injunctive relief enjoining us from using lentiviral vectors developed or 
produced by Henogen, using any other materials or information obtained by Henogen, and citing to the FDA or otherwise relying on 
any clinical trials using lentiviral vector vaccines developed or produced by Henogen.  
 
On or about July 24, 2014, TVS also filed a motion for expedited proceedings in support of an anticipated motion for preliminary 
injunction. On August 8, 2014 the court granted TVS’ motion for expedited proceedings and set a hearing date in mid-November 
2014 for TVS’ anticipated motion for preliminary injunction. In September 2014, TVS filed a motion to postpone the hearing date 
and delay the proceedings it previously sought to expedite. The court granted the motion and set a new date for the hearing. On or 
about December 15, 2014, TVS filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking, among other things, to enjoin us from making 
any use of lentiviral vectors pending final resolution of the litigation. A hearing was held on TVS’s motion in January 2015.  
 
By order dated March 9, 2015, the Chancery Court denied TVS’ motion for a preliminary injunction. The court has not yet made any 
final determination on the merits of the lawsuit, which will be determined at a full trial which we expect will occur prior to the end of 
the third quarter of 2015. We intend to continue to vigorously defend this lawsuit.  

European Patent Oppositions  
In February 2013, a third party filed an opposition at the European Patent Office, or EPO, requesting revocation of European Patent 
No. 2068918 directed to GLA formulations and uses. This patent is owned by Infectious Disease Research Institute and under 
license to us. We are vigorously defending the grant of this patent, with a reply to the opposition brief having been filed on 
September 27, 2013. No date for an oral hearing has yet been set. This patent is an important part of our proprietary position for 
GLA in Europe. The final outcome of the proceedings is uncertain and will likely not be known for several years.  
 
In October 2014, TVS filed an opposition at the EPO requesting revocation of European Patent No. 2456786 directed at 
improvements to our lentiviral vector. This opposition is not substantively related to the ongoing Delaware lawsuit previously 
disclosed, and to our knowledge, TVS is not using the technology claimed in this patent. We intend to vigorously defend the grant 
of this patent, and in light of other European patents and patent applications directed to our lentiviral platform technology, we do not 
believe the validity of this patent will have a material effect on the scope of our patent protection in Europe.  

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.  

Not applicable.  
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PART II  

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Rela ted Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equ ity Securities.  
 

Market Information  

Our common stock has been listed on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “IMDZ” since July 24, 2014. Prior to July 24, 
2014, there was no public trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and 
low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Global Market:  

 

As of March 20, 2015, we had 16,979,688 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 27 stockholders of record. 
The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial 
owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not 
include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.  

 
Dividend Policy  

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future. Payment of cash dividends, if any, in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend 
on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, 
business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.  
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   High     Low  

Year Ended December 31, 2014:            
Third Quarter (from July 24, 2014)  $ 19.05      $ 11.51  
Fourth Quarter  $ 40.13      $ 17.05  
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Stock Performance Graph  

The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock since July 24, 2014, 
which is the date our common stock first began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market, to two indices: the NASDAQ Composite 
Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The stockholder return shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future 
performance, and we do not make or endorse any predictions as to future stockholder returns. This graph shall not be deemed 
“soliciting material” or be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under 
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act, whether 
made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing.  

  

 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  

In 2014, we issued an aggregate of 2,328 unregistered shares upon the exercise of stock options issued pursuant to our 2008 
Equity Incentive Plan. The issuances of such shares were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant 
to Section 3(b) and Rule 701 promulgated thereunder as transactions pursuant to a compensatory benefit plan, as provided under 
Rule 701.  
 
In July 2014, immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering, warrants issued to 5 accredited investors to purchase 
approximately 978,592 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $8.175 per share automatically net exercised into 
311,923 shares of common stock. In July 2014, immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering, warrants issued to 3 
accredited investors to purchase approximately 996,940 shares of common stock were exercised for proceeds of $8.1 million in 
cash at an exercise price of $8.175 per share. The issuances of such shares were exempt from the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, including Regulation D and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, as 
transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering.  
 
Initial Public Offering  

Use of Proceeds  

In July 2014, we completed an initial public offering (the IPO) of 5,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $12.00 per share. 
In August 2014, we sold an additional 410,564 shares of common stock directly to our underwriters when they exercised portions of 
their over-allotment option on two separate occasions at $12.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $57.8 million (inclusive of 
the exercise of the over-allotment option) after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses totaling 
$7.1 million .  
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$100 investment in stock or index  July 24, 2014    September 30, 2014    December 31, 2014  

IMDZ (IMDZ)  $ 100.00    $ 146.56    $ 255.44  
NASDAQ Composite Index (IXIC)  $ 100.00    $ 100.48    $ 105.90  
Russell 2000 Index (^RUT)  $ 100.00    $ 95.28    $ 104.19  
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None of the expenses associated with the IPO were paid to directors, officers, or persons owning 10% or more of any class of 
equity securities, or to their associates, or to our affiliates, other than payments in the ordinary course of business to officers for 
salaries. Jefferies LLC and Leerink Partners LLC acted as joint book-running managers, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC acted as 
co-manager for the offering.  
 
Shares of our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on July 24, 2014. The shares were registered under the 
Securities Act on Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-196979), which was declared effective by the SEC on 
July 23, 2014.  
 
There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in our final 
prospectus dated July 24, 2014, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
As of December 31, 2014 we have used approximately $10.7 million of the net offering proceeds primarily to fund clinical 
development of our product candidates, litigation, legal and administration expenses to fund the growth of our operations.  

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Af filiated Purchasers  

None.  
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.  

You should read the following selected financial data together with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” section of this report and our financial statements and the accompanying notes included 
elsewhere in this report.  

We have derived the statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 and the balance 
sheet data as of December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 from our audited financial statements, included elsewhere in this report. Our 
historical results for any prior period are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year or in any future period.  
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     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

     
(in thousands, except share and per share 

amounts)  

                  
Statements of Operations Data:                 
Total revenues    $ 6,433    $ 1,599    $ 2,960  
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of product sales    638    669    1,518  
Research and development    22,746    11,554    8,604  
General and administrative    12,927    4,433    3,713  

Total operating expenses    36,311    16,656    13,835  
Loss from operations    (29,878 )    (15,057 )    (10,875 )  

Interest and other income (expense)    4    37    35  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability    (4,277 )    (955 )    — 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders    $ (34,151 )    $ (15,975 )    $ (10,840 )  

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders(1)    $ (4.56 )    $ (43.48 )    $ (30.43 )  

Weighted-average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders(1)    7,494,790    367,437    356,215  

(1)  See Note 3 of our financial statements included elsewhere herein for an explanation of the method used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share of 
common stock and the weighted-average number of shares used in computation of the per share amounts.  

     AS OF DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

     (in thousands)  

Balance Sheet Data:                 
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 75,354    $ 30,387    $ 12,762  
Working capital    66,035    28,695    11,068  
Total assets    78,383    30,965    14,252  
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability    —   3,336    — 
Convertible preferred stock    —   81,394    51,726  
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)    66,346    (55,834 )    (40,120 )  
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fin ancial Condition and Results of Operations.  

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial 
statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, 
some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report, including information with 
respect to our plans and strategy for our business, future financial performance, expense levels and liquidity sources, includes 
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the “Risk Factors” section of this report for a 
discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the 
forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.  

Overview  

We are a clinical-stage immunotherapy company with next-generation in vivo approaches designed to enable the body’s immune 
system to fight disease. We have engineered our technologies to activate the immune system’s natural ability to create tumor-
specific cytotoxic T cells and fight cancer. We are developing multiple product candidates from our two discovery platforms, ZVex 
™ and GLAAS ™ , which we believe have the potential to treat a broad patient population. Our product candidates, LV305, 
CMB305 and G100, utilize multiple immuno-oncology approaches and, we believe, address the shortcomings of existing therapies. 
LV305 and G100 are in Phase 1 clinical trials and we expect to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial for CMB305 by the end of the year. 
CMB305 combines our two platforms in a prime-boost approach that we believe should be more effective than either LV305 or 
G305 alone. Although we plan to focus our development efforts on CMB305 and G100, we plan to conduct a small exploratory trial 
to compare LV305 and CMB305 in the same tumor types. After reviewing those data, we may elect to separately develop LV305.  

We have devoted substantially all of our resources since inception to our drug development efforts, including undertaking clinical 
trials of our product candidates, development of our ZVex and GLAAS discovery platforms, conducting preclinical studies, 
protecting our intellectual property and providing general and administrative support to our product development activities. To date, 
we have funded our operations primarily through proceeds from the issuance of our stock, payments received under license and 
collaboration agreements and GLA product sales. From inception in February 2008 through December 31, 2014 , we have raised or 
earned a total of $164.6 million in cash, including:  

Our net loss was $34.2 million , $16.0 million and $10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , 
respectively. As of December 31, 2014 , we had an accumulated deficit of $90.8 million . We have incurred net losses to date and 
we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for at least the next several years. Our net 
losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. We anticipate that our expenses will significantly 
increase as we:  

We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we successfully complete development of, obtain marketing 
approval for and commercialize our product candidates, either alone or in collaboration with third parties.  
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▪  $150.3 million from the sale and conversion of common stock, convertible preferred stock and warrants; 

▪  $10.8 million from the licensing of our technology; and 

▪  $3.5 million from GLA product sales and contract research services. 

▪  complete our current and planned Phase 1 clinical trials; 

▪  advance clinical development of CMB305 and G100 into Phase 2 clinical studies; 

▪  perform additional process development for our product candidates, including initial commercial scale up efforts; 

▪  seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates, if any, that successfully complete clinical trials; 

▪  establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize and market products for which we obtain 

regulatory approval;  
▪  maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; 

▪  continue research and development efforts to build our pipeline beyond the current product candidates; 

▪  hire additional clinical, quality control, scientific and management personnel; and 

▪  add operational and financial personnel to support our product development efforts and operational support applicable to 

operating as a public company.  
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We expect these activities will take a number of years and our success in these efforts is subject to significant uncertainty. 
Accordingly, we will need to raise additional capital prior to the regulatory approval and commercialization of any of our product 
candidates. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our operating activities 
through public or private equity or debt financings, collaborations or licenses, capital lease transactions or other available financing 
transactions. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds through these or other means when needed, on favorable terms 
or at all.  

Financial Overview  

Revenue  

Collaboration and Licensing Revenue  

We derive our revenue from collaboration and licensing agreements and the sale of products associated with material transfer, 
collaboration and GLA supply agreements. We have recognized $6.4 million , $1.6 million and $3.0 million in revenue in 2014 , 
2013 and 2012 , respectively. We may generate revenue in the future from payments from future license or collaboration 
agreements, product sales or government contracts and grants. We expect that any revenue we generate will fluctuate from quarter 
to quarter.  

In August 2014, we entered into an agreement with Sanofi under which we granted Sanofi an exclusive license for use of our 
GLAAS platform to discover, develop and commercialize products to treat an undisclosed food allergy. Upon execution of the 
agreement, we received a $3.5 million upfront payment, recognized as revenue during the year ended December 31, 2014. The 
agreement provides for additional payments based upon the attainment of certain development and commercialization milestones, 
and tiered royalties on sales of approved products.  

In October 2010, we entered into three separate license agreements with MedImmune pursuant to which we granted MedImmune a 
worldwide, sublicensable, exclusive license to use GLA to develop and sell vaccines in three different infectious disease indications. 
MedImmune paid us upfront payments under the license agreements in 2010. Under each license agreement, MedImmune is 
obligated to make additional payments based on the achievement of certain developmental, regulatory and commercial milestones 
for the licensed indication. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we received milestone payments of $1.0 million associated with 
the license agreements. MedImmune is also obligated to pay us a low double-digit percentage share of any non-royalty payments 
that it receives from sublicensees and mid single-digit royalty payments on net sales of licensed products, which royalty is subject 
to reduction under certain circumstances.  

From time to time, we also enter into non-exclusive license arrangements, material transfer agreements or option agreements with 
respect to GLA in specified non-oncology indications. The parties with whom we contract are in certain cases obligated to make 
additional payments based on achievement of milestones.  

In October 2014, we entered into a collaboration with Sanofi Pasteur for the development of a Herpes Simplex Virus, or HSV, 
immune therapy. Sanofi Pasteur and Immune Design will each contribute product candidates to the collaboration: Sanofi Pasteur 
will contribute HSV-529, a clinical-stage replication-defective HSV vaccine product candidate, and Immune Design will contribute 
G103, our preclinical trivalent vaccine product candidate. The collaboration will explore the potential of various combinations of 
agents, including leveraging Immune Design's GLAAS platform, with the goal to select the best potential immune therapy for 
patients. Each company will develop the products jointly through Phase 2 clinical trials, at which point Sanofi Pasteur intends to 
continue development of the most promising candidate and be responsible for commercialization. Sanofi Pasteur will bear the costs 
of all preclinical and clinical development, with Immune Design providing a specific formulation of GLA from the GLAAS platform at 
its cost through Phase 2 studies. Immune Design will be eligible to receive future milestone and royalty payments on any product 
developed from the collaboration. For the year ended 2014, we recognized $1.1 million in other, net revenue associated with 
payments received by Sanofi for development costs incurred to date for our development of G103.  

GLA Product Sales  

We sell formulations of GLA to selected companies for use in ongoing preclinical studies and clinical trials. All revenues associated 
with the sale of GLA supplied by us are reported as GLA product sales with the applicable costs reported under cost of product 
sales. In 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 we recognized approximately $0.9 million , $0.9 million and $1.9 million in revenues, respectively, 
and $0.6 million , $0.7 million and $1.5 million in cost of GLA product sales, respectively, through these arrangements.  
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Research and Development Expenses  

We focus our resources on our internal and collaborative research and development activities, including the conduct of preclinical 
studies, product development, activities related to regulatory filings for our product candidates and clinical trials. We recognize our 
research and development expenses as they are incurred.  

We account for research and development costs on a program-by-program basis. The table below summarizes our direct research 
and development expenses for the periods indicated. Our direct research and development expenses consist principally of external 
costs, such as fees paid to CMOs, CROs, consultants, clinical trial sites and for contract research services. We typically use our 
employee and infrastructure resources across multiple research and development programs, and therefore do not allocate salaries, 
stock-based compensation, employee benefit or other indirect costs related to our research and development to specific product 
candidates. Those expenses are included in “Indirect research and development expense by type” in the table below:  

We plan to increase our research and development expenses for the foreseeable future as we continue to develop our product 
candidates. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete 
the remainder of the development of any of our product candidates or the period in which material net cash, if any, from these 
product candidates may commence. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing drugs, 
including the uncertainty of:  

 
General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for employees in executive, finance, information 
technology and human resources functions. Other significant general and administrative expenses include professional fees for 
accounting and legal services, expenses associated with obtaining and maintaining patents and other intellectual property and 
allocation of facilities costs.  

We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase as we continue to expand infrastructure to support operating 
as a public company. These increases will likely include increased costs for director and officer liability insurance, costs related to 
the hiring of additional personnel and increased fees for directors, outside consultants, lawyers and accountants. We also expect to 
incur significant costs to comply with corporate governance, internal controls and similar requirements applicable to public 
companies.  
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   YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

   2014    2013    2012  
   (in thousands)  

                
Direct research and development expense by platform:               

ZVex  $ 7,934    $ 4,370    $ 2,889  
GLAAS  6,685    2,269    800  
G103  999    —   — 
Other  115    216    1,014  

Total direct research and development program expense  15,733    6,855    4,703  
Indirect research and development expense by type:               

Personnel related costs  5,538    3,294    2,309  
Research and development supplies and services  741    818    1,241  
Allocated facility, equipment, travel and other expense  734    587    351  

Total indirect research and development expense  7,013    4,699    3,901  
Total research and development expense  $ 22,746    $ 11,554    $ 8,604  

▪  the scope, rate of progress, expense and results of our ongoing and additional clinical trials that we may conduct; 

▪  the scope, rate of progress and expense of process development; 

▪  other research activities; and 

▪  the timing of regulatory approvals. 
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Interest and other income  

Interest and other income consists of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities and the 
gain or loss on the disposal of property and equipment, if any.  

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Stock  Warrant Liability  

In October 2013, in connection with the issuance of the Series C convertible preferred stock, we issued fully exercisable warrants 
for the purchase of 1,975,532 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $8.175 per share. The 
warrants were recorded at fair value at issuance, at each subsequent reporting date, and immediately prior to their exercise in July 
2014. Immediately prior to the closing of our Initial Public Offering, or IPO, the preferred stock warrants were exercised in full and 
the preferred shares issued upon exercise were automatically converted to common stock upon the closing of our initial public 
offering, or IPO; accordingly, we no longer record a related periodic fair value adjustment.  

Results of Operations  

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 201 3  
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 :  

Total Revenues and Cost of Product Sales  

Revenues increased by $4.8 million to $6.4 million in 2014 from $1.6 million in 2013 . This increase was primarily due to a $3.8 
million increase in licensing revenue derived from our GLAAS licensing agreements with Sanofi and MedImmune to develop 
therapeutic agents using GLA and a $1.1 million increase in collaboration revenue recorded from our Sanofi Pasteur G103 HSV 
collaboration. There was no material change in 2014 from 2013 in product sales and the associated cost of product sales.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Our research and development expenses increased by $11.2 million to $22.7 million in 2014 from $11.6 million in 2013 . This 
increase was primarily attributable to an increase of $5.9 million to support LV305, G305 and G103 product development and 
manufacturing, a $2.2 million increase in clinical costs to support the G100, G305 and LV305 Phase 1 clinical trials, and a $2.3 
million increase in personnel-related expenses as a result of growth in research and development headcount to support our 
programs and a $0.8 million increase in licensing and other research and development expenses.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

Our general and administrative expenses increased by $8.5 million to $12.9 million in 2014 from $4.4 million in 2013 . The increase 
was primarily attributable to a $5.2 million increase in litigation support costs, a $1.2 million increase in professional services to 
support operating as a public company and a $2.1 million increase in personnel-related and facilities expenses, primarily related to 
an increase in administrative headcount to support the growth and expansion of our business.  

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability  

The increase in fair value of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability was driven by an increase in the valuation of our stock. 
There were no warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2014.  
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TWELVE MONTHS  

ENDED DECEMBER 31,    
INCREASE/  
DECREASE       2014    2013    

     (in thousands)  

Total revenues    $ 6,433    $ 1,599    $ 4,834  
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of product sales    638    669    (31 )  

Research and development    22,746    11,554    11,192  
General and administrative    12,927    4,433    8,494  

Total operating expenses    36,311    16,656    19,655  
Loss from operations    (29,878 )    (15,057 )    (14,821 )  

Interest and other income    4    37    (33 )  

Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability    (4,277 )    (955 )    (3,322 )  

Net loss attributable to common stockholders    $ (34,151 )    $ (15,975 )    $ (18,176 )  
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Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  
The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 :  

Total Revenue and Cost of Product Sales  
Revenues decrease d by $1.4 million to $1.6 million in 2013 from $3.0 million in 2012 . The decrease was primarily attributable to a 
$1.0 million decrease as a result of fewer GLA sales and a $0.4 million decrease in licensing revenue and other revenue 
attributable to a research collaboration that completed in 2012. The $0.8 million decrease in the cost of product sales was the result 
of the decrease in GLA sales.  

Research and Development Expenses  
Our research and development expenses increased by $3.0 million to $11.6 million in 2013 from $8.6 million in 2012 . The increase 
was primarily attributable to an increase of $1.4 million in contract manufacturing and development to support the LV305 Phase 1 
clinical trial, an increase of $0.9 million of clinical costs to support the start of G100 and G305 Phase 1 clinical trials and a $0.7 
million increase in personnel-related expenses as a result of growth in research and development headcount to support clinical 
development.  

General and Administrative Expenses  
Our general and administrative expenses increased by $0.7 million to $4.4 million in 2013 from $3.7 million in 2012 . The increase 
was primarily attributable to the $0.6 million increase in professional service fees in support of our patent portfolio and a $0.1 million 
increase in personnel-related expenses and facilities, primarily related to an increase in administrative headcount to support the 
growth and expansion of our business.  

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability  
The $1.0 million decrease in other income is from the revaluation of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability which was 
driven by an increase in the valuation of our common stock. There were no 2013 warrants outstanding during 2012.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Since our inception through December 31, 2014 , we have raised a total of $164.6 million in cash, including $150.3 million from the 
sale of our common stock, convertible preferred stock and warrants and the exercise of the warrants in connection with our IPO, 
$10.8 million from the licensing of our technology and $3.5 million primarily from GLA sales and contract research services.  

In July 2014, we completed our IPO of 5,000,000 shares of our common stock, at a price of $12.00 per share. In August 2014, we 
sold an additional 410,564 shares of common stock directly to our underwriters when they exercised a portion of their over-
allotment at $12.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $57.8 million (inclusive of the exercise of the over-allotment) after 
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. In connection with the closing of the IPO, all outstanding 
shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 9,769,422 shares of common stock. In July 2014, prior to the 
completion of the IPO, warrants to purchase 996,940 shares of common stock were exercised for $8.1 million in cash and resulted 
in the issuance of an additional 996,940 shares of common stock. Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, warrants to purchase 
978,592 shares were automatically net exercised, resulting in an issuance of an additional 311,923 shares of common stock. The 
significant number of shares issued in July 2014 is expected to impact the year-over-year comparability of our net loss per share 
calculations through the third quarter of 2015. As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $75.4 million .  
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YEARS ENDED  
DECEMBER 31,    

INCREASE/  
DECREASE       2013    2012    

     (in thousands)  

Total revenues    $ 1,599    $ 2,960    $ (1,361 )  

Operating expenses:                 
Cost of product sales    669    1,518    (849 )  

Research and development    11,554    8,604    2,950  
General and administrative    4,433    3,713    720  

Total operating expenses    16,656    13,835    2,821  
Loss from operations    (15,057 )    (10,875 )    (4,182 )  

Interest and other income    37    35    2  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability    (955 )    —   (955 )  

Net loss attributable to common stockholders    $ (15,975 )    $ (10,840 )    $ (5,135 )  
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In addition to our existing cash and cash equivalents, we are eligible to receive research and development funding and to earn 
milestone and other contingent payments for the achievement of defined collaboration objectives and certain development, 
regulatory and commercial milestones and royalty payments under our collaboration agreements. Our ability to earn these 
milestone and contingent payments and the timing of achieving these milestones is primarily dependent upon the outcome of our 
collaborators’ research and development activities and is uncertain at this time.  

Funding Requirements  
Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be, compensation and related expenses, third-party clinical and 
preclinical research and development services, including manufacturing, laboratory and related supplies, legal, patent and other 
regulatory expenses and general overhead costs. We believe our use of CROs and contract manufacturers provides us with 
flexibility in managing our spending and limits our cost commitments.  

Because our product candidates are in various stages of clinical and preclinical development and the outcome of these efforts is 
uncertain, we cannot estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of 
our product candidates or whether, or when, we may achieve profitability. Until such time, if ever, that we can generate substantial 
product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through collaboration arrangements and, if necessary, equity or debt 
financings. Except for any obligations of our collaborators to reimburse us for research and development expenses or to make 
milestone or royalty payments under our agreements with them, we do not have any committed external source of liquidity. To the 
extent that we raise additional capital through the future sale of equity or debt, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be 
diluted and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our existing 
common stockholders. If we raise additional funds through collaboration arrangements in the future, we may have to relinquish 
valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be 
favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to 
delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market 
product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.  

Based on our research and development plans and our timing expectations related to the progress of our programs, we expect that 
our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2014 will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital 
expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be 
wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we expect. Additionally, the process of developing products and testing 
them in clinical trials is costly, and the timing of progress and expenses in these trials is uncertain. Our future capital requirements 
will depend on many factors, including, among others:  
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•  the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other research and development 

activities;  

•  the scope, rate of progress and costs of our manufacturing development and commercial manufacturing activities; 

•  the cost, timing and outcomes of regulatory proceedings, including FDA review of any Biologics License Application, or 

BLA, we file;  

•  payments required with respect to development milestones we achieve under our in-licensing agreements; 

•  the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims; 

•  the costs associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive regulatory approval; 

•  the cost and timing of developing our ability to establish sales and marketing capabilities; 

•  the costs of current or future litigation or judgments; 

•  competing technological efforts and market developments; 

•  changes in our existing research relationships; 

•  our ability to establish collaborative arrangements to the extent necessary; 

•  revenues received from any existing or future products; and 

•  payments received under any current or future strategic partnerships. 
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Cash Flows  
The following is a summary of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :  

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  

Net cash used in operating activities was $20.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and consisted of our net loss of 
$34.2 million offset by non-cash charges of $0.2 million for depreciation and amortization, $1.3 million for stock-based 
compensation expense, and a $4.3 million non-cash loss for the revaluation of convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities. The net 
change in operating assets and liabilities was $7.7 million.  

Net cash used in operating activities was $14.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and consisted of our net loss of 
$16.0 million offset by non-cash charges of $0.4 million for depreciation and amortization, $0.3 million for stock-based 
compensation expense, and a $1.0 million non-cash loss for the revaluation of convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities.  
 
Net cash used in operating activities was $9.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and consisted of our net loss of $10.8 
million offset by non-cash charges of $0.5 million for depreciation and amortization and $0.2 million for stock-based compensation 
expense. The net change in operating assets and liabilities was $0.5 million.  

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.3 million , $0.1 million , and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 
2013 , and 2012 and primarily relates to the purchase of property and equipment, primarily lab equipment to support research and 
development efforts.  

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $66.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and consisted primarily of $57.8 
million in net proceeds from the IPO and $8.1 million from the cash exercise of the preferred stock warrants.  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $32.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 . In October 2013, we sold 
approximately 4 million shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock and approximately 2 million of our 2013 warrants for net 
proceeds of $32.1 million, of which $2.4 million was allocated to the 2013 warrants.  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 . In November 2012, we sold 
shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for net proceeds of $10.6 million.  

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities  

The following summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014 :  

   

The contractual obligations table above does not include any potential future milestone payments to third parties as part of certain 
collaboration and licensing agreements, which could total up to $2.4 million in aggregate payments for the first licensed GLA 
product we develop, up to $1.3 million in aggregate payments for each subsequent  
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     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

     (in thousands)  

Net cash used in operating activities    $ (20,669 )    $ (14,298 )    $ (9,578 )  

Net cash used in investing activities    (344 )    (132 )    (294 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities    65,980    32,055    10,626  

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS    TOTAL    
LESS THAN  

1 YEAR    1 TO 3 YEARS    3 TO 5 YEARS    
MORE THAN  

5 YEARS  

     (in thousands)  

Operating leases (1)    $ 2,579    $ 718    $ 1,074    $ 755    $ 32  
Total obligations    $ 2,579    $ 718    $ 1,074    $ 755    $ 32  

(1)  Represents future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases in effect as of December 31, 2014 , for our facilities in Seattle, Washington 
and South San Francisco, California. The minimum lease payments above do not include common area maintenance charges or real estate taxes. 
Additionally, we were required to provide a $121,000 letter of credit as a security deposit on one of our leases, of which no funds had been drawn down as of 
December 31, 2014. See Note 9 for further discussion of lease terms.  
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licensed GLA product we develop and up to $1.9 million in aggregate payments for ZVex products we develop. It also does not 
include any potential future royalty payments we may be required to make under our licensing agreements as described in Note 10 
to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this report.  

Payments under these agreements are not included in the above contractual obligations table due to the uncertainty of the 
occurrence of the events requiring payment under these agreements, including our share of potential future milestone and royalty 
payments. These payments generally become due and payable only upon achievement of certain clinical development, regulatory 
or commercial milestones.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, 
which we have prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. The 
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. We base 
our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our financial statements appearing at the end of this 
report, we believe that the following accounting policies are the most critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Revenue Recognition  
We derive our revenue from collaboration and licensing agreements and the sale of products associated with material transfer, 
collaboration and GLA supply agreements.  

Licensing fees are recognized when the amounts are earned and determinable during the applicable period. We recognize up-front 
nonrefundable license fees when due under contractual agreements and when we do not have a continuing obligation to provide 
services related to the agreement. Revenue associated with nonrefundable up-front license fees under arrangements where the 
license fees and research and development activities cannot be accounted for as separate units of accounting is deferred and 
recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term of our continued involvement in the research and 
development process. Revenues from the achievement of research and development milestones, if deemed substantive, are 
recognized as revenue when the milestones are achieved, and the milestone payments are due and collectible. If not deemed 
substantive, we recognize such milestones as revenue on a straight-line basis over the remaining expected term of continued 
involvement in the research and development process.  

Milestones are considered substantive if all of the following conditions are met: (1) the milestone is nonrefundable, (2) achievement 
of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement; (3) substantive  
effort is involved to achieve the milestone; and (4) the amount of the milestone appears reasonable in relation to the effort 
expended, the other milestones in the arrangement and the related risk associated with the achievement of the milestone and any 
ongoing research and development or other services are priced at fair value. Payments received in advance of work performed are 
recorded as deferred revenue.  

Certain agreements from which we derive our revenue include multiple deliverables. We recognize the revenue of each deliverable 
at fair value, determined to be the estimated selling price in cases where neither vendor-specific objective evidence nor third-party 
evidence is available.  

Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has 
occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably 
assured. The evaluation of these revenue recognition criteria requires significant management judgment. For instance, we use 
judgment to assess collectability based on factors such as the customer’s creditworthiness and past collection history, if applicable. 
If we determine that collection of a payment is not reasonably assured, revenue recognition is deferred until receipt of payment. We 
also use judgment to assess whether a price is fixed or determinable including but not limited to, reviewing contractual terms and 
conditions related to payment terms.  
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Revenue from product sales of GLA is recognized when the risk of loss has passed to the customer or deferred until such time that 
risk of loss has passed. All revenues associated from the sale of GLA supplied by us are reported under product sales with the 
applicable costs reported under cost of product sales. Product sales consist of the direct costs associated with the manufacture and 
formulation of GLA, including costs to purchase raw materials, third-party contract manufacturing costs, assay testing and ongoing 
product stability testing.  

Accrued Liabilities  
Accrued liabilities represent accrued compensation including vacation accruals, unearned revenue and accrued expenses. As part 
of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued professional services and research 
and development expenses. This process involves reviewing contracts and vendor agreements, communicating with our applicable 
personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf. We estimate the level of service performed and the 
associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost. We make 
estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and circumstances 
known to us.  

We base our expenses related to contract manufacturing and clinical studies on our estimates of the services received and efforts 
expended pursuant to contracts with multiple contract manufacturing organizations and clinical research organizations that conduct 
and manage supply and clinical studies on our behalf. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will 
be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of 
effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different 
from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services performed differ from the actual status and 
timing of services performed, we may report amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To date, we have not 
experienced any significant adjustments to our estimates.  

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability  
We accounted for the warrants issued in 2013 in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 480-10, 
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, which requires that a financial instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, 
includes an obligation to repurchase the issuer’s equity shares regardless of the timing or likelihood of the redemption, shall be 
classified as a liability. We measure the fair value of the warrant liability based on the fair value of the warrants which we determine 
based on an allocation of our enterprise value to all classes of equity and preferred stock, including the warrants. In valuing the 
2013 warrants, we utilized the income method approach in combination with a Monte Carlo simulation, which is a method that 
evaluates many possible value outcomes to establish the expected value of an asset. This methodology allows the modeling of 
securities with complex terms, such as the 2013 warrants, where path dependency, floors, caps, triggers, changes of control and 
down round financing provisions can be taken into account. In each reporting period, we recorded any change in fair value of the 
warrants as a non-operating gain or loss in our statements of operations.  

The estimated fair value of warrants accounted for as liabilities was determined on the issuance date and were subsequently 
remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The following Monte Carlo option pricing model assumptions were used:  

Upon the issuance in October 2013 of our Series C convertible preferred stock, we used the following input assumptions to 
estimate fair value: equity value of the entity, different conversion prices for different scenarios, time to maturity of 1.7 to 2.0 years 
under the different exercise scenarios, volatility of 82% and a risk free interest rate of 0.3% .  

For December 31, 2013, we used the following input assumptions to estimate fair value: equity value of the entity, different 
conversion prices for different scenarios, time to maturity of 1.2 to 1.7 years under the different exercise scenarios, volatility of 82% 
and risk free interest rate of 0.3% .  

In July 2014, immediately prior to the closing of the IPO all of our convertible preferred stock warrants were exercised. As of the 
exercise date, we used our IPO price to estimate the fair value of the warrants. Upon exercise of the warrants, the convertible 
preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to stockholders' equity (deficit). See note 8 for additional discussion of the warrant 
exercise.  
 

66  



Table of Contents  
 

The following table shows the reconciliation of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability measured and recorded at fair value 
on a recurring basis (in thousands): 

 

Stock-Based Compensation  
In accordance with ASC 718, Stock Compensation , we determine the fair value of stock options and other stock-based 
compensation issued to employees as of the grant date. We recognize the fair value of stock-based compensation as 
compensation expense over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period. We also record stock options and other stock-
based compensation issued to non-employees at their fair value as of the grant date. We then periodically remeasure the awards to 
reflect the current fair value at each reporting period and recognize expense over the related service period.  

Stock-based compensation expense includes stock options granted to employees and non-employees and has been reported in 
our statements of operations as follows:  

We calculate the fair value of stock-based compensation awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes 
option pricing model requires the use of subjective assumptions, including the expected term of the stock options, stock price 
volatility, risk free interest rate and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. We used the following 
assumptions in the model:  

 
67  

   
ESTIMATED  
FAIR VALUE  

Balance as of January 1, 2013  $ — 
Fair value at issuance of convertible preferred stock warrant liability (October 16, 2013)  2,381  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability  955  

Balance as of December 31, 2013  3,336  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability  4,277  

    Conversion and exercise of preferred stock warrant into shares of common stock  (7,613 ) 

Balance as of December 31, 2014  $ — 

     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

                  
Employee:                 

Research and development    $ 421    $ 40    $ 30  
General and administrative    703    111    75  

Non-Employee:                 

Research and development    216    39    43  
General and administrative    4    65    96  

Total stock-based compensation expense    $ 1,344    $ 255    $ 244  

▪  We determine the risk-free interest rate by reference to implied yields available from U.S. Treasury securities with a 

remaining term equal to the expected life assumed at the date of grant.  

▪  The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. Our historical option 

exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate an expected term because of a lack of 

sufficient data. Therefore we estimate the expected term by using the “simplified method,” which calculates the expected 

term as the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options.  
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The assumptions that we used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model are set forth below:  

The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the value of the portion of the awards 
that we expect to ultimately vest. We estimate forfeitures for employee grants at the time of grant, and revise the estimates, if 
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Ultimately, the actual expense recognized over 
the vesting period will only represent those options that vest. Changes in the estimated forfeiture rate can have a significant impact 
on our stock-based compensation expense as the cumulative effect of adjusting the rate is recognized in the period the forfeiture 
estimate is changed. For instance, if a revised forfeiture rate is lower than the previously estimated forfeiture rate, we make an 
adjustment that will result in an increase to the stock-based compensation expense recognized in our financial statements. To date, 
our forfeitures have been immaterial.  

Prior to our IPO, our board of directors periodically determined the per share fair value of our common stock at various dates using 
valuations performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice 
Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation , also known as the Practice Aid. We 
performed these valuations contemporaneously as of December 31, 2012, October 16, 2013 and March 31, 2014. For financial 
reporting purposes, we also performed a retrospective valuation on December 31, 2013. Upon the completion of our IPO, the fair 
value of our common stock has been determined by the trading value of our common stock on NASDAQ.  

In conducting the private company valuations, our board of directors, with input from management and independent third-party 
valuation specialists, considered objective and subjective factors that we believed to be relevant for each valuation conducted, 
including our best estimate of our business condition, prospects and operating performance at each valuation date. Within the 
valuations performed, we used a range of factors, assumptions and methodologies. The significant factors included:  
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▪  We do not have sufficient history to estimate the volatility of our common stock price. We calculate expected volatility based 

on reported data for selected, reasonably similar publicly traded companies for which the historical information is available. 

For the purpose of identifying peer companies, we consider characteristics such as industry, stage of development, market 

capitalization, risk profile, length of trading history and similar vesting terms. We plan to continue to use the guideline peer 

group volatility information until the historical volatility of our common stock is relevant to measure expected volatility for 

future option grants.  

▪  The assumed dividend yield is based on our expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. 

     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

                  
Weighted-average estimated fair value    $9.32    $2.31    $0.97  
Risk-free interest rate    1.54% - 2.16%    0.97% - 1.99%    0.93% - 1.19%  
Expected term of options (in years)    5.50 - 6.75    5.45 - 6.08    5.85 - 6.07  
Expected stock price volatility    90% - 93%    90%    90%  
Expected dividend yield    —%    —%    —%  

▪  the rights, preferences and privileges of our convertible preferred stock as compared to those of our common stock, 

including the liquidation preferences of our convertible preferred stock;  

▪  our results of operations, financial position and the status of research and development efforts; 

▪  the lack of liquidity of our common stock as a private company; 

▪  our stage of development and business strategy and the material risks related to our business and industry; 

▪  the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the holders of our common stock and stock options, such as a sale of our 

company given prevailing market conditions;  
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The dates of our valuations have not always coincided with the dates of our stock-based compensation grants. Our board of 
directors granted all options at exercise prices per share not less than the per share fair value of our common stock underlying 
those options on the grant date.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined 
under SEC rules.  

JOBS Act  
On April 5, 2012, the JOBS Act was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take 
advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Securities Act, for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay 
the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have 
irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this extended transition period and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting 
standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies.  

We are in the process of evaluating the benefits of relying on other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the 
JOBS Act. Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an “emerging growth company,” we intend to rely on certain of 
these exemptions, including without limitation, (i) providing an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over 
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and (ii) complying with any requirement that may be 
adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the 
auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and 
analysis. We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (a) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total 
annual gross revenues of $1.0 billion or more, (b) the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of 
our initial public offering in July 2014, (c) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt during the 
previous three years or (d) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures a bout Market Risk.  

The market risk inherent in our financial instruments and in our financial position represents the potential loss arising from adverse 
changes in interest rates and concentration of credit risk. As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash and cash equivalents of $75.4 
million consisting of bank deposits and interest-bearing money market accounts. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest 
rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Due to the short-term maturities of our cash 
equivalents and the low risk profile of our securities, an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates would not have a 
material effect on the fair market value of our cash equivalents and marketable securities. Additionally, our cash balances deposited 
in a bank in the United States may be in excess of insured levels.  

We contract with contract manufacturers internationally. Transactions with these providers are predominantly settled in U.S. dollars 
and, therefore, we believe that we have only minimal exposure to foreign currency exchange risks. We do not hedge against 
foreign currency risks.  

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data .  
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▪  the achievement of corporate objectives, including entering into collaboration and license agreements, and the likelihood of 

entering into such agreements;  

▪  the valuation of publicly traded companies in the life sciences and biotechnology sectors, as well as recently completed 

mergers and acquisitions of peer companies;  

▪  any external market conditions affecting the life sciences and biotechnology industry sectors; 

▪  the state of the IPO market for similarly situated privately held biotechnology companies; 

▪  general U.S. economic conditions; and 

▪  our most recent valuations prepared in accordance with methodologies outlined in the Practice Aid. 
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The financial statements required by this Item 8 are set forth beginning at page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K .  

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountan ts on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  

None.  
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 
As of December 31, 2014, Management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and Vice President, Finance and 
Administration, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e)), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon the evaluation, our President and Chief Executive 
Officer and Vice President, Finance and Administration concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required and (ii) accumulated and communicated to 
our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and Vice President, Finance and Administration, as 
appropriate to allow timely discussion regarding required disclosure.  
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over  Financial Reporting  
 
This report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an 
attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC 
for newly public companies. Additionally, our auditors will not be required to formally opine on the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the 
JOBS Act as we have taken advantage of the exemptions available to us through the JOBS Act.  
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportin g  

There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

Item 9B. Other Information.  

None.  
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PART III  
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporat e Governance.  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the sections titled "Election of 
Directors" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement.  

Item 11. Executive Compensation.  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the sections titled "Executive 
Compensation," "Director Compensation" and "Committees of the Board of Directors - Compensation Committee Interlocks and 
Insider Participation" in our Proxy Statement.  

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial O wners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter s.  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the sections titled "Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation 
Plans" in our Proxy Statement.  

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transact ions, and Director Independence  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the sections titled "Transactions 
with Related Persons" and "Election of Directors" in our Proxy Statement.  

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section titled "Ratification of 
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" in our Proxy Statement.  
 

71  



Table of Contents  
 

PART IV  

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.  

(a) The financial statements schedules and exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are as follows:  

(1) Financial Statements  

Reference is made to the financial statements included in Item 8 of Part II hereof.  

(2) Financial Statement Schedules  

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is included in the financial 
statements or notes thereto.  

(3) Exhibits  

The exhibits required to be filed as part of this report are listed in the Exhibit List attached hereto and are incorporated 
herein by reference.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has 
duly caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY  

 
Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D. and Stephen Brady, and each of 
them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his 
or her name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report on Form 10-K, and to file the 
same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act 
and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in 
person, hereby ratifying and confirming that all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them or their or his substitute or 
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.  
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   IMMUNE DESIGN CORP.  
   (Registrant)  
        

Date: March 31, 2015       /s/ Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  

        

Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  
(Principal Executive Officer)  

        

Date: March 31, 2015       /s/ Paul Rickey  

        

Paul Rickey  
Vice President, Finance and Administration  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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SIGNATURE     TITLE    DATE  

      

/s/ Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.     President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)  

  March 31, 2015  

Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.          

      

/s/ Paul Rickey     Vice President, Finance and Administration (Principal 
Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)  

  March 31, 2015  

Paul Rickey          

      

/s/ Ed Penhoet, Ph.D.     Chairman of the Board    March 31, 2015  

Ed Penhoet, Ph.D.          

      

/s/ Brian Atwood     Director    March 31, 2015  

Brian Atwood             

      

/s/ David Baltimore, Ph.D.     Director    March 31, 2015  

David Baltimore, Ph.D.             

      

/s/ Franklin Berger     Director    March 31, 2015  

Franklin Berger             

      

/s/ William Ringo     Director    March 31, 2015  

William Ringo             

      

/s/ Lewis Coleman     Director    March 31, 2015  

Lewis Coleman             

      

/s/ Peter Svennilson     Director    March 31, 2015  

Peter Svennilson             
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IMMUNE DESIGN CORP  
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Immune Design Corp.  

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Immune Design Corp. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
and the related statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP    
Seattle, Washington    

March 31, 2015    
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IMMUNE DESIGN CORP  

BALANCE SHEETS  
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  

   
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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   DECEMBER 31,  

   2014    2013  

           
Assets          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 75,354    $ 30,387  
Accounts receivable  1,970    87  
Inventory  25    17  
Prepaid expenses  633    179  

Total current assets  77,982    30,670  
Property and equipment, net  401    295  
Total assets  $ 78,383    $ 30,965  
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock, and stock holders’ equity          
Current liabilities:          

Accounts payable  $ 6,903    $ 866  
Accrued liabilities  5,001    1,082  
Deferred rent, current  43    27  

Total current liabilities  11,947    1,975  
Other noncurrent liabilities  90    94  
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability  —   3,336  
Commitments and contingencies      
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 10,000,000 and 12,882,593 shares authorized at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; zero and 9,769,422 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; liquidation preference of zero and $84,300 at December 31, 
2014 and 2013, respectively  —   81,394  
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):          

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,000,000 and 15,045,871 shares authorized at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; 16,878,817 and 369,460 shares issued and outstanding 
at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively  17    3  
Additional paid-in capital  157,092    775  
Accumulated deficit  (90,763 )    (56,612 )  

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)  66,346    (55,834 )  

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity  $ 78,383    $ 30,965  
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  

   

   
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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   YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

   2014    2013    2012  

                

Revenues:               

Licensing revenue  $ 4,500    $ 729    $ 876  
Product sales  881    870    1,877  
Other, net  1,052    —   207  

Total revenues  6,433    1,599    2,960  
Operating expenses:               

Cost of product sales  638    669    1,518  
Research and development  22,746    11,554    8,604  
General and administrative  12,927    4,433    3,713  

Total operating expenses  36,311    16,656    13,835  
Loss from operations  (29,878 )   (15,057 )   (10,875 ) 
Interest and other income  4    37    35  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability  (4,277 )   (955 )   — 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (34,151 )   $ (15,975 )   $ (10,840 ) 

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders  $ (4.56 )   $ (43.48 )   $ (30.43 ) 

Weighted-average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per 
share attributable to common stockholders  7,494,790    367,437    356,215  
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  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONVERTIBLE  

PREFERRED STOCK      COMMON STOCK    
ADDITIONAL  

PAID-IN  
CAPITAL  

  ACCUMULATED 
DEFICIT  

  
TOTAL  

STOCKHOLDERS’  
(DEFICIT) EQUITY      SHARES    AMOUNT      SHARES    AMOUNT        

Balance, December 31, 2011    4,688,191    $ 41,111      349,051    $ 3    $ 259    $ (29,797 )    $ (29,535 )  

Issuance of Series B 
convertible preferred stock for 
cash at $9.41 per share, net of 
issuance costs of $10    1,130,165    10,615      —   —   —   —   — 
Exercise of stock options    —   —     11,910    —   11    —   11  
Stock-based compensation    —   —     —   —   244    —   244  
Net loss    —   —     —   —   —   (10,840 )    (10,840 )  

Balance, December 31, 2012    5,818,356    51,726      360,961    3    514    (40,637 )    (40,120 )  

Issuance of Series C 
convertible preferred stock for 
cash at $8.18 per share, net of 
issuance costs of $251    3,951,066    29,668      —   —   —   —   — 
Exercise of stock options    —   —     8,499    —   6    —   6  
Stock-based compensation    —   —     —   —   255    —   255  
Net loss    —   —     —   —   —   (15,975 )    (15,975 )  

Balance, December 31, 2013    9,769,422    81,394      369,460    3    775    (56,612 )    (55,834 )  

Issuance of common stock at 
$12.00 per share upon 
completion of IPO, net of 
offering costs of $7,100    —   —     5,410,564    5    57,802    —   57,807  
Conversion of convertible 
preferred stock to common 
stock    (9,769,422 )   (81,394 )     9,769,422    10    81,384    —   81,394  
Issuance of common stock 
upon cash and net exercise of 
warrants for $12.00 per share    —   —     1,308,863    1    8,149    —   8,150  
Conversion of preferred stock 
warrant liability to additional 
paid-in capital    —   —     —   —   7,613    —   7,613  
Reverse stock split true-up    —   —     —   (2 )   2    —   — 
Exercise of stock options    —   —     20,508    —   23    —   23  
Stock-based compensation    —   —     —   —   1,344    —   1,344  
Net loss    —   —     —   —   —   (34,151 )    (34,151 )  

Balance, December 31, 2014    —   $ —     16,878,817    $ 17    $ 157,092    $ (90,763 )    $ 66,346  
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(in thousands)  
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     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

                  
Operating activities                 

Net loss    $ (34,151 )   $ (15,975 )   $ (10,840 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                 

Depreciation and amortization    238    407    548  
Stock-based compensation expense    1,344    255    244  
Revaluation of convertible preferred stock warrant liability    4,277    955    — 
Other    —   94    23  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 

Accounts receivable    (1,883 )   426    (452 ) 
Inventory    (8 )   109    (252 ) 
Prepaid expenses    (454 )   8    152  
Accounts payable    6,037    (213 )   504  
Accrued liabilities    3,955    (453 )   623  
Deferred rent    (24 )   89    (128 ) 

Net cash used in operating activities    (20,669 )   (14,298 )   (9,578 ) 

Investing activities                 

Purchases of property and equipment    (344 )   (175 )   (294 ) 
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment    —   43    — 
Net cash used in investing activities    (344 )   (132 )   (294 ) 

Financing activities                 

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering    57,807    —   — 
Proceeds from exercise of preferred stock warrants    8,150    —   — 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    23    6    11  
Proceeds from sale of convertible preferred stock, net of cash paid for 
issuance costs    —   29,668    10,615  
Proceeds from sale of convertible preferred stock warrants    —   2,381    — 
Net cash provided by financing activities    65,980    32,055    10,626  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    44,967    17,625    754  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    30,387    12,762    12,008  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period    $ 75,354    $ 30,387    $ 12,762  
Supplemental disclosures:                 

Conversion of shares of preferred stock into shares of common stock    81,394    —   — 
Conversion of preferred stock warrants into shares of common stock    7,613    —   — 
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1. Description of the Business  

Immune Design Corp. (we, us or our) is a clinical-stage immunotherapy company with next-generation in vivo approaches designed 
to enable the body’s immune system to fight disease. We have engineered our technologies to activate the immune system’s 
natural ability to create tumor-specific cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) to fight cancer. We are developing multiple product candidates from 
our two discovery platforms, IMDZVex™ ("ZVex™") and GLAAS™. Our product candidates, LV305, CMB305 and G100, utilize 
multiple immuno-oncology approaches and are in Phase 1 clinical trials and we expect to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial for CMB305 
in the first quarter of 2015. CMB305 combines our two platforms, LV305 and a second agent G305, in a prime-boost approach. 
G305 is based on our GLAAS platform and is in a Phase 1 clinical trial. Although we plan to focus our development efforts on 
CMB305 and G100, we plan to conduct a small exploratory trial to compare LV305 and CMB305 in the same tumor types. After 
reviewing those data, we may elect to separately develop LV305.  

We were incorporated in February 2008 in the State of Delaware. Our operations are headquartered in Seattle, Washington with 
additional facilities in South San Francisco, California.  

Initial Public Offering  

In July 2014, we completed an initial public offering (the IPO) of 5,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $12.00 per share. 
In August 2014, we sold an additional 410,564 shares of common stock directly to our underwriters when they exercised portions of 
their over-allotment on two separate occasions at $12.00 per share. We received net proceeds of $57.8 million (inclusive of the 
exercise of the over-allotment) after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses totaling $7.1 million . 
In connection with the closing of the IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 
9,769,422 shares of common stock. In July 2014, prior to the completion of the IPO, warrants to purchase 996,940 shares of 
common stock were exercised for $8.1 million in cash. Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, warrants to purchase 978,592 
shares were automatically net exercised, resulting in an issuance of an additional 311,923 shares of common stock. The significant 
number of shares issued in the third quarter of 2014 is expected to impact the year-over-year comparability of our net loss per 
share calculations through the third quarter of 2015. Upon completion of the IPO, the total shares of common stock authorized was 
100,000,000 and the total shares of preferred stock authorized was 10,000,000 .  

Reverse Stock Split  

On July 14, 2014, we filed an amendment to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, effecting a 1-for-8.175 reverse 
stock split. All issued and outstanding stock and per share amounts contained in our financial statements have been retroactively 
adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all periods presented.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates  

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). To conform with GAAP, the preparation of our financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are 
used for, but not limited to, accruals for clinical trial activity, other accrued liabilities, and assumptions used in determining stock-
based compensation expenses and convertible preferred stock warrant liability. We base our estimates on historical experience and 
on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.  

Segments  

We operate in one segment and use cash flow as the primary measure to manage our business and do not segment the business 
for internal reporting or decision-making purposes.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with a maturity of 90 days or less at the date of purchase and consist of investments 
in money market funds. In addition, we maintain cash balances with financial institutions in excess of insured limits and do not 
anticipate any losses on such cash balances.  
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Concentration of Risk  

We limit our credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents by placing our deposits with banks we believe are highly 
creditworthy and our investments with highly rated money market funds.  

Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable are amounts due from other companies related primarily to licensing fees, product sales and research and 
development services. We considered the need for an allowance for doubtful accounts and have concluded that no allowance was 
needed as of December 31, 2014 or 2013 , as the estimated risk of loss on our accounts receivable was determined to be minimal.  

Inventory  

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or market. Cost includes amounts related to materials and labor, and is determined on a 
specific identification basis in a manner which approximates the first-in, first-out method. We record adjustments to inventory for 
potentially excess, obsolete, expired, or impaired items. We recorded $0 and $126,000 in cost of product sales associated with the 
expiration and obsolescence of products in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method over an estimated useful life that is generally three years , while leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of 
their estimated useful lives or the related lease term. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to operations. 
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Asset improvements are capitalized.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
the assets might not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in 
the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or any other 
significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable.  

Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities represent accrued compensation including vacation accruals, unearned revenue and accrued expenses. As part 
of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued professional services and research 
and development expenses. This process involves reviewing contracts and vendor agreements, communicating with our applicable 
personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf. We estimate the level of service performed and the 
associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual cost. We make 
estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and circumstances 
known to us.  

We base our expenses related to contract manufacturing and clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts 
expended pursuant to contracts with multiple contract manufacturing organizations and clinical research organizations that conduct 
and manage supply and clinical trials on our behalf. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will 
be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of 
effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different 
from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services performed differ from the actual status and 
timing of services performed, we may report amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To date, we have not 
experienced any significant adjustments to our estimates.  

Leases and Deferred Rent  

We have entered into lease agreements for laboratory and office facilities. These leases are classified as operating leases. Rent 
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Incentives granted under our facilities leases, including 
allowances to fund leasehold improvements and rent escalations are accrued as deferred rent. Leasehold improvements funded by 
the lessor are capitalized and are recognized as reductions to rental expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
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Series C Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liabil ity  

We account for our warrants in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 480-10, Distinguishing Liabilities 
from Equity , which requires that a financial instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, includes an obligation to 
repurchase the issuer’s equity shares regardless of the timing or likelihood of the redemption, shall be classified as a liability. We 
measure the fair value of the warrant liability based on the fair value of the warrants which we determine based on an allocation of 
our enterprise value to all classes of equity and preferred stock, including the warrants. In valuing the warrants, we utilized the 
income method approach in combination with a Monte Carlo simulation, which is a method that evaluates many possible value 
outcomes to establish the expected value of an asset. This methodology allows the modeling of securities with complex terms, such 
as the warrants, where path dependency, floors, caps, triggers, changes of control and down round financing provisions can be 
taken into account. In each reporting period, we record any change in fair value of the warrants as a non-operating gain or loss in 
the statements of operations. See note 11 for additional information.  

Revenue Recognition  

We derive our revenue from collaboration and licensing agreements and the sale of products associated with material transfer, 
collaboration and supply agreements.  

Licensing fees, are recognized when the amounts are earned and determinable during the applicable period. We recognize up-front 
nonrefundable license fees when due under contractual agreements and when we do not have a continuing obligation to provide 
services related to the agreement. Revenue associated with nonrefundable up-front license fees under arrangements where the 
license fees and research and development activities cannot be accounted for as separate units of accounting is deferred and 
recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the expected term of our continued involvement in the research and 
development process. Revenues from the achievement of research and development milestones, if deemed substantive, are 
recognized as revenue when the milestones are achieved, and the milestone payments are due and collectible. If not deemed 
substantive, we recognize such milestones as revenue on a straight-line basis over the remaining expected term of continued 
involvement in the research and development process.  

Milestones are considered substantive if all of the following conditions are met: (1) the milestone is nonrefundable, (2) achievement 
of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement; (3) substantive effort is involved to achieve the 
milestone; and (4) the amount of the milestone appears reasonable in relation to the effort expended, the other milestones in the 
arrangement and the related risk associated with the achievement of the milestone and any ongoing research and development or 
other services are priced at fair value. Payments received in advance of work performed are recorded as unearned revenue.  

Certain agreements from which we derive our revenue include multiple deliverables. We recognize the revenue for each deliverable 
at fair value determined to be estimated selling price in cases when neither vendor specific objective evidence nor third-party 
evidence is available.  

Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has 
occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably 
assured. The evaluation of these revenue recognition criteria requires significant management judgment. For instance, we use 
judgment to assess collectability based on factors such as the customer’s creditworthiness and past collection history, if applicable. 
If we determine that collection of a payment is not reasonably assured, revenue recognition is deferred until receipt of payment. We 
also use judgment to assess whether a price is fixed or determinable including but not limited to, reviewing contractual terms and 
conditions related to payment terms.  
   
Revenue from product sales of GLA is recognized when the risk of loss has passed to the customer or deferred until such time that 
risk of loss has passed. All revenues associated from the sale of GLA products supplied by us are reported under product sales 
with the applicable costs reported under cost of product sales. Product sales consist of the direct costs associated with the 
manufacture and formulation of GLA, including costs to purchase raw materials, third-party contract manufacturing costs, assay 
testing and ongoing product stability testing.  

We consider significant revenue concentrations to be customers who account for 10% or more of total revenues generated by us 
during the periods presented. We had collaboration partners that accounted for 55% , 28% and 16% of revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2014, 77% and 13% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013; 50% , 34% and 12% of revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2012. The collaboration  
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partners owed a total of 100% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. We do not believe the loss 
of such customers would have a material adverse effect on us.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

We account for stock-based compensation under the fair value method. Stock-based compensation costs related to employees and 
directors is measured at the grant date, based on the fair-value-based measurement of the award estimated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis.  

Options granted to non-employee service providers are accounted for at estimated fair value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model and are remeasured over the vesting term as earned.  

We recognize compensation expense for only the portion of options expected to vest. Therefore, management applied an 
estimated forfeiture rate that was derived from historical employee termination behavior. If the actual number of forfeitures differs 
from these estimates, adjustments to compensation expense may be required in future periods.  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs primarily include personnel costs, 
materials and manufacturing to support clinical trials, fees paid to consultants and outside service providers, costs to conduct 
clinical trials and allocated overhead. Amounts incurred in connection with collaboration agreements are also included in research 
and development expense. Payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research and development are 
deferred until the goods or services are received.  

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 
consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases and the operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Valuation allowances are established when 
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the balance sheet date using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in the period such tax rate changes are enacted. Our net deferred tax asset has been fully offset by a valuation 
allowance because of our history of losses. Any potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within 
operations would be recorded as income tax expense. To date, there have been no interest or penalties charged to us related to 
the underpayment of income taxes.  

Comprehensive Loss  

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and certain changes in equity that are excluded from net loss. There was no 
difference between comprehensive loss and net loss for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.  

Subsequent Events  

We consider events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued to provide 
additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional disclosure.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-15, related to 
an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. ASU 2014-15 requires an entity's management to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the 
date that the financial statements are issued. Public entities are required to apply ASU 2014-15 for annual reporting periods ending 
after December 15, 2016, and interim periods thereafter. Early application is permitted. We are evaluating the guidance to 
determine the potential impact on our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.  

In May 2014, the FASB, issued ASU No. 2014-09, related to the recognition of revenue. ASU 2014-09 requires entities to recognize 
revenue through the application of a five step model, which includes identification of the  
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contract, identification of the performance obligations, determination of the transaction price, allocation of the transaction price to 
the performance obligations, and recognition of revenue as the entity satisfies the performance obligations. ASU 2014-09 is 
effective retrospectively for annual or interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early application not 
permitted. We are evaluating the guidance to determine the potential impact on our results of operations, financial condition, cash 
flows, and financial statement disclosures.  

3. Net Loss Per Share  

We compute net loss per share attributable to common stockholders using the two-class method required for participating 
securities. We consider all series of our convertible preferred stock to be participating securities. In accordance with the two-class 
method, earnings allocated to these participating securities, which include participation rights in undistributed earnings, are 
subtracted from net income to determine total undistributed earnings to be allocated to common stockholders.  

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period. Because of net losses recognized in each period, potential common shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and warrants and the conversion of preferred shares in the IPO into common shares have not been reflected in the 
calculation of diluted net loss per share due to the anti-dilutive effect. Diluted net loss per share, therefore, does not differ from 
basic net loss per share.  

The common stock issuable upon the conversion or exercise of the following dilutive securities has been excluded from the diluted 
net loss per share attributable to common stockholders calculation because their effect would have been antidilutive for the periods 
presented:  

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

We measure and record cash and cash equivalents and convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities at fair value in the 
accompanying financial statements. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability, or an exit price, in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used 
in measuring fair value, is as follows:  

Level 1 : Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 : Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in 
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially 
the full term of the assets or liabilities.  

Level 3 : Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the 
assets or liabilities.  

Level 1 securities consist of highly liquid money market funds. The fair value of Level 1 assets has been determined using quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets.  

In certain cases where there is limited activity or less transparency around inputs to valuation, securities are classified as Level 3 
within the valuation hierarchy. The Level 3 preferred stock warrant liability is measured at its estimated fair value on a recurring 
basis using the income method approach in combination with a Monte Carlo simulation. Inputs used to determine estimated fair 
value include the estimated fair value of the underlying stock at the valuation measurement date, the multiple scenarios outlining 
probabilities and the remaining contractual term of  
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     DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

Convertible preferred stock    —   9,769,422    5,818,356  
Options to purchase common stock    1,907,091    1,463,747    634,455  
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock    —   1,975,532    — 

     1,907,091    13,208,701    6,452,811  
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the warrants, risk-free interest rates, expected dividends, and the expected volatility of the price of the underlying stock.  

The following table summarizes our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):  

   

We classify the convertible preferred stock warrant liability within Level 3 because the warrant liability is valued using valuation 
models with significant unobservable inputs. The estimated fair value of warrants accounted for as liabilities was determined on the 
issuance date and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The change in fair value of the warrants is 
recorded in the statements of operations as a non-operating gain or loss by using a Monte Carlo option pricing model with the 
following assumptions:  

Upon the issuance in October 2013 of our Series C convertible preferred stock, we used the following assumptions to estimate fair 
value: equity value of the entity, different conversion prices for different scenarios, time to maturity of 1.7 to 2.0 years under the 
different exercise scenarios, volatility of 82% and risk free interest rate of 0.3% .  

For December 31, 2013, we used the following assumptions to estimate fair value: equity value of the entity, different conversion 
prices for different scenarios, time to maturity of 1.2 to 1.7 years under the different exercise scenarios, volatility of 82% and risk 
free interest rate of 0.3% .  

In July 2014, immediately prior to the closing of the IPO all of our convertible preferred stock warrants were exercised. As of the 
exercise date, we used our IPO price to estimate the fair value of the warrants. Upon exercise of the warrants, the convertible 
preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to stockholders' equity (deficit). See note 8 for additional discussion of the warrant 
exercise.  

The following table shows the reconciliation of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability measured and recorded at fair value 
on a recurring basis, using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands): 
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     DECEMBER 31, 2014  

     LEVEL 1    LEVEL 2    LEVEL 3    TOTAL  

Assets:                      

Money market funds    $ 73,098    $ —   $ —   $ 73,098  

     DECEMBER 31, 2013  

     LEVEL 1    LEVEL 2    LEVEL 3    TOTAL  

Assets:                      

Money market funds    $ 30,030    $ —   $ —   $ 30,030  
Liabilities:                      

Convertible preferred stock warrant liability    $ —   $ —   $ 3,336    $ 3,336  

   
ESTIMATED  
FAIR VALUE  

Balance as of January 1, 2013  $ — 
Fair value at issuance of convertible preferred stock warrant liability (October 16, 2013)  2,381  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability  955  

Balance as of December 31, 2013  3,336  
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability  4,277  

    Conversion of preferred stock warrant liability into additional-paid-in-capital  (7,613 ) 

Balance as of December 31, 2014  $ — 
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5. Inventory  

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):    

6. Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):  

 
Depreciation and amortization expense was $238,000 , $407,000 and $548,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 
and 2012 , respectively.  

7. Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  

8. Series C Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Lia bility  

In October 2013, in connection with the issuance of our Series C convertible preferred stock, we issued fully exercisable warrants 
for the purchase of 1,975,532 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $8.175 per share.  

All warrants were unexercised as of December 31, 2013. The estimated fair value for the 2013 warrants as of December 31, 2013 
was $3.3 million . The fair value of the 2013 warrants was determined using the income method valuation model in combination 
with a Monte Carlo simulation in consideration of multiple early exercise triggers associated with the 2013 warrants.  

In April 2014, we amended the warrants to provide for their automatic net exercise if the IPO price exceeded the exercise price, 
immediately prior to the closing of the IPO. In July 2014, immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, warrants representing 996,940 
shares of common stock were exercised for $8.1 million in cash and warrants representing 978,592 shares of common stock were 
automatically net exercised for a total of 311,923 shares of  
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     DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013  

             
Raw materials    $ —   $ 13  
Finished goods    25    4  
Total inventory    $ 25    $ 17  

   DECEMBER 31,  

   2014    2013  

           
Laboratory equipment  $ 2,060    $ 1,934  
Leasehold improvements  135    98  
Computer equipment and software  285    188  
Office equipment, furniture, and fixtures  124    47  

Total  2,604    2,267  
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (2,203 )   (1,972 ) 

Total property and equipment, net  $ 401    $ 295  

     DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013  

             
Research and development services    $ 1,845    $ 214  
Legal and professional services    1,253    191  
Employee compensation    1,379    649  
Unearned revenue    524    28  
Total accrued liabilities    $ 5,001    $ 1,082  
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common stock. Upon exercise of the warrants, the convertible preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to stockholders' 
equity (deficit).  

9. Commitments and Contingencies  

Operating Leases  
We entered into a non-cancelable operating sublease agreement in September 2008, for office and research facilities at another 
Seattle, Washington location, and amended the lease in July 2009, September 2009, March 2010, and April 2010. In August 2012, 
we entered into a lease directly with the landlord of the building under the same material terms as our sublease, which sublease 
was then terminated. The lease provided for a leasehold improvement allowance of $448,000 , which was reflected on the balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2012 as a leasehold improvement in property and equipment and as deferred rent. The lease also 
required us to pay additional amounts for operating and maintenance expenses. In March 2013, the lease for this facility expired 
and the associated leasehold improvements and accumulated depreciation were disposed as of March 31, 2013.  

In December 2012, we entered into an operating sublease agreement for lab and office space at our new location in Seattle, 
Washington. The lease commenced in February 2013 and continues through November 2016, with an option to extend the term for 
an additional month. The terms of the facility lease provide for rental payments on a monthly basis and on a graduated scale. We 
recognize rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease period and accrue for rent expense incurred but not paid. The lease 
also requires us to pay additional amounts for operating and maintenance expenses. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we have 
incurred $37,000 and $98,000 , respectively, in leasehold improvements related to the lease and have recorded accumulated 
amortization of $50,000 and $22,000 , as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

In December 2013, we entered into a new operating lease agreement for office space in South San Francisco, California, and 
amended the lease in October and November 2014. The amended lease commenced in January 2015 and continues through 
January 2020, with an option to extend for an additional five years. The terms of the office lease provide for rental payments on a 
monthly basis and on a graduated scale. We recognize rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease period and accrue for 
rent expense incurred but not paid. The lease also requires us to pay additional amounts for operating and maintenance expenses 
beginning January 2016. With the execution of the amended lease, we were required to provide a $121,000 letter of credit as a 
security deposit. As of December 31, 2014, no funds had been drawn down on the letter of credit.  

As of December 31, 2014 , future minimum lease payments are as follows (in thousands):  

 
Rent expense under operating leases was approximately $576,000 , $561,000 and $325,000 , for the years ended December 31, 
2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.  

Contingencies  
We are also contingently obligated to pay any potential future milestone payments to third parties as part of certain collaboration 
and licensing agreements, which could total up to $2.4 million in aggregate payments for the first licensed GLA product we develop, 
up to $1.3 million in aggregate payments for each subsequent licensed GLA product we develop and up to $1.9 million in aggregate 
payments for the ZVex products we develop. It also does not include any potential future royalty payments we may be required to 
make under our licensing agreements as described in Note 10.  

Payments under these agreements are uncertain due to the occurrence of the events requiring payment under these agreements, 
including our share of potential future milestone and royalty payments. These payments  
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2015  $ 718  
2016  713  
2017  361  
2018  372  
2019  383  
Total future minimum lease payments  $ 2,547  
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generally become due and payable only upon achievement of certain clinical development, regulatory or commercial milestones.  

10. License and Collaboration Agreements  

Licenses Granted  

In August 2014, we entered into an agreement with Sanofi under which we granted Sanofi an exclusive license for use of our 
GLAAS platform to discover, develop and commercialize products to treat a selected food allergy. Upon execution of the 
agreement, we received a $3.5 million upfront payment, recognized as revenue during the year ended December 31, 2014. The 
agreement provides for additional payments of up to $168.0 million based upon the attainment of certain development and 
commercialization milestones, and tiered royalties on sales of approved products. Sanofi may terminate the agreement at any time 
upon six months' written notice.  

In October 2010, we entered into three separate license agreements with MedImmune, LLC (MedImmune) pursuant to which we 
granted MedImmune a worldwide, sublicensable, exclusive license to use GLA to develop and sell vaccines in three different 
infectious disease indications. In 2010, MedImmune paid us upfront payments under the license agreements. Under each license 
agreement, MedImmune is obligated to make additional payments based on achievement of certain development, regulatory, and 
commercial milestones for the licensed indication. MedImmune is also obligated to pay us a low double-digit percentage share of 
non-royalty payments that it receives from sublicensees and a mid single-digit royalty payments on net sales of licensed products, 
which royalty is subject to reduction under certain circumstances. Through December 31, 2014, MedImmune has paid us an 
aggregate of $5.5 million in upfront payments under the license agreements. Under each license agreement, MedImmune is 
obligated to make additional aggregate payments of $62.9 million to $75.0 million , depending on the infectious disease indication 
and the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercial milestones for the licensed indication. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014 we recognized $1.0 million in revenue for the achievement of development milestones under these license 
agreements.  

In May 2013, we entered into a nonexclusive license agreement granting Medicago, Inc. (Medicago) a right to research, develop, 
and commercialize GLA in the field of pandemic influenza. Medicago paid an upfront payment of $500,000 under the license 
agreement, which was recognized as revenue during the year ended December 31, 2013, and is also obligated to make additional 
payments of up to $9.5 million based on achievement of certain development and government contract milestones for the licensed 
indication. Medicago is also obligated to pay us a mid single-digit royalty on net sales of licensed products, which royalty is subject 
to reduction under license expiration.  

In October 2011, we entered into an amended material transfer agreement with Sanofi US Services, Inc. which included an 
exclusive option to license GLA in the field of allergy and contract research support in exchange for multiple scheduled payments. 
We allocated a portion of the total payments as license income and the remaining portion to contract research services. We 
recognized $805,000 in license revenue and $200,000 in other revenue associated with this agreement in 2012.  

Licenses Acquired  

In July 2008, we licensed certain rights to research, develop, and commercialize GLA from the Infectious Disease Research 
Institute (IDRI) and amended the agreement in 2010. We paid an upfront fee and issued shares of our common stock valued at 
$59,000 for the license. We recorded the upfront cash payment and the fair value of the common stock as research and 
development expense in 2008, as the licensed rights had no alternative future use.  

In addition, we agreed to pay certain fees in the future if we should elect to continue development of the applicable technologies, 
including payments upon achievement of certain development and commercialization milestones and royalty payments of single-
digit percentage of net sales, if and when commercialized; however, we may terminate our development program at any time 
without obligation to IDRI. Under our license agreement with IDRI, we are obligated to share with IDRI a percentage of payments 
received from third-party licensees.  

Through December 31, 2014, we have paid IDRI an aggregate of $1.9 million in upfront fees, milestone payments and sublicense 
revenue related to our sublicensees. We expensed these amounts to research and development expense, as the rights had no 
alternative future use. In 2013 we paid $140,000 in license related milestone payments which were expensed in research and 
development expenses. We are obligated to pay IDRI up to $2.4  
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million in additional payments based on the achievement of certain developmental and regulatory milestones for the first GLA 
product, and up to $1.3 million in additional payments based on the achievement of certain developmental and regulatory 
milestones for each subsequent GLA product.  

In 2009, we licensed certain patent rights directed to the production of dendritic cell-targeted therapeutic and prophylactic 
immunization strategies from the California Institute of Technology (Caltech) in exchange for shares of our common stock valued at 
$25,000 . We make annual minimum royalty payments under the license. In addition, we agreed to pay certain fees in the future, 
including milestone payments upon achievement of certain development and commercialization milestones and royalty payments 
on net sales in the low single-digit percentage, if and when commercialized, if we should elect to continue development of the 
related technology; however, we may terminate our development program at any time without further obligation to Caltech. In 
addition, we are required to pay Caltech up to an aggregate of $1.6 million in additional payments upon the achievement of certain 
regulatory and sales milestones.  

Collaborations  

In October 2014, we entered into a collaboration with Sanofi Pasteur for the development of a Herpes Simplex Virus immune 
therapy. Sanofi Pasteur and Immune Design will each contribute product candidates to the collaboration: Sanofi Pasteur will 
contribute HSV-529, a clinical-stage replication-defective HSV vaccine product candidate, and Immune Design will contribute G103, 
our preclinical trivalent vaccine product candidate. The collaboration will explore the potential of various combinations of agents, 
including leveraging Immune Design's GLAAS platform, with the goal to select the best potential immune therapy for patients. Each 
company will develop the products jointly through Phase 2 clinical trials, at which point Sanofi Pasteur intends to continue 
development of the most promising candidate and be responsible for commercialization. Sanofi Pasteur will bear the costs of all 
preclinical and clinical development, with Immune Design providing a specific formulation of GLA from the GLAAS platform at its 
cost through Phase 2 studies. Immune Design will be eligible to receive future milestone and royalty payments on any product 
developed from the collaboration. The Company recognizes funding from collaborative research and development efforts as 
revenue as the Company performs or delivers the related services in accordance with contract terms as long as the Company will 
receive payment for such services upon standard payment terms. The costs of the related services performed are recorded as 
research and development expenses on the statement of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company 
recognized $1.1 million in revenue under this collaboration arrangement. As of December 31, 2014, the Company has an 
outstanding receivable of $1.5 million under this collaboration agreement of which $492,000 was unearned.  

11. Convertible Preferred Stock  

In October 2013, we issued and sold 3,951,066 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at a price of $8.18 per share 
resulting in gross proceeds of $32.3 million , pursuant to a Series C convertible preferred stock and warrant purchase agreement. In 
connection with the issuance and sale of Series C convertible preferred stock we issued to the purchasers warrants, or 2013 
warrants, to purchase an aggregate of 1,975,532 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $8.175 
per share.  

In November 2012, we received gross proceeds of $10.6 million in exchange for the issuance of 1,130,165 shares of Series B 
convertible preferred stock at a price per share of $9.41 . In aggregate, we received gross proceeds of $34.0 million in exchange for 
the issuance of 3,616,529 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at a price per share of $9.41 between October 2010 and 
November 2012.  

In aggregate, we received gross proceeds of $18.0 million in exchange for the issuance of 2,201,827 shares of Series A convertible 
preferred stock at a price per preferred share of $8.18 between June 2008 and January 2010.  
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A summary of convertible preferred stock is as follows (amounts in thousands, except share and per share data):  
 

   
Each holder of convertible preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of our shares of common stock 
into which such shares of convertible preferred stock are convertible. Each share of convertible preferred stock is convertible at the 
option of the holder into the number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock that result from dividing the original 
issue price by the conversion price of the convertible preferred stock. Currently, the conversion ratio for each series of convertible 
preferred stock is 1:1 .  

Holders of convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive noncumulative dividends at the rate of 8.0%  per annum for each share 
of convertible preferred stock outstanding, when, and if declared by the board of directors. These dividends are payable in 
preference to common stock dividends. To date, we have not declared or paid any dividends. Convertible preferred stockholders 
are also entitled to receive dividends in a per share amount equal, on an as-if-converted basis, to the amount paid or set aside for 
each share of common stock.  

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the holders of convertible preferred stock will be entitled to receive 
payment out of the assets legally available for distribution for each share of convertible preferred stock held by them, of an amount 
per share of convertible preferred stock equal to the original issue price plus all declared and unpaid dividends on the convertible 
preferred stock. In the event that the available funds and assets are insufficient for full payment to the holders of convertible 
preferred stock on a per-share basis as outlined above, the entire assets and funds legally available for distribution will be 
distributed ratably among convertible preferred stock in proportion to the full amount to which they would otherwise be respectively 
entitled. Before any distribution or payment will be made to the holders of any common stock, payment shall be made first to the 
holders of Series C preferred stock, second to holders of Series B preferred stock, and third to the holders of Series A preferred 
stock. Upon completion of the distribution of assets as set forth above, all of the remaining assets, if any, will be distributed ratably 
among the holders of convertible preferred stock, on an as-if converted basis, and common stock.  

In connection with the completion of the Company's IPO in July 2014, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock 
converted into 9,769,422 shares of common stock and all related warrants were exercised. See Note 8 for additional discussion of 
the exercise of the warrants.  

12. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)  

Common Stock  
We had 16,878,817 and 369,460 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Shares of 
common stock reserved for future issuance were as follows:  
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     DECEMBER 31, 2013  

     
ISSUED PRICE  

PER SHARE    
SHARES  

AUTHORIZED    

SHARES  
ISSUED AND  

OUTSTANDING    

AGGREGATE  
LIQUIDATION  
PREFERENCE    

CARRYING  
VALUE  

Series A    $ 8.18    2,201,834    2,201,827    $ 18,000    $ 17,922  
Series B    $ 9.41    3,616,539    3,616,529    34,000    33,804  
Series C    $ 8.18    7,064,220    3,951,066    32,300    29,668  

          12,882,593    9,769,422    $ 84,300    $ 81,394  

     AS OF DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013  

             
Shares to be issued upon conversion of convertible preferred stock    —   9,769,422  
Shares to be issued upon exercise of convertible preferred stock warrants and conversion of 
convertible preferred stock    —   1,975,532  
Shares to be issued under the employee stock purchase plan    155,220    — 
Shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options    1,907,091    1,463,747  
Shares available for future stock option grants    1,274,067    122,829  
Shares of common stock reserved for future issuance    3,336,378    13,331,530  
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Equity Incentive Plans  

In April 2014, our board of directors adopted, and in July 2014 our stockholders approved the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
(2014 ESPP). Upon the approval of the 2014 ESPP, 155,220 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under. The 
initial offering period has been set and will begin on April 1, 2015 and end on June 30, 2015. As of December 31, 2014, no shares 
have been purchased under the plan.  

The total number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 ESPP will automatically increase annually on 
January 1 by (i) the lesser of 1% of the total number of shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 of the immediately 
preceding year or (ii) 200,000 shares. On January 1, 2015, in accordance with the 2014 ESPP annual increase provisions, the 
authorized shares increased by 168,788 shares.  

In 2008, we adopted the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (2008 Plan) for eligible employees, officers, directors, and consultants, which 
provides for the grant of incentive and non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards, restructured stock unit awards grant, 
and stock appreciation rights. The terms of the stock awards, including vesting requirements, are determined by the board of 
directors, subject to the provisions of the 2008 Plan.  

In April 2014, our board of directors adopted, and in July 2014 our stockholders approved, the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2014 
Plan) which provides for the granting of certain awards to eligible employees, officers, directors, and consultants. Upon approval of 
the 2014 Plan by the stockholders in July 2014, 1,400,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2014 
Plan and we ceased granting stock awards under the 2008 Plan. All shares of common stock subject to awards under the 2008 
Plan that expire, terminate, or are otherwise surrendered, canceled, forfeited or repurchased without having been fully exercised or 
resulting in the issuance of common stock become available for issuance under the 2014 Plan.  

Stock options granted under the 2008 Plan and 2014 Plan generally vest within four years and vested options are exercisable until 
ten years after the date of grant. Vesting of certain employee options may be accelerated in the event of a change in control of our 
company. We grant stock options to employees with exercise prices equal to the fair value of our common stock on the date of 
grant. There were a total of 1,406,767 shares of common stock authorized under the 2014 Plan as of December 31, 2014 .  

The total number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2014 Plan will automatically increase annually on 
January 1 by 4% of the total number of shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 of the immediately preceding year. On 
January 1, 2015, in accordance with the 2014 Plan and annual increase provisions, the authorized shares increased by 675,152 
shares.  
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Stock Option Activity  
Summary stock option information is as follows:   

 
  As of December 31, 2014 , there was $6.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to nonvested 
stock options that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.3 years. The total intrinsic value of options 
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $243,000 , $7,000 and $4,000 , respectively.  

Stock-Based Compensation Expense  

Employee stock-based compensation expense recognized was calculated based on awards ultimately expected to vest and has 
been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, as necessary, in subsequent 
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Total stock-based compensation expense recognized in our statements of 
operations is as follows (in thousands):  

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options at the grant date. The Black-Scholes 
option pricing model requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions, including assumptions related to the expected price 
volatility of our stock, the period during which the options will be outstanding, the rate of return on risk-free investments, and the 
expected dividend yield of our stock.  
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OPTIONS  

OUTSTANDING    

WEIGHTED-  
AVERAGE  
EXERCISE  

PRICE    

WEIGHTED-  
AVERAGE  

REMAINING  
CONTRACT  

TERM  
(IN YEARS)    

AGGREGATE  
INTRINSIC VALUE  
(IN THOUSANDS)  

Outstanding at January 1, 2013    634,455    $1.12    8.67       

Granted    872,293    $1.27            

Exercised    (8,499 )   $0.69            

Canceled    (25,141 )   $1.41            

Expired    (9,361 )   $1.26            

Outstanding at December 31, 2013    1,463,747    $1.20    8.67    $ 2,552  
Granted    512,643    $12.27            

Exercised    (20,508 )   $1.14            

Canceled    (47,261 )   $3.21            

Expired    (1,530 )   $1.48            

Outstanding at December 31, 2014    1,907,091    $4.16    8.16    $ 50,847  
Vested and expected to vest after December 31, 2014    1,781,826    $3.94    8.08    $ 47,885  
Exercisable at December 31, 2014    790,576    $1.24    6.87    $ 23,352  

     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

                  
Employee:                 

Research and development    $ 421    $ 40    $ 30  
General and administrative    703    111    75  

Non-Employee:                 

Research and development    216    39    43  
General and administrative    4    65    96  

Total stock-based compensation expense    $ 1,344    $ 255    $ 244  
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To estimate the fair value of our common stock prior to our IPO, our board of directors periodically determined the per share fair 
value of our common stock at various dates using valuations performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as 
Compensation . We performed these valuations contemporaneously as of December 31, 2012, October 16, 2013 and March 31, 
2014. For financial reporting purposes, we also performed a retrospective valuation on December 31, 2013. Upon the completion of 
our IPO, the fair value of our common stock has been determined by the trading value of our common stock on NASDAQ.  

The fair values of stock options granted to employees were calculated using the following assumptions:    

 

13. Income Taxes  

No provision for income taxes has been recorded for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 due to the operating 
losses incurred since inception for which no benefit has been recorded.  

The reconciliation of the U.S. income tax rate to the effective income tax rate for continuing operations is as follows:  

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.  
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     YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013    2012  

                  
Weighted-average estimated fair value    $9.32    $2.31    $0.97  
Risk-free interest rate (1)    1.54% - 2.16%    0.97% - 1.99%    0.93% - 1.19%  
Expected term of options (in years) (2)    5.50 - 6.75    5.45 - 6.08    5.85 - 6.07  
Expected stock price volatility (3)    90% - 93%    90%    90%  
Expected dividend yield (4)    —%    —%    —%  

(1)  The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury instruments that had terms consistent with the 
expected term of our stock option grants.  

(2)  We used the “simplified method” for options to determine the expected term of our stock option grants. Under this approach, 
the weighted-average expected life is presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the contractual term of the option.  

(3)  Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable, such as share price, has fluctuated or is expected to 
fluctuate during a period. We analyzed the stock price volatility of companies at a similar stage of development to estimate 
expected volatility of our stock price.  

(4)  We have never declared or paid cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 

     AS OF DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013  

Statutory tax rate    35.00  %   35.00  % 
Effect of:            

State income taxes net of federal tax benefit    —   — 
Permanent differences    (5.09 )    (2.41 )  
Corrections to deferred assets    —   — 
Other    —   0.35  
General business credits    2.02    5.41  
Change in valuation allowance    (31.93 )    (38.35 )  

Effective tax rate    — %   — % 



Table of Contents  
IMMUNE DESIGN CORP  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
 

Significant components of our deferred taxes are as follows (in thousands):  
  

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. 
Accordingly, the deferred tax assets have been offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance relates primarily to net 
deferred tax assets from operating losses and research and development credits. The net deferred tax asset has been fully offset 
by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $10.9 million and $6.1 million during 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had approximately $83.0 million and $54.0 million in federal net operating 
loss carryforwards and approximately $2.7 million and $2.0 million in federal research and development tax credit carryforwards, 
respectively. The net operating losses and federal research credits will begin to expire in varying amounts between 2028 and 2034 
if not utilized.  

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the Act) provides for a limitation on the annual use of net operating loss and research and 
development tax credit carryforwards following certain ownership changes (as defined by the Act) that could limit our ability to utilize 
these carryforwards. We may have experienced an ownership change, as defined by the Act, as a result of past financings. 
Accordingly, our ability to utilize the aforementioned carryforwards may be limited. Additionally, U.S. tax laws limit the time during 
which these carryforwards may be applied against future taxes; therefore, we may not be able to take full advantage of these 
carryforwards for federal income tax purposes.  

Certain net operating losses arise from the deductibility for tax purposes of compensation under nonqualified stock options equal to 
the difference between the fair value of the stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the options. For financial 
reporting purposes, the tax effect of this deduction when recognized is accounted for as a credit to stockholders’ equity. We do not 
have any excess tax deductions on option exercises.  

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction as well and plan to file in the state of California. We are not currently under 
audit in any tax jurisdiction. Tax years from 2008 through 2014 are currently open for audit by federal and state taxing authorities.  

We recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. During the 
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with unrecognized 
benefits. Additionally, we did not have any unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2014 or 2013.  

14. Legal Proceedings  

TheraVectys SA v. Immune Design Corp.  
In October 2013, TheraVectys SA, or TVS, a French biotechnology company, filed a complaint against us in the United States 
District Court for the District of Delaware. TVS alleged that it had entered into a contractual relationship with Henogen SA, or 
Henogen, in 2010 with respect to the production of lentiviral vector vaccines for TVS. Henogen is a contract manufacturing 
organization with which we contracted for the manufacture of our LV305 product candidate. TVS alleged that its contractual 
relationship with Henogen contained an exclusivity provision limiting Henogen’s ability to participate in the manufacturing process of 
a vaccine based on lentiviral DNA Flap vectors for third parties, as well as a provision preventing Henogen from sharing or using 
certain TVS confidential technology for manufacturing processes developed by TVS with or for the benefit of others. TVS alleged 
that we  
 

F-21  

     AS OF DECEMBER 31,  

     2014    2013  

Deferred tax assets:            

Net operating loss carryforwards    $ 29,052    $ 18,898  
Research and development credit    2,658    1,969  
Depreciation and amortization    174    174  
Other temporary differences    292    232  
Gross deferred tax assets    32,176    21,273  
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance    (32,176 )   (21,273 ) 

Net deferred tax assets    $ —   $ — 
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entered into a contractual relationship with Henogen in 2012 to manufacture lentiviral vectors for vaccines, which TVS contends 
interfered with its contract with Henogen and resulted in the use of certain TVS confidential information and trade secrets. The 
complaint asserted three counts for relief: tortious interference with contractual relationship, unfair competition and misappropriation 
of trade secrets. TVS did not specify its claimed damages, other than to assert that they exceed $75,000 . TVS also requested in its 
complaint injunctive relief enjoining us from importing, receiving possessing or using lentiviral vector vaccines developed or 
produced by Henogen, but never filed a motion seeking injunctive relief. The parties entered into several stipulations extending the 
deadline for us to respond to the complaint. On or about April 7, 2014, TVS filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal without prejudice 
of this lawsuit.  
 
On or about July 24, 2014, shortly after our Registration Statement on Form S-1 was declared effective by the SEC for our initial 
public offering, TVS filed a new complaint against us in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware, alleging facts substantially 
similar to the prior complaint. In addition, the complaint further alleges that we obtained shipments of lentiviral vectors for vaccines 
from Henogen and are conducting clinical trials with these lentiviral vectors. The complaint asserts four counts for relief: tortious 
interference with contractual relationship, unfair competition, misappropriation of trade secrets, and unjust enrichment; claimed 
damages were not specified. The complaint also requested injunctive relief enjoining us from using lentiviral vectors developed or 
produced by Henogen, using any other materials or information obtained by Henogen, and citing to the FDA or otherwise relying on 
any clinical trials using lentiviral vector vaccines developed or produced by Henogen.  
 
On or about July 24, 2014, TVS also filed a motion for expedited proceedings in support of an anticipated motion for preliminary 
injunction. On August 8, 2014 the court granted TVS’ motion for expedited proceedings and set a hearing date in mid-November 
2014 for TVS’ anticipated motion for preliminary injunction. In September 2014, TVS filed a motion to postpone the hearing date 
and delay the proceedings it previously sought to expedite. The court granted the motion and set a new date for the hearing. On or 
about December 15, 2014, TVS filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking, among other things, to enjoin us from making 
any use of lentiviral vectors pending final resolution of the litigation. A hearing was held on TVS’s motion in January 2015.  
 
By order dated March 9, 2015, the Chancery Court denied TVS’ motion for a preliminary injunction. The court has not yet made any 
final determination on the merits of the lawsuit, which will be determined at a full trial which we expect will occur prior to the end of 
the third quarter of 2015. We intend to continue to vigorously defend this lawsuit.  

European Patent Oppositions  
In February 2013, a third party filed an opposition at the European Patent Office, or EPO, requesting revocation of European Patent 
No. 2068918 directed to GLA formulations and uses. This patent is owned by Infectious Disease Research Institute and under 
license to us. We are vigorously defending the grant of this patent, with a reply to the opposition brief having been filed on 
September 27, 2013. No date for an oral hearing has yet been set. This patent is an important part of our proprietary position for 
GLA in Europe. The final outcome of the proceedings is uncertain and will likely not be known for several years.  
 
In October 2014, TVS filed an opposition at the EPO requesting revocation of European Patent No. 2456786 directed at 
improvements to our lentiviral vector. This opposition is not substantively related to the ongoing Delaware lawsuit previously 
disclosed, and to our knowledge, TVS is not using the technology claimed in this patent. We intend to vigorously defend the grant 
of this patent, and in light of other European patents and patent applications directed to our lentiviral platform technology, we do not 
believe the validity of this patent will have a material effect on the scope of our patent protection in Europe.  
 

15. Employee Benefit Plan  
We sponsor a 401(k) defined contribution plan for our employees. Employee contributions are voluntary. We may match employee 
contributions in amounts to be determined at our sole discretion. Currently, we have elected to satisfy the safe-harbor rules by 
matching contributions equal to 100% of employee salary deferrals that do not exceed 3% of the employee’s compensation, plus 
50% matching employee salary deferrals between 3% and 5% of the employee’s compensation. Employer contributions have 
totaled approximately $153,000 , $110,000 , and $101,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively.  
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16. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaud ited)  

The following amounts are in thousands, except per share amounts:  

 

17. Subsequent Events  

By order dated March 9, 2015, the Chancery Court denied TVS’ motion for a preliminary injunction. The court has not yet made any 
final determination on the merits of the lawsuit, which will be determined at a full trial which we expect will occur prior to the end of 
the third quarter of 2015. We intend to continue to vigorously defend this lawsuit.  
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   Quarter Ended  

   
March 31,  

2014    
June 30,  

2014    
September 30,  

2014    
December 31,  

2014  

   (unaudited)  

Total revenues  $ 25    $ 1,064    $ 3,544    $ 1,800  
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (8,223 )   $ (6,126 )   $ (6,682 )   $ (13,120 ) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders  $ (22.25 )   $ (16.57 )   $ (0.55 )   $ (0.78 ) 

   Quarter Ended  

   
March 31,  

2013    
June 30,  

2013    
September 30,  

2013    
December 31,  

2013  

   (unaudited)  

Total revenues  $ 564    $ 882    $ 129    $ 24  
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (2,941 )   $ (3,634 )   $ (3,994 )   $ (5,406 ) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders  $ (8.14 )   $ (9.84 )   $ (10.81 )   $ (14.71 ) 
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS  
   

EXHIBIT  
NUMBER    EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION  

    

3.1    
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Immune Design Corp. (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 29, 2014).  

    

  3.2    
Bylaws of Immune Design Corp. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

  4.1    
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Immune Design Corp. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.1    

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated October 16, 2013, by and among Immune Design Corp. 
and the investors named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.2 +    
Immune Design Corp. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.3 +    

Form of Option Agreement under the Immune Design Corp. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196979), as filed with 
the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.4 +    
Immune Design Corp. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-197748), as filed with the SEC on July 31, 2014).  

    

10.5 +    

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Immune Design Corp. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 
333-196979), as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2014).  

    

10.6 +    

Form of Non-Qualified Option Agreement under the Immune Design Corp. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 
333-196979), as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2014).  

    

10.7 +    
Immune Design Corp. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-197748), as filed with the SEC on July 31, 2014).  

    

10.8 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 20, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.9 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 19, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Wayne Gombotz, Ph.D. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.10 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 23, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Stephen Brady 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.11 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 19, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Jan Henrik ter Meulen, 
M.D. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-
196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.12 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 19, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Richard Kenney 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  



 

    

10.13 +    

Employment Agreement, dated June 18, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and Paul Rickey 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  
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+ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.  
 
* Furnished herewith and not deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and shall 
not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act .  
 
† Registrant has been granted confidential treatment for certain portions of this exhibit. This exhibit omits the information subject to this confidentiality treatment. 
Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.  
 

10.14 +    

Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between Immune Design Corp. and each of its directors and officers 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), 
as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.15†    

Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated November 5, 2010, by and between Immune Design Corp. and 
the Infectious Disease Research Institute (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.16†    

License Agreement, dated January 16, 2013, by and between Immune Design Corp. and The University of North 
Carolina at Chapel Hill (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement 
(File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on July 17, 2014).  

    

10.17†    

License Agreement, dated January 1, 2009, by and between Immune Design Corp. and the California Institute of 
Technology (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 
333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.18    

Office Lease, dated November 21, 2013, by and between Immune Design Corp. and BXP 601& 651 Gateway 
Center LP, formerly known as Gateway Center LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

10.19    
First Amendment to Office Lease, dated October 27, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and BXP 601 & 
651 Gateway Center LP, formerly known as Gateway Center LLC.  

      

10.20    
Second Amendment to Office Lease, dated November 20, 2014, by and between Immune Design Corp. and BXP 
601 & 651 Gateway Center LP, formerly known as Gateway Center LLC.  

      

10.21    

Sublease Agreement, dated December 20, 2012, by and between Immune Design Corp. and The Board of Regents 
of the University of Washington (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement (File No. 333-196979), as filed with the SEC on June 23, 2014).  

    

23.1    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.  
    

24.1    Power of Attorney (included on the signature page to this registration statement).  
      

31.1    
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

      

31.2    
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

      

32.1*    
Certifications of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

      

32.2*    
Certifications of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

      

101    

Financial statements from the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Immune Design Corp. for the year ended December 
31, 2014, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Balance Sheets, (ii) the Statements 
of Operations, (iii) the Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit, (iv) the Statements of 
Cash Flow and (v) Notes to Financial Statements.  
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE  

This First Amendment to Office Lease (this " First Amendment ") is entered into effective as of the 27th day of 
October, 2014, by and between BXP 601 & 651 GATEWAY CENTER LP , a Delaware limited partnership, formerly 
known as GATEWAY CENTER, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (" Landlord "), and IMMUNE 
DESIGN CORP., a Delaware corporation (" Tenant ").  
 

RECITALS  
 
A.    Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated November 21, 2013 (the " Original Lease "), 
whereby Landlord leased to Tenant and Tenant leased from Landlord the premises located in the office building having 
an address of 601 Gateway Boulevard (the “ Building ”) containing approximately 2,058 rentable square feet of space 
located on the tenth (10 th ) floor of the Building and commonly known as Suite 1020, as further described in the Lease 
(the “ Original Premises ”).  
 
B.     The parties hereto wish to amend the Original Lease to (i) move the Original Premises to Suite 250 in the Building, 
consisting of approximately 9,640 rentable square feet of space located on the second (2 nd ) floor of the Building, as 
further described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “ New Premises ”), commencing on the New Premises 
Commencement Date (as defined in Section 4 below), (ii) extend the Lease Term for a period of five (5) years 
commencing on the New Premises Commencement Date, (iii) provide for the Base Rent for the New Premises, 
commencing on the New Premises Commencement Date, as further specified in Section 5 , below, (iv) provide for a 
new Base Year for Tenant’s Share, as further provided in Section 6 , below, and (v) otherwise revise the terms and 
conditions of the Original Lease as hereinafter set forth.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as 
follows:  
 

AGREEMENT  
 
1.     Recitals . The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference.  
 
2.      Defined Terms . All capitalized terms used in this First Amendment that are not defined herein shall have the 
meanings as defined in the Original Lease.  
 
3.     Relocation and Surrender of Original Premises .  
 

3.1     Relocation of Original Premises to New Premises . Effective as of the New Premises Commencement 
Date (as that term is defined in Section 4 below), (a) the Original Lease shall terminate and be of no further force or 
effect with respect to the Original Premises only, and  
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(b) Tenant shall lease from Landlord and Landlord shall lease to Tenant the New Premises on the terms and conditions 
set forth in the Original Lease, as hereby amended (the “ Lease ”). Consequently, effective upon the New Premises 
Commencement Date, the New Premises shall be substituted for the Original Premises and all references in the Lease to 
the “Premises” shall mean and refer to the New Premises.  
 

3.2     Surrender of Original Premises . Tenant hereby agrees to vacate the Original Premises and surrender and 
deliver exclusive possession of the Original Premises to Landlord on or before the New Premises Commencement Date 
in accordance with the provisions of the Lease and thereafter, Tenant shall have no further obligations with respect to the 
Original Premises except that Tenant shall remain liable with respect to the period of its tenancy with respect to the 
Original Premises prior to the New Premises Commencement Date for the performance of all of its obligations under the 
Lease (including, without limitation, Tenant's payment of reconciliation of Tenant's Share of Building Direct Expenses 
with respect to the Original Premises). In the event that Tenant retains possession of the Original Premises or any part 
thereof after the New Premises Commencement Date and/or fails to surrender possession of the Original Premises to 
Landlord in accordance with terms of the Original Lease, as hereby amended, then the terms an conditions of the Lease, 
including without limitation, Article 16 of the Lease, shall apply.  
 
4.      New Premises Term . The term of Tenant's lease of the New Premises shall commence on the date (the " New 
Premises Commencement Date ") which is the earliest to occur of (a) January 1, 2015, (b) the date upon which the 
improvements to the New Premises are " Substantially Complete " (as defined in Section 7.2 below), or (c) the date 
upon which Tenant first commences to conduct business in the New Premises. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that 
the Lease Term for the Original Premises is scheduled to expire on January 31, 2018, pursuant to the terms of the Lease. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Lease, the Lease Term for the New Premises shall expire on (i) 
the day immediately preceding the fifth (5 th ) anniversary of the New Premises Commencement Date, if the New 
Premises Commencement Date falls on the first day of a calendar month, or (ii) the last day of the month in which the 
fifth (5 th ) anniversary of the New Premises Commencement Date occurs, if the New Premises Commencement Date 
falls on any day other than the first day of a calendar month, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Original Lease, 
as amended by this First Amendment (the “ New Premises Lease Expiration Date ”). The period of time beginning on 
the New Premises Commencement Date and ending on the New Premises Lease Expiration Date shall be referred to 
herein as the “ New Premises Term .” Consequently, effective upon the New Premises Commencement Date, all 
references in the Lease to the “Lease Term” shall mean and refer to the New Premises Term.  
 
5.     Base Rent . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Lease, prior to the New Premises 
Commencement Date, Tenant shall continue to pay Base Rent for the Original Premises in accordance with the terms of 
the Lease, pro-rated for any fractional month prior to the New Premises Commencement Date at a daily rate equal to 
1/365 of the annual Base Rent for the Original Premises. Commencing on the New Premises Commencement Date and 
continuing thereafter throughout the remainder of the New Premises Term, Tenant shall pay to  
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Landlord monthly installments of Base Rent for the New Premises in accordance with the following schedule:  

 
For the avoidance of doubt, the “ New Premises Lease Year 1 ” shall mean the twelve-months beginning on (i) the New 
Premises Commencement Date if such date falls on the first day of a calendar month, or (ii) the first day of the month 
following the New Premises Commencement Date, if the New Premises Commencement Date falls on any day other 
than the first day of a calendar month. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall pay the Year 1 Base Rent for the 
New Premises beginning on the New Premises Commencement Date, pro-rated for any fractional month on a daily basis 
at a rate per day equal to 1/365 of the first annual Base Rent.  
 
6.      Tenant's Share . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Lease, prior to the New Premises 
Commencement Date Tenant shall continue to pay Tenant’s Share of Building Direct Expenses in connection with the 
Original Premises in accordance with the terms of Article 4 of the Lease. Commencing on the New Premises 
Commencement Date, and continuing thereafter throughout the remainder of the New Premises Lease Term, Tenant 
shall pay Tenant’s Share of Building Direct Expenses in connection with the New Premises in accordance with the terms 
of Article 4 of the Lease; provided, however, for purposes of calculating Tenant’s Share of Building Direct Expenses 
which Tenant shall pay in connection with the New Premises, (i) Tenant’s Share shall equal 4.4676%; and (ii) the Base 
Year shall be the calendar year 2015.  
 
7.     Condition of New Premises; New Tenant Improvements .  
 

7.1    Except as specifically set forth in this First Amendment and in the Tenant Work Letter attached hereto as 
Exhibit B (the " Tenant Work Letter "), Tenant shall accept the New Premises in its presently existing "as-is" 
condition and Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work or services related to the 
improvement of the New Premises. Tenant also acknowledges that neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made 
any representation or warranty regarding the condition of the New Premises, the Building or the Project or with respect 
to the suitability of any of the foregoing for the conduct of Tenant's business,  
 

 

 
 

Period During New  
Premises Term  Annual Base Rent  

 

Monthly Installment of 
Base Rent  

 
New Premises Lease Year 1  $341,256.00  $28,438.00  
 
New Premises Lease Year 2  $351,667.20  $29,305.60  
 
New Premises Lease Year 3  $362,078.40  $30,173.20  
 
New Premises Lease Year 4  $372,489.60  $31,040.80  
 
New Premises Lease Year 5  $384,057.60  $32,004.80  
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except as specifically set forth in this Lease and the Tenant Work Letter. The commencement of business operations 
from the New Premises by Tenant shall presumptively establish that the Premises and the Building were at such time in 
good and sanitary order, condition and repair; provided, however, that if Tenant commences business operations in the 
New Premises prior to Substantial Completion, Landlord shall still be obligated to cause Contractor to complete the 
“punch list” items. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant than, as of the New 
Premises Commencement Date, the electrical, mechanical (including, without limitation, the HVAC as defined in 
Section 6.1 of the Lease) and plumbing utilities serving the New Premises shall be in good working condition and repair. 
 

7.2    The New Premises shall be delivered to Tenant when the Tenant Improvements to the New Premises are 
"Substantially Complete." As used herein, the term "Substantially Complete" shall mean the date that the construction of 
the Tenant Improvements is sufficiently complete so that Tenant can legally occupy and utilize the New Premises for the 
normal conduct of its business, subject only to minor "punch list" items, the completion of which will not materially 
affect Tenant's use and occupancy of the New Premises. Landlord shall cause Contractor to complete the “punch list”
items.  
 

7.3     Early Occupancy; Interference with New Tenant Improvements . Landlord has agreed to give Tenant 
occupancy of the New Premises ten (10) days prior to Substantial Completion of the New Tenant Improvements so that 
Tenant may install its furniture, fixtures and equipment and perform its data and equipment cabling prior to the New 
Premises Commencement Date. However, Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that, should Landlord determine that 
Tenant's presence in the New Premises interferes with Landlord's timely Substantial Completion of the New Tenant 
Improvements, Landlord may demand that Tenant vacate the Premises until the New Tenant Improvements are 
Substantially Completed and Tenant shall promptly comply with this demand. Such occupancy shall not be considered 
“conducting business” under Section 4 .  
 
8.      Option Term . Section 2.2.1 of the Original Lease is hereby amended so as to provide for Tenant to have an 
option to extend the Lease Term for an Option Term of five (5) years (rather than three (3) years) following the New 
Premises Lease Expiration Date. Section 2.2.2 of the Original Lease is hereby amended by deleting the words “not less 
than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the expiration of the Lease Term” in the second and third lines thereof and 
replacing them with the words “not earlier than twelve (12) months prior to the New Premises Lease Expiration Date, 
and not later than nine (9) months prior to the New Premises Lease Expiration Date”, and Tenant shall otherwise 
continue to have the right to exercise the Option to extend the Lease Term for a period of five (5) years in accordance 
with Section 2.2 of the Lease, as amended hereby.  

      
9.     Modification of Letter of Credit.       

 
9.1     New Letter of Credit .    Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that in accordance with the terms of Article 

21 of the Lease, Tenant previously delivered to Landlord a letter of credit (the “ Prior L-C ”) in the amount of Thirty 
Five Thousand Five Hundred and 50/100  
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Dollars ($35,500.50) (the “ L-C Amount ”) as security for the faithful performance by Tenant of the terms, covenants 
and conditions of the Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any contrary provision of the Lease, Landlord and Tenant 
agree that, in connection with this First Amendment, the L-C Amount required under the Lease is hereby amended to 
equal One Hundred Twenty Thousand Six Hundred Ninety-Two and 80/100 Dollars ($120,692.80) (the “ Amendment 
L-C Amount ”). Accordingly, concurrently with Tenant’s execution of this First Amendment, Tenant shall deliver to 
Landlord a replacement or amendment L-C in the form required by the terms of Article 21 of the Lease, in an amount 
equal to the Amendment L-C Amount. Upon Tenant’s request and after Tenant’s delivery of a replacement L-C in 
connection with the foregoing, Landlord agrees to return the Prior L-C to Tenant. In connection with the foregoing, 
Tenant hereby waives the provisions of Section 1950.7 of the California Civil Code, or any successor statute.  

 
9.2     Reduction of L-C Amount . Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree that Section 21.7 of the 

Lease, which provides that the amount of the L-C be reduced annually throughout the Lease Term, shall be null and void 
and of no further force or effect, and, instead, the Amendment L-C Amount shall be reduced throughout the New 
Premises Term in accordance with the schedule set forth in Sections 9.2.1 through 9.2.2 below, provided that Tenant 
tenders to Landlord a replacement L-C or a certificate of amendment to the existing L-C, conforming in all aspects to the 
requirements of Article 21 of the Lease, in the amount of the applicable L-C amount as of the effective date of any such 
reduction hereunder; and provided further, that the following conditions are satisfied in Landlord’s discretion as of the 
effective date of any such reduction hereunder, Tenant (i) has at least Twenty Million and No/100 Dollars 
($20,000,000.00) cash on its balance sheet, (ii) is not in monetary or material non-monetary default beyond any 
applicable notice and cure period under the Lease, and (iii) has provided written notice to Landlord requesting a 
reduction in the amount of the L-C in accordance with the requirements set forth above (the “ L-C Reduction Notice ” ), 
then the L-C Amount shall be reduced in accordance with the schedule below. Upon Tenant’s request and after Tenant’s 
delivery of a replacement L-C in connection with the foregoing, Landlord agrees to return the Prior L-C to Tenant.  

 
9.2.1    From and after Month 37 of the New Premises Term, the then-current L-C Amount shall be decreased to 

Ninety Thousand Five Hundred Nineteen and 60/100 Dollars ($90,519.60).  
 
9.2.2    From and after Month 49 of the New Premises Term, the then-current L-C Amount shall be decreased to 

Sixty Thousand Three Hundred Forty-Six and 40/100 Dollars ($60,346.40).  
 

10.     Parking.     Section 29.18 of the Original Lease is hereby amended by deleting the words “seven (7)” in the first 
line thereof and replacing them with the words “thirty (30)” and Tenant shall otherwise continue to have the rights to 
parking in accordance with Section 29.18 of the Lease, as amended hereby.  
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11.     Authority . If Tenant is a corporation, trust, limited liability company or partnership, each individual executing 
this First Amendment on behalf of Tenant hereby represents and warrants that Tenant is a duly formed and existing 
entity qualified to do business in California and that Tenant has full right and authority to execute and deliver this First 
Amendment and that each person signing on behalf of Tenant is authorized to do so. In such event, Tenant shall, within 
ten (10) days after execution of this First Amendment.  

12.     Tenant Representations.     Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant has not heretofore assigned 
or sublet all or any portion of its interest in the Lease or in the Original Premises and no other person, firm or entity has 
any right, title or interest in the Lease or in the Original Premises through Tenant.  

13.     Real Estate Brokers . Landlord and Tenant hereby warrant to each other that they have had no dealings with any 
real estate broker or agent except for CRESA (“ Tenant’s Broker ”) and Cassidy Turley (“ Landlord’s Broker ”) in 
connection with the negotiation of this First Amendment, and that they know of no real estate broker or agent other than 
Tenant’s Broker and Landlord’s Broker who is entitled to a commission in connection with this First Amendment. Each 
party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, 
demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' 
fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings 
with any real estate broker or agent other than Tenant’s Broker and Landlord’s Broker, occurring by, through, or under 
the indemnifying party. The terms of this Section 13 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  
 
14.     Disclosure . Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord hereby notifies Tenant that as of the date of 
this First Amendment, the New Premises has not undergone inspection by a “Certified Access Specialist” to determine 
whether the New Premises meet all applicable construction-related accessibility standards under California Civil Code 
Section 55.53 .  
 
15.     Counterparts . This First Amendment may be executed in counterparts with the same effect as if both parties 
hereto had executed the same document. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute a single 
agreement.  

16.     No Change . Except as set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions of the Lease remain unchanged and in full 
force and effect.  
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this First Amendment as of the day and date first 

written above.  

 

 
 

 
 

"Landlord":  
 
BXP 601 & 651 GATEWAY CENTER LP,  
a Delaware limited partnership  
 
BY: BXP CALIFORNIA GP LLC,  

a Delaware limited liability company,  
its general partner  

 
BY: BOSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,  

a Delaware limited partnership,  
its sole member  

 
BY: BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.,  

a Delaware corporation,  
its general partner  

 
BY: /s/ Rod C. Diehl  

Name: ROD C. DIEHL  
Title: SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, LEASING  

     

 

 
 

“Tenant":  
 
IMMUNE DESIGN CORP.,  
a Delaware corporation  

By: /s/ Carlos Paya  

     Name: CARLOS PAYA  

     Title: CEO  

By: /s/ Stephen R. Brady  

     Name: STEPHEN R. BRADY  

     Title: CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICER     
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EXHIBIT A  

601 GATEWAY  

OUTLINE OF NEW PREMISES  
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EXHIBIT B  

601 GATEWAY BOULEVARD  

TENANT WORK LETTER  

Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that Tenant intends to remodel the New Premises following execution of this 
First Amendment, and that all such Tenant Improvements shall be subject to the provisions of this Tenant Work Letter.  

SECTION 1  

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS  

1.1     Tenant Improvement Allowance . Tenant shall be entitled to a one-time tenant improvement allowance 
(the “ Tenant Improvement Allowance ”) in the amount not to exceed Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and No/100 
Dollars ($250,000.00) for the costs relating to the remodel, design and construction of interior improvements and 
architectural/engineering services to the New Premises deemed necessary or useful by Tenant (the “ Tenant 
Improvements ”). As part of the Tenant Improvements and without limiting its other design and construction activities 
with the Tenant Improvement Allowance, Tenant shall, with funds from the Tenant Improvement Allowance, construct 
the demising wall(s) shown on Exhibit A in accordance with building standards (the “ Demising Wall ”). In no event 
shall Landlord be obligated to make disbursements pursuant to this Tenant Work Letter in a total amount which exceeds 
the Tenant Improvement Allowance. In the event that the Tenant Improvement Allowance is not fully utilized by Tenant 
by the one year anniversary of the date of this First Amendment, then such unused amounts shall revert to Landlord, and 
Tenant shall have no further rights with respect thereto. Any Tenant Improvements that require the use of Building 
risers, raceways, shafts and/or conduits, shall be subject to Landlord’s reasonable rules, regulations, and restrictions, 
including the requirement that any cabling vendor must be selected from a list provided by Landlord, and that the 
amount and location of any such cabling must be approved by Landlord. All Tenant Improvements for which the Tenant 
Improvement Allowance has been made available shall be deemed Landlord’s property under the terms of the Lease; 
provided, however, Landlord may, by written notice to Tenant prior to the end of the Lease Term, or given following 
any earlier termination of this Lease, require Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, to remove any Tenant Improvements and to 
repair any damage to the New Premises and Building caused by such removal and return the affected portion of the New 
Premises to a condition consistent with their condition existing prior to the installment of such Tenant Improvements.  

1.2     Disbursement of the Tenant Improvement Allowance .  

1.2.1     Tenant Improvement Allowance Items . Except as otherwise set forth in this Tenant Work 
Letter, the Tenant Improvement Allowance shall be disbursed by Landlord only for the following items and costs 
(collectively the “ Tenant Improvement Allowance Items ”):  
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1.2.1.1    Payment of the fees of the “Architect” and the “Engineers,” as those terms are defined in 
Section 3.1 of this Tenant Work Letter, which fees shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Tenant Work Letter, not exceed an aggregate amount equal to Thirty-Three Thousand Seven Hundred Forty and No/100 
Dollars ($33,740.00), and payment of the fees incurred by, and the cost of documents and materials supplied by, 
Landlord and Landlord’s consultants in connection with the preparation and review of the “Construction Drawings,” as 
that term is defined in Section 2.1 of this Tenant Work Letter;  

1.2.1.2    The payment of plan check, permit and license fees relating to construction of the Tenant 
Improvements;  

1.2.1.3    The cost of construction, installation and completion of the Tenant Improvements, 
including, without limitation, the Demising Wall, glass entrance doors, reception area, office remodeling, soundproofing, 
testing and inspection costs, freight elevator usage, hoisting and trash removal costs, painting, carpeting and cleaning, 
and contractors’ fees and general conditions;  

1.2.1.4    The cost of any changes in the Base Building when such changes are required by the 
Construction Drawings (including if such changes are due to the fact that such work is prepared on an unoccupied basis), 
such cost to include all direct architectural and/or engineering fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith;  

1.2.1.5    The cost of any changes to the Construction Drawings or Tenant Improvements required 
by all applicable building codes (the “ Code ”);  

1.2.1.6    The cost of connection of the New Premises to the Building’s energy management 
systems;  

1.2.1.7    The cost of the “Coordination Fee,” as that term is defined in Section 4.2.2 of this 
Tenant Work Letter;  

1.2.1.8    Sales and use taxes and Title 24 fees; and  

1.2.1.9    All other costs to be expended by Landlord in connection with the construction of the 
Tenant Improvements.  

1.3     Standard Tenant Improvement Package . Landlord has established specifications (the “ Specifications 
”) for the Building standard components to be used in the construction of the Tenant Improvements in the New Premises 
(collectively, the “ Standard Improvement Package ”), which Specifications shall be supplied to Tenant by Landlord. 
The quality of Tenant Improvements shall be equal to or of greater quality than the quality of the Specifications, 
provided that the Tenant Improvements shall comply with certain Specifications as designated by Landlord. Landlord 
may make changes to the Specifications for the Standard Improvement Package from time to time.  
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SECTION 2  

CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS  

2.1     Selection of Architect/Construction Drawings . Tenant shall retain the architect/space planner 
designated by Landlord (the “ Architect ”) to prepare the “ Construction Drawings ,” as that term is defined in this 
Section 2.1 . Tenant shall retain the engineering consultants designated by Landlord (the “ Engineers ”) to prepare all 
plans and engineering working drawings relating to the structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, life safety, 
and sprinkler work in the New Premises, which work is not part of the Base Building. The plans and drawings to be 
prepared by Architect and the Engineers hereunder shall be known collectively as the “Construction Drawings.” All 
Construction Drawings shall comply with the drawing format and specifications determined by Landlord, and shall be 
subject to Landlord’s approval. Tenant and Architect shall verify, in the field, the dimensions and conditions as shown 
on the relevant portions of the base building plans, and Tenant and Architect shall be solely responsible for the same, 
and Landlord shall have no responsibility in connection therewith. Landlord’s review of the Construction Drawings as 
set forth in this Section 2 , shall be for its sole purpose and shall not imply Landlord’s review of the same, or obligate 
Landlord to review the same, for quality, design, Code compliance or other like matters. Accordingly, notwithstanding 
that any Construction Drawings are reviewed by Landlord or its space planner, architect, engineers and consultants, and 
notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant by Landlord or Landlord’s space planner, 
architect, engineers, and consultants, Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not 
be responsible for any omissions or errors contained in the Construction Drawings, and Tenant’s waiver and indemnity 
set forth in this Lease shall specifically apply to the Construction Drawings.  

2.2     Final Space Plan . Tenant and the Architect shall prepare the final space plan for Tenant Improvements in 
the New Premises (collectively, the “ Final Space Plan ”), which Final Space Plan shall include a layout and 
designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use, and equipment to be contained therein, and 
shall deliver four (4) copies signed by Tenant of the Final Space Plan to Landlord for Landlord’s approval.  

2.3     Final Working Drawings . Tenant, the Architect and the Engineers shall complete the architectural and 
engineering drawings for the New Premises, and the final architectural working drawings in a form which is complete to 
allow subcontractors to bid on the work and to obtain all applicable permits (collectively, the “ Final Working 
Drawings ”) and shall submit two (2) copies signed by Tenant of the same to Landlord for Landlord’s approval.  

2.4     Permits . The Final Working Drawings shall be approved by Landlord (the “ Approved Working 
Drawings ”) prior to the commencement of the Tenant Improvements by Tenant. After approval by Landlord of the 
Final Working Drawings, Tenant may submit the same to the appropriate municipal authorities for all applicable 
building permits (the “ Permits ”). Tenant hereby agrees that neither Landlord nor Landlord’s consultants shall be 
responsible for obtaining any building permit or certificate of occupancy for the Tenant Improvements and that obtaining 
the same shall be Tenant’s responsibility; provided, however, that Landlord shall cooperate with  
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Tenant in executing permit applications and performing other ministerial acts reasonably necessary to enable Tenant to 
obtain any such permit or certificate of occupancy. No changes, modifications or alterations in the Approved Working 
Drawings may be made without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld. 

SECTION 3  

CONSTRUCTION OF THE TENANT IMPROVEMENTS  

3.1     Contractor . Landlord shall select a contractor (“ Contractor ”) to construct the Tenant Improvements 
pursuant to the terms of this Section 3.1 . On or before Landlord’s approval of the Approved Working Drawings, 
Landlord shall select three (3) qualified, licensed and reputable general contractors from a list of general contractors 
supplied by Landlord (each a “ Bidding Contractor ,” and, collectively, the “ Bidding Contractors ”), that shall bid on 
the construction of the Tenant Improvements. Each of the Bidding Contractors shall be notified in the bidding package, 
which shall be prepared by Landlord, of (i) the time schedule for construction of the Tenant Improvements, and (ii) the 
requirement that, unless Landlord otherwise requires, the selected Bidding Contractor shall use the fire, life safety 
subcontractor designated by Landlord. Tenant shall, within two (2) business days following the date upon which 
Landlord delivers such bids to Tenant, select the Contractor from among the Bidding Contractors that Landlord 
determines have (a) submitted qualified bids which were consistent with the bid assumptions and directions, and 
(b) have committed to Landlord’s time schedule for construction of the Tenant Improvements.  

3.2     Cost Proposal . After the Approved Working Drawings are signed by Landlord and Tenant, Landlord 
shall provide Tenant with a cost proposal in accordance with the Approved Working Drawings, which cost proposal 
shall include, as nearly as possible, the cost of all Tenant Improvement Allowance Items to be incurred by Tenant in 
connection with the design and construction of the Tenant Improvements (the “ Cost Proposal ”). Tenant shall approve 
and deliver the Cost Proposal to Landlord within five (5) business days of the receipt of the same, and upon receipt of 
the same by Landlord, Landlord shall be released by Tenant to purchase the items set forth in the Cost Proposal and to 
commence the construction relating to such items. The date by which Tenant must approve and deliver the Cost Proposal 
to Landlord shall be known hereafter as the “ Cost Proposal Delivery Date ”.  

3.3     Construction of Tenant Improvements by Contractor under the Supervision of Landlord .  

3.3.1     Over-Allowance Amount . On the Cost Proposal Delivery Date, Tenant shall deliver to 
Landlord cash in an amount (the “ Over-Allowance Amount ”) equal to the difference between (i) the amount of the 
Cost Proposal and (ii) the amount of the Tenant Improvement Allowance. The Over-Allowance Amount shall be 
disbursed by Landlord prior to the disbursement of any then remaining portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance, 
and such disbursement shall be pursuant to the same procedure as the Tenant Improvement Allowance. In the event that, 
after the Cost Proposal Delivery Date, any revisions, changes, or substitutions shall be made to the Construction 
Drawings or the Tenant Improvements, any additional costs which  
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arise in connection with such revisions, changes or substitutions or any other additional costs shall be paid by Tenant to 
Landlord immediately upon Landlord’s request as an addition to the Over-Allowance Amount.  

3.3.2     Landlord ’s Retention of Contractor . Landlord shall independently retain Contractor, on behalf 
of Tenant, to construct the Tenant Improvements in accordance with the Approved Working Drawings (subject to the 
following sentence) and the Cost Proposal and Landlord shall supervise the construction by Contractor, and Tenant shall 
pay a construction supervision and management fee (the “ Landlord Supervision Fee ”) to Landlord in an amount equal 
to three percent (3%) of the “hard” costs of constructing the Tenant Improvements (i.e., the cost of constructing the 
Tenant Improvements less the fees paid to the Architect and the Engineer). In the event of a conflict between the 
Approved Working Drawings and Landlord’s construction rules and regulations, Landlord, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, shall determine which shall prevail. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Tenant Work Letter to the 
contrary, construction of the Tenant Improvements shall not commence until (a) Landlord has a fully executed and 
delivered contract with Contractor for the construction of the Tenant Improvements, (b) Tenant has procured and 
delivered to Landlord a copy of all Permits, and (c) Tenant has delivered to Landlord the Over-Allowance Amount.  

3.3.3     Contractor ’s Warranties and Guaranties . Landlord hereby assigns to Tenant all warranties 
and guaranties by Contractor relating to the Tenant Improvements, and Tenant hereby waives all claims against 
Landlord relating to, or arising out of the construction of, the Tenant Improvements.  

3.3.4     Tenant’s Covenants . Tenant hereby indemnifies Landlord for any loss, claims, damages or 
delays arising from the actions of Architect on the New Premises or in the Building. Within ten (10) days after 
completion of construction of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall cause Contractor and Architect to cause a Notice 
of Completion to be recorded in the office of the County Recorder of the county in which the Building is located in 
accordance with Section 3093 of the Civil Code of the State of California or any successor statute and furnish a copy 
thereof to Landlord upon recordation, failing which, Landlord may itself execute and file the same on behalf of Tenant 
as Tenant’s agent for such purpose. In addition, within thirty (30) days following the Substantial Completion of the New 
Premises, Tenant shall have prepared and delivered to the Building two (2) copies signed by Tenant of the “as built”
plans and specifications (including all working drawings) for the Tenant Improvements.  

SECTION 4  
 

MISCELLANEOUS  

4.1     Tenant’s Representative . Tenant has designated Stephen Brady as its sole representative with respect to 
the matters set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, who, until further notice to Landlord, shall have full authority and 
responsibility to act on behalf of the Tenant as required in this Tenant Work Letter.  
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4.2     Landlord ’s Representative . Landlord has designated Mr. Peter Back as its sole representative with 
respect to the matters set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, who, until further notice to Tenant, shall have full authority 
and responsibility to act on behalf of the Landlord as required in this Tenant Work Letter.  

4.3     Tenant’s Agents . All contractors, subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and suppliers retained directly 
by Tenant shall be from a list of supplied by Landlord and shall all be union labor in compliance with the then existing 
master labor agreements.  

4.4     Time of the Essence in This Tenant Work Letter . Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to a 
“number of days” shall mean and refer to calendar days. In all instances where Tenant is required to approve or deliver 
an item, if no written notice of approval is given or the item is not delivered within the stated time period, at Landlord’s 
sole option, at the end of such period the item shall automatically be deemed approved or delivered by Tenant and the 
next succeeding time period shall commence. In all instances where Landlord is required to respond to Tenant, Landlord 
shall so respond within any time periods specified herein or within a reasonable period, as determined given the nature 
of Tenant’s request.  

4.5     Tenant’s Lease Default . Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in the Lease, if an 
event of default as described in the Lease, or a default by Tenant under this Tenant Work Letter, has occurred at any 
time on or before the completion of the Tenant Improvements, then (i) in addition to all other rights and remedies 
granted to Landlord pursuant to the Lease, Landlord shall have the right to withhold payment of all or any portion of the 
Tenant Improvement Allowance and/or Landlord may cause contractor to cease the construction of the Tenant 
Improvements, and (ii) all other obligations of Landlord under the terms of this Tenant Work Letter shall be forgiven 
until such time as such default is cured pursuant to the terms of the Lease.  
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Exhibit 10.20 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE  

This Second Amendment to Office Lease (this " Second Amendment ") is entered into effective as of the 20 th day of 
November, 2014 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and between BXP 601 & 651 GATEWAY CENTER LP , a Delaware 
limited partnership, formerly known as GATEWAY CENTER, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (" 
Landlord "), and IMMUNE DESIGN CORP., a Delaware corporation (" Tenant ").  
 

RECITALS  
 
A.    Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease dated November 21, 2013, as amended by that certain 
First Amendment to Office Lease dated October 27, 2014 (the “ First Amendment ”) (collectively, the " Original 
Lease "), whereby Landlord leased to Tenant and Tenant leased from Landlord the premises located in the office 
building having an address of 601 Gateway Boulevard (the “ Building ”) containing approximately 9,640 rentable 
square feet of space located on the second (2 nd ) floor of the Building and commonly known as Suite 250, as further 
described in the Lease (the “ Premises ”).  
 
B.     The parties wish to amend the Original Lease to modify the definition of the New Premises Commencement Date, 
and in connection therewith Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Original Lease on the terms and conditions 
contained herein.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as 
follows:  
 

AGREEMENT  
 
1.     Recitals . The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference.  
 
2.      Defined Terms . All capitalized terms used in this Second Amendment that are not defined herein shall have the 
meanings as defined in the Original Lease.  
 
3.     New Premises Term . As of the Effective Date, Section 4 of the First Amendment shall be deleted in its entirety 
and replaced with the following:  
 
“ New Premises Term . The term of Tenant's lease of the New Premises shall commence on the date (the " New 
Premises Commencement Date ") which is the earlier to occur of (a) the date upon which the improvements to the 
New Premises are " Substantially Complete " (as defined in Section 7.2 below), or (b) the date upon which Tenant first 
commences to conduct business in the New Premises. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the Lease Term for the 
Original Premises is scheduled to expire on January 31, 2018, pursuant to the terms of the Lease. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth in the Lease, the Lease Term for the New Premises shall expire on (i) the day 
immediately preceding the fifth (5 th ) anniversary of the New Premises Commencement  
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Date, if the New Premises Commencement Date falls on the first day of a calendar month, or (ii) the last day of the 
month in which the fifth (5 th ) anniversary of the New Premises Commencement Date occurs, if the New Premises 
Commencement Date falls on any day other than the first day of a calendar month, unless sooner terminated as provided 
in the Original Lease, as amended by this Second Amendment (the “ New Premises Lease Expiration Date ”). The 
period of time beginning on the New Premises Commencement Date and ending on the New Premises Lease Expiration 
Date shall be referred to herein as the “ New Premises Term .” Consequently, effective upon the New Premises 
Commencement Date, all references in the Lease to the “Lease Term” shall mean and refer to the New Premises Term.”  
 
4.     Counterparts . This Second Amendment may be executed in counterparts with the same effect as if both parties 
hereto had executed the same document. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute a single 
agreement.  

5.     No Change . Except as set forth herein, all of the terms and conditions of the Lease remain unchanged and in full 
force and effect.  
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Second Amendment as of the day and date 
first written above.  

 

 

 

"Landlord":  
 
BXP 601 & 651 GATEWAY CENTER LP,  
a Delaware limited partnership  
 
BY: BXP CALIFORNIA GP LLC,  

a Delaware limited liability company,  
its general partner  

 
BY: BOSTON PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,  

a Delaware limited partnership,  
its sole member  

 
BY: BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.,  

a Delaware corporation,  
its general partner  

 
BY: /s/ Rod C. Diehl  

Name: ROD C. DIEHL  
Title: SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, LEASING  

     

 

 
 

“Tenant":  
 
IMMUNE DESIGN CORP.,  
a Delaware corporation  

By: /s/ Stephen R. Brady  

     Name: Stephen R. Brady  

     Title: CBO  

By: /s/ Richard T. Kenney, MD  

     Name: Richard T. Kenney, MD  

     Title: Chief Medical Officer     
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Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-197748) pertaining to the Immune 
Design Corp. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, Immune Design Corp. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan and Immune Design Corp. 2014 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan of our report dated March 31, 2015, with respect to the financial statements of Immune Design 
Corp. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2014.  

 

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
Seattle, Washington  
March 31, 2015  
 
 
 



Exhibit 31.1 

 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D., certify that:  

Dated: March 31, 2015  
   

 
 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Immune Design Corp.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and  

(c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):  

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  

/s/ Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  

Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 31.2 
 
 

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

I, Paul Rickey, certify that:  

Dated: March 31, 2015  
   

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Immune Design Corp.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and  

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  

/s/ Paul Rickey  

Paul Rickey  
Vice President, Finance and Administration  
(Principal Financial Officer)  



Exhibit 32.1 
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Immune Design Corp. (“Immune Design”) for the annual period 
ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Carlos Paya, 
M.D., Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer of Immune Design, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:  

Dated: March 31, 2015  

   

 
 
 

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of Immune Design.  

  

/s/ Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  

Carlos Paya, M.D., Ph.D.  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 32.2 
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Immune Design Corp. (“Immune Design”) for the annual period 
ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul Rickey, 
Vice President, Finance and Administration of Immune Design, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:  

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and  

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of Immune Design.  

Dated: March 31, 2015  

   

 
 
 

  

/s/ Paul Rickey  

Paul Rickey  
Vice President, Finance and Administration  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  


